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Corporate Portfolio

NEBER

HC Group Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) endeavour to become a leading industrial internet group
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). Since its
establishment in 1992, the Group has been engaged in pragmatic and
robust development. The Company was successfully listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in
2003. The Company successfully transferred its listing to the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange in 2014.

With its vision of “Striving to Becoming a Leading Industrial Internet
Group in China” and its mission to “Empower Traditional Industries with
the Internet and Data” the Group's industrial internet ecosystem focuses
on two key areas — (i) Technology driven new retail and (ii) Smart
industries.

Technology driven new retail: With zol.com.cn (ZOL) as the principal
entity, the strategic objective of this segment is to create user diffusion
with useful, interesting and in-depth professional content, enhance
user stickiness, and improve industry influence, to precipitate data
asset and build competitive barriers, by applying decision-making
scenarios to model, parameterize and algorithmize users’ purchasing
decision-making and to transform high quality and efficiency into core
judgments for customer products and services, establishing long term
advantage. Meanwhile, with the channel data collected from small
b and data analysis, the Group can provide comprehensive “online +
offline” marketing solutions to corporate customers (big B) as well as
the solutions to core requirements of various parties along the 3C and
home appliances industrial chain, forming a B2B2C business model.

Smart industries: This segment integrates several well-developed vertical
“runways” of the Group, including “PanPass” (a standard setter in the
anti-counterfeit traceability industry and the provider of loT solutions
for digital transformation) and “Union Cotton” (an integrated e-business
service platform that covers the entire industrial chain of cotton.
"Focus” and "Emphasis on vertical development” are the Group’s
important strategies for the smart industries segment.
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —T-=F —E-—F —E- & —E-FE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTET ARBTT ARBTE AR®TR

Total revenue and income BHEE WA RKA 10,977,732 18,535,437 16,883,681 17,405,835 14,544,074
Loss attributable ARAEZHFBA

to equity holders of iEEE
the Company (289,229)  (1,829,540) (224,306) (663,110) (745,537)
Loss per share for loss ARAEERFEA
attributable to the equity EEEEZ
holders of the Company FhEE
(RMB) (ARET)
— Basic -EXR (0.2208) (1.3967) (0.1712) (0.5062) (0.6018)
- Diluted -8 (0.2208) (1.3967) (0.1712) (0.5062) (0.6018)
Financial position B RN
Net current assets MBEEFE 357,220 742,696 1,213,488 1,353,484 649,878
Total assets BEE 1,875,780 3,077,045 6,657,858 5,629,771 6,636,737
Total liabilities BAaE 1,290,039 1,891,769 3,379,229 2,081,376 2,610,958
Total equity B 585,741 1,185,276 3,278,629 3,548,395 4,025,779
REVENUE AND INCOME LOSS PER SHARE (RMB)
HEWARKA BREE (AR%¥T)
RMB’000 Basic Diluted
ABREFT HA o
= 1 Rad “1-Rd
= = (5 S8 I ® S8 |8
5 B B a2 3388 &S 38
= e & %
s % B
i S
= <
= N
~
(¥
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

REVENUE AND INCOME ANALYSIS HEWARKADH

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-E-_mE+t-A=t+-HLEEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FHERSERY BRILEEEEY
Platform
Technology- Platform and ELL

driven Smart corporate corporate

new retail industries services services
segment segment segment Subtotal segment Subtotal

NEHEE BEEX TrEL% TRELE
EXR BER BESER et RBEHE Nt
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTT ARBTR

2024 —EomfF 243,459 10,722,533 - 10,965,992 11,740 11,740 10,977,732
2023 —T-=F 1,209,833 17,225,282 12,948 18,448,063 87,374 87,374 18,535,437
Variance ) -79.9% -37.8% -100% -40.6% -86.6% -86.6% -40.8%
0.5%
0,
0.1% 0.1%

97.7% 92.9%

10,977,732,000 18,535,437,000
RMB/ A EE#& RMB/ A R

Technology-driven new retail segment @ Platform and corporate services segment
BT ERRE FREMERBEER

@ Smart industries segment @ Discontinued operations
BREXFEH DRI E T
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Financial Highlights
MBRE

RECONCILIATION OF NON-HKFRS MEASURES
TO HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement the Group consolidated results which are prepared and
presented in accordance with HKFRS, the Group also used adjusted
LBITDA* and adjusted net loss as additional financial measures, which
are not required by, or presented in accordance with HKFRS. The
Company believes that these non-HKFRS measures facilitate comparisons
of operating performance from year to year and company to company
by eliminating potential impacts of items that the management does not
consider to be indicative of the Group's operating performance, such as
certain non-cash items and certain impact of investment transactions.
The use of these non-HKFRS measures have limitations as an analytical
tool, and one should not consider them in isolation from, or as a
substitute for analysis of, the results of operations or financial conditions
as reported under HKFRS. In addition, these non-HKFRS financial
measures may be defined differently from similar terms used by other
companies and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other issuers.

The following table sets out the reconciliations of non-HKFRS financial
measures for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, to measures
prepared in accordance with HKFRS.

ERMBEBRELEAFTEH
EENKBREERFTEHR
ABHAAEBREE BB RELEAFR
REVWNZAEHEE AEENRFEAECAER
LBITDA* K (&£ AR BB FHIE R TIN5
8 HUYFEEBYBREENZHRTE - NI
BREBHBEREELRY - KRRRAE  #%
EBAUBRELUFEEBHBKEEE
RETEARMEMEEEENER (WA
FHRESBBERETRERGZEE)EXK
CREMBETE BHETKEEBERT
REELTRARMZLEE - KEZSEIES
BUBEREENAEEEIMIAGTERR
M BTEREEETBLINRKABRBEES
BB EEBTERMEEEERTHMRR
2N o WA REFER BB HRE LAY
B EMAARZEETRERREMAT
FrAfElE=E FEitgeE fm aiEiT A
REZBEUEEITHR -

TEREIBEE_E-_NFR_FT-_=ZF+=
A=+ —RLEFEZFEBUBEREERG
B EEBRBEESUERSENRREZAE
ZHER -

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E_NE e =
+=-—A=+—-8 +=A=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR F T
Loss from continuing operations RELEXB BB (242,114) (1,116,015)
Share based payment expenses AR 24 2 — 17,045
Other gains, net Hih W 558 (15,825) (30,770)
Impairment losses on goodwill and mERBFEERBERBE
intangible assets — 1,019,680
Impairment losses on the investment in an REERA 2 IREREEE
associate 103,728 3,894
Net provision for impairment losses on CMEERBEBGEREFE
financial assets 102,428 19,301
Adjusted net loss KREBERETSE (51,783) (86,865)
Adjusted for BT FEELRFE
Finance cost, net BF 75 B AN JF BB 2,391 1,366
Income tax expenses FEBAx 3,871 10,769
Depreciation and amortisation IrE & s 18,852 55,332
Adjusted LBITDA* 4% 8 FE LBITDA* (26,669) (19,398)

* Loss before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation from continuing
operations.

* KEFEKEXBZHRAE BB TER
BMIHRER -
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Management’s Statement
BEEEB®RE

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group generated total revenue of approximately
RMB10,966 million (2023: RMB18,448 million) from continuing
operations, representing a decrease of approximately 40.6% as
compared to that in 2023. The decrease was mainly from the decline in
revenue to approximately RMB10,529 million (2023: RMB16,721 million)
generated by Union Cotton of the Group’s smart industries segment.
Arising from the inadequate demand of downstream textile enterprises,
as well as changes in government subsidy policies, Union Cotton has
reduced the scale of self-operated sales to reduce the risk of price
fluctuations and focused on products with comparatively higher gross
margin.

For the Group’s financial performance in different segments of
continuing operations during the Year, revenue of approximately
RMB243.5 million was achieved from the technology-driven new
retail segment, and represented a decrease of approximately 79.9%
from approximately RMB1,209.8 million in 2023. Revenue from the
smart industries segment decreased from approximately RMB17,225.3
million in 2023 to approximately RMB10,722.5 million in 2024 which
represented a decrease of approximately 37.8%. The Group has closed
its platform and corporate services segment in 2024 (2023: Revenue of
RMB12.9 million).

During the Year, operating expenses of continuing operations decreased
from approximately RMB495.0 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB404.6 million, which was mainly due to the decrease of employee
expenses and amortization of intangible assets.

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company from continuing
operations was approximately RMB265.2 million in the Year (2023: Loss
of approximately RMB1,129.3 million). A factor for such substantial
decrease is that there was a recognition of impairment for goodwill
and other intangible assets related to the technology-driven new retail
business in 2023, which did not recur in 2024.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

The loss for the Year was mainly attributable to, among other things,
recognition of an impairment loss of approximately RMB103.7 million in
relation to the Group's investment in an associate Guangdong Zhongmo
Cloud Digital Technology Co., Limited (“Zhongmo Group”) (in which
the Group has an 22.35% equity interest). It is principally engaged
in providing smart attached lifting scaffolding and aluminum alloy
formwork system for property developers under construction formwork
industry in the PRC. Zhongmo Group experienced a significant decline
in its revenue and incurred considerable loss in the Year. It faced
significant challenges in its business operations and working capital
due to a substantial increase in the default rate of accounts receivable,
as many customers were unable to meet their payment obligations
on time. Additionally, declining demand in the real estate market led
to a drop in the number of construction projects, directly impacting
Zhongmo Group’s core business. The management has assessed the
impairment indicators and performed an impairment assessment with
the assistance of the external valuer. The recoverable amount of the
investment was determined using the higher of the fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. The Group also recorded Group’s share of
a post-tax loss of associates (mainly attributable to Chongging Micro-
credit and Zhongmo Group) was approximately RMB65.2 million. Net
provision for impairment losses on financial assets of RMB102.4 million
was also made for the Year, compared to RMB19.3 million in 2023.
More information is set out in Notes 8(b) and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Loss from discontinued operations attributable to the equity holders
of the Company was approximately RMB24.0 million for the Year
(2023: loss of approximately RMB700.2 million). The change was
because, among other factors, a significant loss in 2023 arising from
the discontinued finance services business and the disposal of Beijing
Huicong Hulian Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Huicong Hulian")
totaling approximately RMB586.3 million did not recur in the Year.

Regarding the disposed, discontinued operations, the management
would like to highlight that the Group acquired or invested in certain
companies and business for development purposes in the past decade.
In face of challenges imposed by macroeconomics and to align with
the strategic development goals of the Group, the Group is undergoing
its transformation, taking actions to lower its gearing ratio, integrating
and optimising its resources, discontinuing loss-making businesses and
disinvesting from the non-core businesses. Going ahead, the Group
wishes to concentrate its resources to further develop its core business.

AFENEERIZEEAR(EREREERLR
SERBERARERTEEHEFTRERSG

RAR([HESEEDN(NEEEHF22.35% 1)
MEEZREBEEHNAREIOSTEE T - F
BREBFERERATEERERITENDY
E¥MEEEESENSEAABRKNFLERIEA
CHRIREBR RAFE  FEREEHSEKA
KERD TELEEEEBE BARZHEEF
EAEBEBIONREMLT  PEEEMHEKE
RRFERBLEH  SEHEXEBEEREE
B HFEEBREANKE - itih BHHETS
ERTHREREREEHRERYD  HEFE
PESEMNZLER EBEECTGERED
K RE—BINEDIEERM BB T TR E TS -
REMAIKE S ERABRFER D EKAE
FARABENESEET AEENESEAE
EREGBEAR(FEREEENEERRK
FPEREBNBEEBEBOHARKES2EETT °
AFEENREHREEREEBFLBETFE
ARBINRABETT ME_ZFAHAAR
BOEB L FLZEANERNEHUBERE
B 5E8(b) &2 22 ©

AEENAAAREFAABRERLEEER
BHEBAORARK24088T(ZT =4
BEROARKIO2EET) - ZEFH AR
(EREE) —_F_FRIELSRRBEX
BREEERZREBESRMARAR (R
BEB)EEARBEBBOARKS863HET
MAFEX RELFHER -

AREHENCSRIEEEXER  EEEEN
R AEEERBETFERERBEMK
BIREETRARER BHZEBERES
K8 REAASENEBEERESE

AEBEREEE  CROTHREELE
BHEE BARELER KRLEEBEBEBMNU

RBHFEZLEE RERK AEEFE
STERE-—TERERLER -
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

BUSINESS REVIEW

The objective of the Group is to become a leading industrial internet
group in China. With this vision in mind, the Group continuously strives
to integrate Al-enabled industries and big data analysis, leveraging
internet tools and capabilities to enhance the level of industrial
digitalization. The revenue of the Group is primarily derived from three
industrial internet companies serving vertical industries, namely ZOL,
PanPass, and Union Cotton.

Technology-Driven New Detail Segment
zoL

ZOL and its subsidiaries, leveraging their platform through operation
of ZOL website (zol.com.cn, “ZOL") in Chinese Mainland, are dedicated
to providing precise online advertising and marketing solutions for 3C
digital and living technology products, thereby achieving profitability.
However, with the rapid development of mobile internet, the user base
for 3C digital and living technology products has become increasingly
reliant on content from self-media platforms, while adopting a
more cautious attitude towards contents produced by professional/
institutional creators. This has led to an increasingly challenging market
environment. The tightening global economic environment and the
rapid rise of Al artificial intelligence technology have also had a severe
impact on the traditional content production and dissemination system,
resulting in ZOL's business development being affected and facing
unprecedented challenges.

Furthermore, customers have scaled back their operations as part of
strategic adjustments, significantly reducing investments and budgets
for advertising and marketing activities. This has led to a decline
in the number of customers. During the Year, ZOL actively sought
breakthroughs by expanding the content of its video platform, launching
a new energy vehicle product line, innovating with an online-offline
dual-business model, and maximizing the influence of opinion leaders
through multi-platform dissemination. However, despite these initiatives,
the performance during the Year still fell short of expectations.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

With the application of emerging technologies such as Al and in FEZEAISHERIMTAOER A EEEE LK
response to changes in the overall economic situation, ZOL will continue W& (L - ZOLBEBE R H RO T H EH

to focus on promoting and improving the following areas: MR

—  Enhance core competitiveness: ZOL will accelerate the construction — — 42 F #0358 5 BE 77+ D03 HE 3 S & AIGC 2
of AIGC by integrating more Al big models and emerging BOSIABRZAKRNER BEAZE AR
platforms such as Doubao ( 2 £ ), Qwen (# & T i), and TR - DeepSeekEFE T4 - AR
DeepSeek. These initiatives aim to address user concerns during BRE REBZEERENAE  E£R
the purchasing process and deliver high-quality intelligent services. BPGCARAEMR -  £EARARNBLEE
Building on its original PGC foundation, ZOL will leverage Al HENEE  BIFRNERX - BEREANDE
to enhance content production efficiency and quality, innovate MEEEFREACRY  RERAEEER
content formats, and provide personalized and customized R B AEREME - B N A A F M A
services. Meanwhile, ZOL will improve the efficiency and M HEBZOLE K BIFT A o

accuracy of information acquisition, enhance the professionalism
and authority of the content, and promote the innovation and
transformation of ZOL's business.

—  Expand segment reach: By leveraging the Al search aggregation —EABEE &4 & ZOLEBAPP Al =R
capabilities of its APP, ZOL will more precisely target user groups BhAee EREMTMAIHTIEEE
interested in car travel, DIY computers, and photography. Through DIYEMEBEFREBNAFLFE - BA
integrated online and offline multi-platform communication, BRERT2AUZTRERE BEES
ZOL aims to reach more established events, exhibitions and KAEF Re HEWE BREET
organizations, effectively covering its target user base. ZOL will MAFPHE AEAREAREHENEXR
expand the sharing and communication channels for car travel MEE REDYERERBETETRBEFE
enthusiasts, organize annual events for DIY computers and EE KRB EESSH RACEAP
photography communities, thereby implementing marketing H - SIEEZBPEELERAGZOL
strategies related to the segment. These efforts are designed to APP ©

enhance user engagement among existing users while attracting
new users to join and actively participate in the ZOL APP.

—  Deliver creative marketing solutions: Focusing on the ZOL platform — Rt AI S & H R BEZOLF A HEME
matrix, ZOL fully leverages its diversified and multi-dimensional o EEZT LE(EEHEES - Z0L
communication advantages. ZOL has created five innovative IPs, T4 8 3 It ~ ZAO ~ BWES{EAI B IP - T
including Chao Hao Wan (##Ft), ZAO and BW, continuously HiRe BRI EEHEE N EHEP
enhancing its cross-industry creative marketing capabilities in the BETRAEREBAR SZARERET
high-tech field. These initiatives help customers reach diverse BER - mETEPHNEZEZEEFGE -
consumer segments at various levels, maximizing the role of the FAEXEE L R MK R m R0 f#
platform. As a result, ZOL has gained widespread recognition and B o

trust from its customers, establishing itself as a core supplier for
leading brands through its professional and creative marketing
strategies.

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Management’s Statement
EEE®RE

— Mainstream content platform dissemination: With its presence
across multiple mainstream content platforms, ZOL is equipped
to meet customers’ demands for integrated multi-platform
dissemination. Through a strategic multi-account matrix layout,
ZOL aims to expand its reach to a broader target user, to enhance
brand recognition and influence. ZOL's professional team conducts
in-depth research, and can develop personalized communication
plans tailored to the unique characteristics of customers’
products. This one-stop service helps customers create distinctive
cross-industry marketing events in the high-tech field.

Huimaimai platform business (“Huimaimai”), which serves small b,
has been growing steadily. During the Year, the Huimaimai platform
continued to deepen its strategic focus on lower-tier markets,
leveraging the dual-drive model of “Huimaimai + Huixiaodian” to build
a comprehensive empowerment system covering retail terminals in
counties, towns, and villages. As a supply chain intermediary platform,
Huimaimai focuses on multi-category integration, currently expanding
into high-frequency consumer goods such as home appliances,
alcoholic beverages, daily chemicals, grains and oils, 3C digital products
and snacks, forming a differentiated product matrix. Meanwhile,
Huixiaodian enhances terminal retail capabilities through digital tools,
capitalizing on national policies such as the “trade-in” initiative to
efficiently drive the implementation of economic scenarios in county
and rural areas. Through precise supply chain management, private
domain traffic operations, and intelligent product selection systems,
both platforms work synergistically to improve channel stickiness and
operational efficiency. Moving forward, the Group will accelerate the
regional deployment of its supply chain, deepen the integration of
membership ecosystems and localized services, and continue to solidify
its leading position in lower-tier markets, creating sustainable value for
shareholders.

Smart Industries Segment
PanPass

Beijing PanPass Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“PanPass”) (NEEQ
stock code: 430073) is committed to becoming a leading provider
of product digital identity technology and solution services in China.
PanPass focuses on the research and development of product digital
identity management technology, and provides loT identification
products, SaaS software products and industry digital solutions based
on this technology. Based on the “unique identification code (ID)”
(commonly known as “one product, one code” in the industry) of
products, it enables brand enterprises to achieve digital transformation,
which is a closed-loop and converging whole cycle, chains and scenarios
from M (materials), F (manufacturing), W (warehouse), B (distributor),
b (store) to C (consumer). This has improved the operational efficiency
of enterprises and promoted the renewal and iteration of the business
model.
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PanPass’s business scope has evolved from brand protection and
quality traceability solutions to providing digital management services
featuring full industry chain traceability, agile supply chain, precise
channel control, digital marketing, big data anti-counterfeiting, data
insights, and decision-making by using “barcode, QR code, RFID” and
other tags as carriers and integrating loT, big data, cloud computing,
Al, blockchain, and other cutting-edge technologies, facilitating
enterprises in achieving full chain digitalisation, industrial transformation
and upgrading, and business model innovation. In terms of business,
adhering to a dual-driven development strategy of “platform R&D
+ project practice” and consistently upholding a platform-based
development approach, PanPass has successfully created a variety of
typical industry solutions and application products through continuous
efforts in building its general technical platform capabilities, providing
strong support for the digital transformation of customer enterprises.
Specifically, its business involves “food and beverage, pet supplies,
cosmetics, agricultural materials, book publishing, energy auto parts,
medicine and healthcare, 3C electronics, maternal and child products,
industrial products” and other industries, with rich and high-quality
customer resources. PanPass attaches great importance to research
and development, technology and products, by constantly increasing
investment, and actively promoting scientific and technological
innovation to enhance its core productivity. During the Year, PanPass
obtained 5 patents, including 2 invention patents, 3 utility model
patents, and 20 software copyrights.

During the Year, PanPass maintained its development focus by
steadily concentrating on its core business, strengthening operational
management and optimising resource allocation, resulting in a stable
growth trend in the assets, revenue scale and profitability.

Union Cotton

RBEER K EFAR AT and its group member (“Union Cotton”)
is committed to constructing a “leading global digital supply chain
services platform for the textile industry” with Internet and Al
technologies, loT application concepts, and big data algorithms. With
digitalization as its core, Union Cotton can provide both upstream and
downstream customers in the industrial chain with one-stop supply
chain management and supporting services such as trading, settlement,
storage, logistics, textile supply chain e-assistant, and industrial
internet technology, with a view to improving the synergy of the cotton
textile industry and facilitating the digital transformation of textile
manufacturing.
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During the Year, the insufficient domestic demand across the cotton
textile industry, coupled with a sharp decline in export orders, led to
generally higher levels of cotton yarn inventories at textile enterprises
and traders in the PRC, which in turn, resulted in a low rate of
operation in the industry and poor liquidity. Thus, profitability has been
unfavorably impacted across the industry under serious involution, and
market participants became more cautious in stocking raw materials.
In response to these external environmental factors and changes in
government subsidy policies, Union Cotton scaled down self-operated
sales in the Year in order to reduce the risk of price fluctuations,
resulting in a decrease of approximately 37.0% in Union Cotton’s total
revenue for the Year, when compared to that in 2023. Despite the
reduction in revenue, Union Cotton achieved a year-on-year positive
profit growth through refined management in supply chain services,
effective responses to market risks and cost control. Looking forward,
Union Cotton will continue to deepen the construction of its digital
supply chain service platform, and enhance the synergy efficiency
of the industrial chain by further resources integration and service
optimisation. Union Cotton will closely keep abreast of market dynamics
and policy changes and flexibly adjust its business strategies to cope
with challenges brought by the periodic fluctuations of the industry.
Meanwhile, through its constant efforts in promoting technological
innovation and strengthening the application of big data and Al
technologies in supply chain management, Union Cotton strives to
become a leading global provider of textile digital supply chain services.

In addition, Shanghai Huijing E-business Co., Limited is the Group’s
wholly-owned cross-sector supply chain integrated services platform,
which provides comprehensive supply chain integrated services by
leveraging on the Group’s years of experience in various industry
segments and penetrating into various segments of the supply chain.

Prospect

In recent years, the Group has been reviewing its portfolios and
development strategy and making adjustments to its business, operating
and cost structure. To create sustainable business and growth in
shareholder value in the long term, the Group is progressively enhancing
its operation and corporate structure, and shifting to a more focused
approach in terms of use of resources. As part of these steps, the Group
strives to prioritize core business components, including ZOL, PanPass
and Union Cotton with a balance over costs and risks associated with
its operations, and to reduce indebtedness level in the short to medium
term.
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The Group has placed particular emphasis on the opportunities for
industrial upgrading driven by Al technology, and is reconstructing
its traditional business models through Al technology to continuously
optimize resource allocation. ZOL leverages corpus aggregation and
intelligent recommendation algorithms to improve the efficiency of
content production and distribution, as well as the accuracy and
matching of user profiles. PanPass integrates blockchain technology
with Al-based anti-counterfeiting identification to build an industry-
leading intelligent traceability platform. Union Cotton optimizes the
supply chain forecasting models through machine learning to improve
the inventory turnover rates. Despite facing many challenges, the Group
remains optimistic about capturing opportunities to create value and
bring returns to its shareholders.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
thank the management and every staff member of the Group for their
on-going dedication and hard work over the past year.

Liu Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 March 2025
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Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEBAEEN

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
LIU Jun

Aged 47, is an executive Director, the chairman and chief executive
officer (CEO) of the Company. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee”)
and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”). Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 12 September 2016.

From 2004 to 2011, Mr. Liu was the chief executive officer of Yigao
Group Company Limited and he led this company to enter into the
information technology businesses. He also acted as the CEO of the
Group from October 2017 to January 2019. Mr. Liu has also been a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Liu has obtained
a Master’s degree in Chemical Engineering from Zhejiang University
in March 2004 and a Bachelor’s degree in Chemical Engineering,
Bio-engineering and Chemical Processing from Zhejiang University as
well in June 2000. Mr. Liu is currently a member of the 6th Beijing
Changping District Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

ZHANG Yonghong

Aged 57, is an executive Director. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 4 January 2019.

Mr. Zhang is PanPass’ chairman of the board of directors and general
manager. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in August 2018 and served as the
co-president of the Group. He also acted as the chief executive officer
of the Company between 4 January 2019 and 3 February 2023.

Mr. Zhang served as a deputy general manager at the business
department of Lenovo Group Limited (Stock code: 992.HK), a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, from April 1993 to June
1996. From October 1998 to November 2009, he was a vice president at
China Hewlett-Packard Co., Ltd.. Between November 2009 to October
2015, Mr. Zhang worked as the general manager of the PRC operations
department at Acer Group. Between December 2015 to August 2018,
Mr. Zhang was a deputy president of operations and executive deputy
president of Tsinghua Uni group Limited. Mr. Zhang served as a director
of Unisplendour Corporation Limited (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Stock code: 000938.5Z) from April 2016 to June 2017.
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From November 2017 to August 2018, Mr. Zhang was a director and
the chairman of the board of directors of 500.com Limited (a listed
Company on the New York Stock Exchange at the relevant time).

Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’'s degree from the Department of
Precision Instrument of Tsinghua University in July 1990, and obtained a
Master’s degree of Science in Engineering from the University of Science
and Technology of China in 1993.

LIU Xiaodong

Aged 52, is an executive Director and the president of the Company.
Mr. Liu was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 June
2018.

Mr. Liu joined the Group in July 2015 when the Group completed the
acquisition of ZOL. He joined ZOL in 2000, and was promoted as ZOL's
general manager in 2004, and subsequently its chief executive officer in
2015.Mr. Liu also served as the vice president of CNET (China) in2008.
He served in CBSI (China) from 2008 to 2014, and acted as a vice
president, a general manager of technology cluster and the consumer
cluster. Mr. Liu has over 20 years of experience in media operation and
management in the TMT field.

Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor’s degree from International Modern Design
Art College Of Inner Mongolia Normal University in July 1997, and
obtained a Master’s degree of Business Administration from China
Europe International Business School in 2011.

Non-Executive Directors
GUO Fansheng

Aged 69, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Guo was appointed as an
executive Director on 21 March 2000, and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director on 18 October 2017. He is a member of the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”). Mr. Guo served as
the chairman of the Company from 31 March 2008 to 18 October 2017.
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Mr. Guo founded the Group in October 1992 and served as the chief
executive officer of the Company until 31 March 2008. Mr. Guo is
currently the chairman of the Inner Mongolia Chamber of Commerce
in Beijing. From 1990 to 1992, Mr. Guo worked as a manager in a
State-owned business information company in Beijing, the PRC. From
1987 to 1990, Mr. Guo served as a officer of the Liaison Office and
General Office of the Institute of Economic System Reform under the
State Commission for Economic Restructuring, and as the deputy officer
of the Western China Development Research Centre. Prior to working
at the State Commission for Economic Restructuring, Mr. Guo served
from 1982 to 1987 as a senior official in the government of the Inner
Mongolia Autonomous Region. Mr. Guo obtained a bachelor degree in
industrial economics from Renmin University of China, the PRC in 1982.

LIN Dewei

Aged 64, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lin was appointed as a
non-executive Director with effect from 1 July 2020.

Mr. Lin has approximately 25 years of experience in the legal field and
worked as a part-time lawyer at various law firms in the PRC between
1995 and 2001. In 2001, Mr. Lin practiced as a lawyer at Guangdong
Everwin Law Office and became a partner of the firm in 2004. Since
2013, Mr. Lin has been practicing as a lawyer at Guangdong Yogo
Law Firm. Mr. Lin was a non-executive director of China Lesso Group
Holdings Limited (a company listed on Stock Exchange, Stock code:
2128.HK) from February 2010 to July 2018, and an executive director of
that company thereafter until May 2023. Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s
degree in science from South China University of Technology (formerly
known as South China Institute of Technology) in July 1982 and received
a certificate of lawyer qualification in the PRC in January 1990.

XING Jingfeng

Aged 46, is a non-executive Director. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr. Xing was appointed as a non-executive
Director with effect from 26 March 2024.

Mr. Xing is an assistant president of Digital China Holdings Limited ("DC
Holdings”). DC Holdings (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock
code: 861.HK) is a substantial shareholder of the Company through its
direct or indirect subsidiaries.
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Mr. Xing joined the financial department of DC Holdings in February
1999, and he has been mainly responsible for financial or audit work
of DC Holdings. He currently assumes senior management positions in
several subsidiaries or investee companies of DC Holdings, including
(among others) a director of Digital China Software Limited since
July 2015, and a director of Digital China Information Service Group
Company Ltd (whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000555.52)) since January 2022.

Mr. Xing graduated from the China Central Radio and TV University
(now The Open University of China), the People’s Republic of China, in
July 2007, majoring in accounting. He was awarded a bachelor’s degree
in management in June 2009 upon completion of the accounting
specialisation course jointly organised by the Beijing Technology and
Business University and the China Central Radio and TV University in the
People’s Republic of China.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
ZHANG Ke

Aged 71, is an independent non-executive Director. He is the chairman
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee, respectively,
and a member of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Zhang was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 28 March 2003.

Mr. Zhang is a certified public accountant in the PRC and is the
founding partner of Shine Wing Certified Public Accountants, the
chairman of Shing Wing International Investment Group Co., Limited.
He graduated from Renmin University of China in 1982 with a bachelor
degree in economics majoring in industry economics. He has many years
of experience in the fields of economics, accounting and finance. Mr.
Zhang was the vice-president of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and the Chief Supervisor of Beijing Association of Forensic
Science. Mr. Zhang is currently a member of Internal Control Standard
Committee of the Ministry of Finance of the PRC.

ZHANG Tim Tianwei

Aged 61, is an independent non-executive Director. He is also a
member of each of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 1 November 2011.
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Mr. Zhang is currently the chief executive officer of Olive Ridge LLC. He
was the founder and managing director of Taconic Capital Ltd. from
September 2003 to September 2005. He acted as the vice chairman and
general manager of Uni credit China Capital Limited from September
2005 to June 2007. He served as the managing director of J.P. Morgan
Securities (Asia Pacific) from July 2007 to October 2011 and acted as
the chairman of J.P. Morgan (China) Venture Capital Investment Co.
Ltd. Since its foundation in 2010 to October 2011. He served as the
managing director of Taconic Capital Group from November 2011 to
March 2012, and as the chief operating officer of China Merchants
Capital Management Limited from April 2012 to December 2014. He is
the managing director of Mount Flag Capital Ltd. from January 2015 to
September 2018 and was also the chief executive officer of Mount Flag
LLC from August 2015 to September 2018. From 2018 to May 2023,
he acted as the chief investment officer of China Resources Capital
Management Ltd.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Tsinghua University at the Faculty of Precision
Instruments & Mechanology in July 1986. He obtained a Master of
Economics from the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and a Master
of Business Administration (MBA) from The University of Chicago.
Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in financial and business
management.

QI Yan

Aged 75, is an independent non-executive Director. She is also a
member of the Audit committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Ms. Qi was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2017.

Ms. Qi is currently the chief representative of Xiaomi Corporation, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1810.HK). She
served in Aigo Digital Technology Co., Ltd as a vice president from
September 2004 to September 2011, and was subsequently promoted to
the vice chairman and the chief executive officer from September 2011
to March 2012. She also served in Aigo Electronics Technology Co. Ltd
as the chief executive officer from March 2012 to December 2012. She
has over 20 years’ experience in business management.

Ms. Qi was awarded the certificate of Postgraduate Master’s degree
in applied sociology from the Graduate School of (Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences) in June 1998. Ms. Qi joined the China National
Democratic Construction Association (“CNDCA") in 1987 and served the
Central Committee of CNDCA and the Beijing Municipal Committee of
CNDCA.
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Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEAEBHN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ZHAO Hong
Aged 50, is the chief financial officer of the Company.

Ms. Zhao served from 2001 to 2014 in DC Holdings mainly in the
finance department as finance director, in the financing department as
general manager of distributorship financing and in the financial service
department of headquarter institutional division as general manager.
From 2014 to 2017, Ms. Zhao worked as the financial controller of
Chongging Digital China Huicong Micro-Credit Co., Ltd. (previously
a member of the Group). In 2018, she served as the vice president of
the Company and in 2019 she was promoted to senior vice president
and the chief financial officer of the business groups of platform and
corporate services, and smart industries of the Company concurrently.
She was subsequently promoted to the position of the chief financial
officer of the Company in May 2020.

Ms. Zhao graduated from Harbin Engineering University with a
Bachelor’s degree in engineering in July 1997 and a Master’'s degree in
economics in April 2001, respectively.

LU Qingguo

Aged 51, is the Board Secretary and the general counsel of the Group.
Mr. Lu joined the Group in May 1998 and has served as the corporate
lawyer, the head of legal department and chief legal officer, and
was appointed as the Board Secretary of the Company in 2011. Mr.
Lu is mainly responsible for the legal affairs and listing affairs of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lu has taught in Guizhou Minzu
University for two years. Mr. Lu graduated from Southwest University of
Political Science & Law and obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Laws, LL.B.
Mr. Lu also passed the national lawyer qualification examination and
obtained the certificate of lawyer qualification in 1997. Mr. Lu has over
20 years of experience in corporate legal affairs.

Please also refer to the Report of the Directors and the Corporate
Governance Report for additional information about the Directors and
senior management, including their emoluments, and (where applicable)
interests in shares.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent decreased by approximately
RMB86.7 million from approximately RMB365.7 million as at 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB279.0 million as at 31 December
2024, which is mainly denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total borrowings of
approximately RMB437.5 million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB406.5
million), of which approximately RMB175.8 million (as at 31 December
2023: RMB150.9 million) were bank borrowings which bear an average
interest rate of 3.40% per annum (as at 31 December 2023: 4.15% per
annum) and their maturity ranged from 2025 to 2028, and RMB261.6
million (as at 31 December 2023: RMB255.6 million) were other
borrowings. As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no undrawn
banking facilities (31 December 2023: RMB12,000,000). The other
borrowings are bear interest rate ranging from 0.00% to 8.00% per
annum (as at 31 December 2023: same). The Groups borrowings were
in RMB and bore fixed interest rate as of 31 December 2024. More
information about the Group’s borrowing is set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was in net debt position of
RMB127.6 million (as at 31 December 2023: net cash position of
RMB23.8 million; with a gearing ratio of 18%, which is calculated
as net debt, including total borrowings, lease liabilities and other
financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalent (including restricted
bank deposits); and total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt. The capital
and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company decreased
by approximately RMB300.0 million from approximately RMB560.4
million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB260.4 million as
at 31 December 2024.

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group is confident to
maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents and ensure the adequacy
and flexibility of working capital through internal generated cash,
managing the turnover days of and the level of working capital used
in prepayment for procuring inventories and renewal and availability
of bank borrowings. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s finance department maintains flexibility in
funding by maintaining adequate amount of cash and cash equivalents
and flexibility in funding through having available sources of financing.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The Group adheres to the principle of prudent management in its
treasury policies in terms of cash and financial management. The Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes during the
Year.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

A Business Review and a Financial Review of the Group are set out on
page 8 to 15 of this report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2024
are set out below:
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annual report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
Structured Contracts involving Huicong Construction

In light of the relevant PRC laws and regulations restricting the
participation and operation of internet content services by foreign
investors, the Group has engaged Beijing Huicong Construction
Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (R EZBREREEZHAERA
A ) ("HC Construction” or “Huicong Construction”) to operate its
online platform, and publish its business information on the internet
pursuant to certain contractual arrangements (the “HC Contractual
Arrangements”) in respect of its online services. With the cessation of
operations of the online platform of hc360.com as the Group is fading
out its online services business, the relevance of the Telecommunications
and Information Services Business Operation Licence (“ICP Licence")
held by HC Construction diminished. Upon the Group’s instruction,
HC Construction has completed the cancellation registration of its
ICP Licence. The HC Contractual Arrangements has been terminated
pursuant to its terms and conditions in such event.

Structured Contracts involving Beijing Zhixing Ruijing

On 3 July 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of share
capital of Orange Triangle Inc. (“Orange Triangle”). dt = #& = A %}
AR AT (Beijing Orange Triangle Technology Co., Ltd.) (“Orange
Beijing”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Orange Triangle entered into
certain structured contracts (the “BZR Structured Contracts”) with
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing Technology Co., Ltd. (1t RE1ITT# SR KB R
2 7]) (“Beijing Zhixing Ruijing”) and/or its then shareholders on 3 July
2015. On 21 February 2020, #i S Z 4 (EMN) EEARBE B L E(B
[R & %) (Ruijing Huijie (Huizhou) Information Consultation Partnership
(Limited Liability)*, “Ruijing Huijie”) became a shareholder holding
60% of equity interest in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Ruijing Huijie is a
limited liability partnership owned by Mr. Liu Jun, the executive Director
and chairman of the Board, and Mr. Zhang Yonghong, the executive
Director of the Company as to 60% and 40%, respectively. In light of
the aforesaid change, Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing
Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong entered into a new set of BZR Structured
Contracts on 26 March 2020. All assets, rights and contracts of Orange
Triangle were passed to its sole shareholder (Z. Tech Holdings Limited,
a 89.34%-owned subsidiary of the Group) upon its dissolution by
operation of laws and the dissolution resolutions.
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Pursuant to the BZR Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing or Orange
Triangle will provide certain technical consultation and service, including
but not limited to technical services support, intellectual property
licensing, and business and management consultation, whereas Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing will pay (a) the annual service fees RMB5 million to
Orange Beijing; (b) the annual service fees which equal 12% of its
annual revenue to Orange Triangle; and (c) the service fee equivalent
to its revenue deducted by its expenses, net operation loss and reserve
fund extracted to Orange Beijing. Orange Beijing relies on the BZR
Structured Contracts to control the finance and operation of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing so as to obtain the economic benefits and the rights to
variable returns from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

Please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17 March
2015, 8 May 2015 and 3 July 2015, respectively, and the circular of the
Company dated 4 June 2015 for further details.

For the Year, save as disclosed in this annual report, there was
no material change in the BZR Structured Contracts and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted and none of the
structured contracts under the BZR Structured Contracts had been
unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the said
structured contracts had been removed.

Further, the Group entered into the BZR Structured Contracts to
conduct the restricted business in the PRC in order to comply with the
abovementioned PRC laws and regulations and to assert management
control over the operations of, and enjoy all of economic benefits of,
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3 July 2015, pursuant to which the Group has
the right to enjoy all the economic benefits of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing,
to exercise management control over the operations of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, and to prevent any leakage of the assets and values of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing to the registered shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
As a result of the BZR Structured Contracts, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is
consolidated into the accounts of the Group in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies from 3 July 2015.

As at the date of this annual report, the BZR Structured Contracts
include (i) the exclusive technical services agreement, (ii) the exclusive
licensing agreement on intellectual property, (iii) the exclusive right to
share purchase agreement, (iv) the voting rights proxy agreement, (v) the
pledge agreement and (vi) the management and operation agreement.
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The Group depends on the BZR Structured Contracts with Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing (who holds, among other things, the value-added
telecommunications business operating licence (A EE XK KL

A] &%) (“VAT Licence"), being valid until 13 February 2030) in respect of
its information service business within the second type of value-added
telecommunication services (the “Value-added Telecommunications
Businesses”).

Information of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 11 September 2014 with registered capital of RMB10 million and
paid up capital of RMB10 million. As at the date of this annual report,
the registered capital of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is owned as to 60%
by Ruijing Huijie and 40% by Mr. Liu Xiaodong (£]/\¥), an executive
director of the Company.

Set out below is the selected financial information of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing during the Year:
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As at the date of this annual report, the business of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing mainly involves the value-added telecommunications businesses,
excluding technology development; economic and trade consultancy;
organisation of cultural and art exchange activities (not including
commercial performances) (the “Excluded Businesses”).

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Company and
as confirmed by Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing has no plan or road map to develop and operate the Excluded
Businesses as at the date of this annual report.

Major terms of the agreements underlying the BZR
Structured Contracts

Exclusive Technical Services Agreement

Orange Beijing entered into an exclusive technical services agreement
with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3 July 2015 (the “Exclusive Technical
Services Agreement”). The Exclusive Technical Services Agreement shall
remain in force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon
execution, unless it is terminated in accordance with the clauses of the
agreement.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Orange Beijing
is appointed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as its exclusive services provider
to provide technical consulting service, other related technical services
and related services agreed by both parties from time to time during the
term of the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement in accordance with
its terms and conditions.

Under the Exclusive Technical Services Agreement, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing shall pay Orange Beijing an annual services fee of RMB5 million.

Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property

Orange Triangle entered into an exclusive licensing agreement on
intellectual property with Beijing Zhixing Ruijing on 3 July 2015 (the
“Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property”). The Exclusive
Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property shall remain in force
during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it
is terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property,
the right of use of Orange Triangle’s network domain names, registered
trademarks, databases, software systems and other intellectual
properties is granted to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Such rights cannot be
transferred to any other third party.

Under the Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property,
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall pay annual service fees equivalent to 12%of
its total annual revenue to Orange Triangle. Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
had also procured Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong to provide their
holding shares of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as a pledge to guarantee the
payment of the payable service fee to Orange Triangle or its wholly
owned subsidiaries.

Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong entered into an exclusive right to share purchase agreement
on 26 March 2020 (the “Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement”).
The Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement shall remain in force
during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon execution, unless it
is terminated in accordance with the clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, Ruijing
Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong jointly and individually granted Orange
Beijing the exclusive right to purchase the shares of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Exclusive
Right to Share Purchase Agreement, irrevocably and without any
additional conditions. Orange Beijing can, by its own will, decide the
way to exercise the right and purchase all or part of shares held by
shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and/or any specified third party
at the minimum price permitted by the relevant laws and regulations of
the PRC at any time, by one or more times.
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Under the Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, the share
repurchase price shall be the minimum price permitted by the relevant
laws and regulations of the PRC. The paid shareholder of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing will return the rest of the transfer price after deducting the paid-
up capital injected by them to Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong entered into a voting rights proxy agreement on 26 March
2020 (the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreement”). The Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement shall remain in force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing upon execution, unless it is terminated in accordance with the
clauses of the agreement.

Pursuant to the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement, Orange Beijing (or its
designated parties) was granted the power to, inter alia, exercise all
the rights of Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong as the shareholders
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, subject to applicable laws, regulations and
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s articles of association. No prior consent from
Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong is required before exercising such
right. Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong shall recognise Orange
Beijing’s voting result.

Pledge Agreement

Orange Beijing (as the pledgee), Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing
Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong (as the pledgers) entered into a pledge
agreement on 26 March 2020 (the “Pledge Agreement”), pursuant to
which each of Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong pledged their equity
interests in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing held by them as security for Orange
Beijing’s rights and interests granted by the Exclusive Technical Services
Agreement, Exclusive Right to Share Purchase Agreement, Management
and Operation Agreement, Voting Proxy Rights Agreement and the
Exclusive Licensing Agreement on Intellectual Property (collectively,
the “Master Agreements”). Orange Beijing shall have the right to get
compensation by converting the Equity interests into money and seek
preferential payments from the proceeds from the auction or sales of
the said equity interests concerned or other disposal methods as agreed
by each party in accordance with relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC.

Prior to the full discharge of the payments and obligations under the
Master Agreements, without written consent of the pledgee, Ruijing
Huijie and Mr. Liu Xiaodong shall not assign the said equity interests in
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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The Pledge Agreement has become effective upon the execution date
and has been filed at relevant market supervision and administration
bureau. Unless otherwise agreed by Orange Beijing in writing after
the Pledge Agreement comes into effect, upon the full and complete
performance of the Company and pledgors’ obligations under the
Master Agreements as well as Orange Beijing’s written confirmation, the
pledge shall be terminated.

Management and Operation Agreement

Orange Beijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Ruijing Huijie and Mr. Liu
Xiaodong entered into a management and operation agreement on 26
March 2020 (the “Management and Operation Agreement”), which
shall remain in force during the existence of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing upon
execution, unless it is terminated in accordance with clauses of the
agreement.

Under the Management and Operation Agreement, Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing will appoint Orange Beijing as its exclusive services provider to
provide complete management support, business support, technical
support and related consulting services during the term of the
Management and Operation Agreement in accordance with its terms
and conditions, which may include all necessary services within the
scope of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s business, such as but not limited
to business consultations, marketing consultancy, technical services,
intellectual properties licenses, product research and development,
system maintenance, as well as general corporate management.

The service fee shall be payable to Orange Beijing by the Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing, where the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall pay to Orange Beijing
such fees equivalent to the amount of the Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s
revenue deducted by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s (and its subsidiaries’)
expenses (including Beijing Zhixing Ruijing’s costs, depreciation, other
expenses and payments, and relevant tax payments incurred during the
term of the Management and Operation Agreement), net operation
loss made by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and the reserve fund extracted by
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. The service fee shall be calculated within three
(3) months since the end of each financial year based on the audited
report prepared in accordance with the Chinese Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises and paid within fifteen (15) days of the issuance
date of such audited report.
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Risk associated with the BZR Structured Contracts

The PRC government may determine that BZR Structured
Contracts are not in compliance with any existing or future
applicable PRC laws or regulations

If the PRC government finds that the BZR Structured Contracts
(which establish the structure for operating the Value-added
Telecommunications Businesses of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in the PRC)
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing could be subject to severe consequences, including the
nullification of the BZR Structured Contracts and the relinquishment of
the interest of Orange Beijing in the BZR Structured Contracts.

According to the FITE Rules, foreign investors’ ultimate equity ownership
in an entity in the PRC which provides value-added telecommunications
services must not exceed 50% and a foreign investor who wishes
to acquire any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC must demonstrate (i) a good track record and
(i) experience in providing value-added telecommunications services
("Qualification Requirements”).

Beijing Zhixing Ruijing has been engaging in the development and
operation of the Value-added Telecommunication Businesses. Under the
current PRC regulatory circumstances, Orange Beijing as a wholly foreign
owned enterprise would not be able to obtain the VAT License and thus
is unable to provide the value-added telecommunications services in the
PRC directly.

On 13 July 2006, the Ministry of Information Industry (4 % A & X #1
B {z B E % 26), currently known as MIT (the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC (RFEARKEFME T EF 5 Bt
#6)) issued the Circular on Strengthening the Administration of Foreign
Investment in Value-added Telecommunications Business (& 7058 M5
WELEIBETEEBEENRA) (“"MIT Notice”), which reiterated
restrictions on foreign investment in the telecommunications businesses.
Under the MIIT Notice, a domestic company that holds a VAT License
is prohibited from leasing, transferring or selling the license to foreign
investors in any form, and from providing any assistance, including
providing resources, sites or facilities, to foreign investors to provide
ICP services illegally in the PRC. Due to a lack of interpretative materials
from the authorities, it cannot be assured that the MIT will not
consider the BZR Structured Contracts as a kind of foreign investment
in telecommunication services, in which case Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and
Orange Beijing may be found in violation of the MIIT Notice.
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In addition, several articles published by some news agencies reported
discussions that a PRC Supreme Court decision and two VIE structure-
related arbitration decisions in Shanghai had cast doubt on the validity
of the VIE structure. According to these articles, the PRC Supreme
Court ruled in late 2012 that an entrustment agreement entered into by
and between a Hong Kong company and a PRC domestic entity, which
was purported to enable such Hong Kong company to make an equity
investment in a PRC bank through the proxy PRC domestic entity, was
void on the grounds that this agreement established an entrustment
relationship meant to circumvent the PRC laws and regulations that
prohibit foreign investment in PRC financial institutions and as such,
constituted an act of concealing illegal intentions with a legitimate form.
These articles argued that a contractual arrangement in a VIE structure
and the entrustment agreement in the cited case, which were similar to
the BZR Structured Contracts, were also designed to “get around” the
regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in certain industries. As
such, the articles noted that this Supreme Court decision might increase
the uncertainties relating to the PRC government’s view on the validity
of the VIE structure. These articles also reported, without providing
sufficient details, on two arbitration decisions by the then Shanghai
CIETAC which invalidated the contractual arrangement used in a VIE
structure in 2010 and 2011.

The PRC legal advisor is of the opinion that, based on their
understanding and the numerous precedents of PRC domestic internet
content providers controlled by overseas companies through contractual
arrangements that are similar to the BZR Structured Contracts, the
BZR Structured Contracts do not result in a violation of PRC laws, or
would not be deemed as “concealing illegal intentions with lawful
forms” (as a matter concerning Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law).
The BZR Structured Contracts are enforceable, valid and legally binding
in accordance with their terms and provisions (except for part of the
arbitration clauses contained therein setting forth that the arbitration
tribunal may issue injunction or winding-up orders and the Courts
of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands have the jurisdiction to grant
interim remedies in support of the arbitration pending formation of the
arbitration tribunal).

However, according to the PRC legal advisor, it cannot be assured that
the PRC government or judicial authorities would agree that the BZR
Structured Contracts comply with current PRC laws or regulations,
would not strictly enforce current PRC laws regulating the provision
of internet content, or would not adopt new laws or policies in the
future. If the PRC government or judicial authorities determine that
the BZR Structured Contracts do not comply with applicable laws
and regulations, such contracts would be deemed void and the PRC
government or judicial authorities could have broad discretion in dealing
with such incompliance, including:

(i)  requiring the nullification of the BZR Structured Contracts;
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(i) levying fines and/or confiscating the proceeds generated from the
operations under the BZR Structured Contracts;

(iiiy  revoking of the business licenses or operating licenses of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing;

(iv) discontinuing or placing restrictions or onerous conditions on the
business operations of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing; and

(v)  taking other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be
harmful to or even shut down the business of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing and/or Orange Beijing.

In addition, where the Group loses the right to direct the activities of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as a result of these consequences, the Group
would no longer be able to consolidate the financial results of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing.

Orange Beijing relies on BZR Structured Contracts to control and
obtain the economic benefits from Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership

Due to the PRC’s legal restrictions on foreign investment in the value
added telecommunications services, Orange Beijing controls, through
the BZR Structured Contracts rather than equity ownership, Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing, the operating entity in the PRC and the holder-to-be of
the key licenses required to operate the value-added telecommunications
services in the PRC. However, the BZR Structured Contracts still may not
be as effective as equity ownership in exercising control over Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing. For example, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and its shareholders
could breach or fail to perform their obligations under the BZR
Structured Contracts. If Orange Beijing had direct ownership of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing, Orange Beijing would be able to exercise its rights as
a shareholder to effect changes in its board of directors, which in turn
could effect changes, subject to any applicable fiduciary obligations, at
management and operational level. Under the BZR Structured Contracts,
Orange Beijing would need to rely on its rights under the BZR Structured
Contracts to effect such changes, or designate new shareholders for
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing.
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If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or its shareholders breach their obligations
under the BZR Structured Contracts or if Orange Beijing loses the
effective control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing for any reason, Orange
Beijing would need to bring a claim against them under the terms of the
BZR Structured Contracts. The BZR Structured Contracts are governed by
PRC law and provide that any dispute which arises will be submitted to
the CIETAC, for arbitration, the ruling of which will be final and binding.
Furthermore, personal liabilities of the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing may also cause the equity interest they hold in Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing to be subject to court preservation actions or enforcement. The
legal framework and system in the PRC particularly that relates to the
arbitration proceedings is not as developed as in other jurisdictions
such as Hong Kong. As a result, significant uncertainties relating to the
enforcement of legal rights through arbitration, litigation and other
legal proceedings remain in the PRC, which could limit Orange Beijing’s
ability to enforce the BZR Structured Contracts and exert effective
control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. If Beijing Zhixing Ruijing or any of
its shareholders fails to perform its respective obligations under the BZR
Structured Contracts, and Orange Beijing is unable to enforce the BZR
Structured Contracts, or suffers significant delays or other obstacles
in the process of enforcing the BZR Structured Contracts, the business
and operations of Orange Beijing could be severely disrupted, which
could materially and adversely affect operation results. As a result, the
Company’s investment in Orange Beijing could also be materially and
adversely affected.

Remedies of BZR Structured Contracts may not be obtained
effectively under PRC laws

The BZR Structured Contracts provide for dispute resolution by way of
arbitration in accordance with the arbitration rules of the CIETAC in the
PRC. The BZR Structured Contracts contain provisions to the effect that
the arbitration tribunal may award remedies when Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
breaches the BZR Structured Contracts. In addition, the BZR Structured
Contracts contain provisions to the effect that the courts in Hong Kong
and the Cayman Islands are empowered to grant interim remedies in
support of the arbitration pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal.

However, the abovementioned provisions contained in the BZR
Structured Contracts may not be enforced effectively. Under PRC laws,
an arbitration tribunal does not have the power to grant any injunctive
relief or provisional or final liquidation order to preserve the assets of or
any equity interest in Beijing Zhixing Ruijing in case of disputes, and the
courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be empowered
to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration pending the
formation of an arbitral tribunal under PRC laws. As a result, the
provisions may not effectively protect Orange Beijing, notwithstanding
the relevant contractual provisions contained in the BZR Structured
Contracts.
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Therefore, in the event that Beijing Zhixing Ruijing breaches any of the
BZR Structured Contracts, Orange Beijing may not be able to obtain
sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and its ability to exert effective
control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing and conduct its business could be
materially and adversely affected and the financial performance of
Orange Beijing could be materially and adversely affected. As a result,
the Company’s investment in Orange Beijing could also be materially
and adversely affected.

The shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing may potentially have
a conflict of interests with the Group

The Group’s control over Beijing Zhixing Ruijing is based on the
contractual arrangement under the BZR Structured Contracts. Hence,
conflict of interests of the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing will
adversely affect the interests of the Company. Pursuant to the Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement, the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing
have irrevocably authorised Orange Beijing (or its designee) as their
proxy to exercise all the rights of the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing and such authorisation shall not be altered unless otherwise
instructed by Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. Therefore, it is unlikely that there
will be potential conflict of interests between the Company and the
shareholders of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing. However, in the unlikely event
that conflict of interests arises and cannot be resolved, the Company
will consider removing and replacing the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing.

The contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of
the PRC tax authorities and transfer pricing adjustments and
additional tax may be imposed

The Group could face material adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that the arrangements under the BZR Structured
Contracts was not entered into based on arm’s length negotiations.
If the PRC tax authorities determine that these agreements were not
entered into on an arm’s length basis, they may adjust our income
and expenses for PRC tax purposes in the form of a transfer pricing
adjustment. A transfer pricing adjustment could adversely affect the
Group'’s financial position by increasing the relevant tax liability without
reducing the tax liabilities of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and this could
further result in late payment fees and other penalties to Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing for under-paid taxes. As a result, any transfer pricing adjustment
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position
and results of operations.
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The Company does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the BZR Structure d Contracts and the transactions
contemplated thereunder

The insurance of the Group does not cover the risks relating to the BZR
Structured Contracts and the transactions contemplated thereunder
and the Company has no intention to purchase any new insurance
in this regard. If any risk arises from the BZR Structured Contracts
in the future, such as those affecting the enforceability of the BZR
Structured Contracts and the relevant agreements for the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the operation of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing,
the results of the Group may be adversely affected. However, the Group
has been monitoring the relevant legal and operational environment
from time to time to comply with the applicable laws and regulations.
In addition, the Group has been implementing relevant internal control
measures to reduce the operational risk.

Actions taken to mitigate the risks associated with the
BZR Structured Contracts

The BZR Structured Contracts contain certain provisions in order to
exercise effective control over and to safeguard the assets of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing, including but not limited to that, without the prior
written consent of Orange Beijing, the shareholders of Beijing Zhixing
Ruijing shall not at any time dispose, transfer, pledge, sell or create any
charges over the assets, business, revenue or any beneficial interests of
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, Beijing Zhixing Ruijing shall conduct its business
in its ordinary and usual course to preserve the asset value of Beijing
Zhixing Ruijing and shall not engage in any act (or lack thereof) which
may have any adverse effect on the business, operations and asset value
of Beijing Zhixing Ruijing, and etc.

In addition to the abovementioned internal control measures as provided
in the BZR Structured Contracts, the Company has implemented,
through Orange Beijing, additional internal control measures against
Beijing Zhixing Ruijing as appropriate, having regard to the internal
control measures adopted by the Group from time to time, which may
include (without limitation):

(i)  Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to make available monthly management
accounts and submit key operating data after each month end
and provide explanations on any material fluctuations to Orange
Beijing;

(i) Beijing Zhixing Ruijing to assist and facilitate Orange Beijing to
conduct quarterly on-site internal audit on Beijing Zhixing Ruijing;
and
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(iiiy if required, legal advisers and, or other professionals will
be retained to deal with specific issues arising from the BZR
Structured Contracts and to ensure that the operation of Beijing

Zhixing Ruijing will comply with applicable laws and regulations.

Further information regarding risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements and the BZR Structured Contracts are also set out in
the Transfer of Listing Announcement and the announcement of the
Company dated 8 May 2015 respectively.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT(S)
Disposal of Huicong Hulian

The Group disposed of its 100% equity interests in Huicong Hulian
pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 28 November 2023
entered into among Beijing Huicong Zaichuang Technology Co., Ltd.
(@ member of the Group, as the transferor), Beijing Zhongli Jinyuan
Technology Co., Ltd. (as the purchaser), Huicong Hulian (as the target
company) and Beijing Huajianyu Trading Co., Ltd. (as the guarantor of
the purchaser) at a cash consideration of RMB5 million. The disposal
constituted a major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules, and was approved by the shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 23 February 2024. With the completion of
the disposal in February 2024, the Group has substantively ceased its
engagement in the financing services business (including its investment
in commercial bank). See the Company’s circular dated 30 January 2024
for more information.

Proposed Listing of PanPass on Beijing Stock Exchange

As of the date of this report, PanPass’ listing application is still
under review of the Beijing Stock Exchange. It is proposed that
PanPass will issue new shares by way of an initial public offering to
unspecified qualified investors (or other methods requested or agreed
by the relevant PRC authorities), subject to approvals by relevant
PRC regulators. The share allotment by PanPass, if materialises, will
constitute a major transaction of the Company. The proposal has
been approved by the shareholders of the Company. The proposal is
subject to, among other things, approvals from relevant authorities and
market conditions, and its terms have not been fixed. The Company will
publish further announcement(s) as and when appropriate. See also the
Company'’s circular dated 28 April 2023, and its announcements dated
17, 18, 22 and 30 May 2023, 5 September 2023 and 24 November
2023, respectively, for more information.
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Disposal of Tianjin Guokai

Reference is made to the Company’s 2023 Annual Report with respect
to disposal of and dispute regarding Tianjin Guokai. As disclosed, as
the purchaser failed to pay the final instalment of the acquisition price
of RMB75.5 million, the Group has filed an arbitration claim with the
Beijing Arbitration Commission in 2023 demanding payment. As of the
date of this report, the hearing procedures have been completed, and
the case currently awaits the commission’s ruling. The Group, taking
into account the advice of its legal advisers, believes that the Beijing
Arbitration Commission is likely to rule in favour of the Group in respect
of such claim. See also the Company’s 2023 Annual Report.

Changes in corporate positions and other corporate
change

With effect from 20 March 2024, Mr. Sun Yang resigned as a non-
executive Director due to adjustments in his other work arrangements.
More information about Mr. Sun’s resignation, his view on the disposal
of Huicong Hulian and the Company’s considerations on the same were
included in the Company’s circular dated 30 January 2024 and the
announcement dated 20 March 2024.

With effect from 26 March 2024, Mr. Xing Jingfeng was appointed as
a non-executive Director. Mr. Xing obtained the legal advice referred
to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, and confirmed he understood
his obligations as a director on 20 March 2024. See the Company’s
announcement dated 26 March 2024.

With effect from 27 May 2024, the Company’s head office and principal
place of business in the PRC has been changed to Unit 302, 3rd Floor,
Beiyuan, Yuanyang Xingfan Plaza, Building 1, No. 28 Beiyuan Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing 10017, the PRC.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total number of issued Shares was 1,309,931,119 as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: 1,309,931,119).

As at 31 December 2024, 54,485,706 options under the Company's
employees’ share option scheme (if exercised, 54,485,706 shares maybe
issued) were outstanding.
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STAFF AND REMUNERATION

The business development and results of the Group relies on the skills,
motivation and commitment of its staff. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had 658 employees (31 December 2023: 764).

Remuneration of employees is generally in line with the market trend
and commensurate with the rate in the industry. Other elements of
staff remunerations include incentive-based bonus and other benefits
(such as medical insurance, retirement schemes, training programs and
educational subsidies, and where suitable, share incentives through
2015 share option scheme operated by the Company). Total staff costs
including director’s emoluments from continuing operations for the Year
was approximately RMB171.1 million (2023: RMB224.8 million).

PENSION SCHEME

In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the Group
participated in a state retirement plan whereby the only obligation of
the Group with respect to such plan is to make annual contributions to
the scheme calculated at 16% of the basic salaries of the employees.
The Group has no obligation for further pension payments or any post-
retirement benefits beyond these annual contributions.

Details are set out in note 9(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has no defined contribution schemes under which
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who leave
the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) may be used by
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank borrowings amounting to
RMB17.0 million were guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and
secured by certain properties held by the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB10.0 million).
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Bank borrowings of RMB10.0 million were guaranteed by certain
independent third parties of the Group and secured by an executive
Director of the Company (31 December 2023: same).

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings with a total principal
amount of RMB230.0 million (31 December 2023: same) were provided
by an independent third party and matured on 31 December 2024 and
are classified as repayable on demand. This other borrowing is interest-
free, secured by certain equity interest of a subsidiary of the Group
and guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary of the Group (31
December 2023: same).

EXCHANGE RISK

As the Group’s operations are principally in the PRC and majority of
the assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated in RMB, the
Directors believe that the Group is not subject to significant exchange
risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

IMPORTANT EVENT(S) AFTER THE PERIOD

Except as disclosed, the Company is not aware of other significant
events which have occurred after the end of the Reporting Period and
have materially impacted the Group.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group completed its disposal of
Huicong Hulian (which mainly operated financial related business and
held investment in commercial bank and financial sector prior to the
disposal) in the Year. There were no other significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities for the Year.

It is the Group's vision to be a leading industrial Internet group in
China, in order to realise its long-term objective to empower traditional
industries with Internet and data. To achieve this, the Group will
continue its strategy on formulating a comprehensive industrial Internet
ecosystem.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the financial year by
business segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year (including an
analysis of the Group’s financial performance, an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business and events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year)
is set out in the sections headed “Management’'s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this Report of the Directors.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group may be affected by financial risks such as credit and
liquidity ricks and interest rate fluctuations. External volatility or
uncertainty brought by macro-economic conditions (particularly in
Chinese Mainland), national and local policies and regulations (such as
introduction of new laws) in industries we operates, consumers behavior
and trend, and contagious disease, etc. may also materially affect the
Group's business, financial conditions, results of operations and growth
prospects. The Group operates in a highly competitive markets. Part of
the Group’s operations relied on contractual arrangements (as further
described in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section above),
and their validity are crucial to the Group.
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The Group prudently manages its liquidity risks, and monitors its debt
profile on an on-going basis. Th Group replies on cash generated from
its daily operation and third-party loans and financing for the adequacy
and flexibility of working capital. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
was in net debt position and had certain other borrowings from
independent third party(ies) of a material sum which are classified as
repayable on demand, or is subject to dispute. The Group faces risks of
engaging in contractual disputes and legal proceedings, and the Group's
working capital position and liquidity may be adversely and materially
affected in the event the Group is required to pay/repay and unable to
obtain other financing at similar terms. See “Management Discussion
and Analysis” for more information.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's customer base is diversified and comprising mostly small
and medium sized enterprises in the PRC and certain well-known
companies. The Group values customers’ needs and aim to provide
satisfactory user experiences to its customers. The Group also conducts
customers satisfaction survey to obtain feedbacks, which would be
applied to further improve our products and services.

The Group’s major suppliers includes suppliers of B2B trading platform,
such as large-scale factories and traders. The Group worked closely
with approximately 100 suppliers in China during the Year, and the
Group endeavours to keep a long-term and friendly relationship with its
suppliers.

The business development and results of the Group relies on the skills,
motivation and commitment of its staff. The staff are core assets of the
Group, and the Group maintains various communication channels with
its employees to hear their opinion and feedbacks

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group realises the importance of environmental protection in
pursuing long-term sustainability, and is committed to improving
environmental sustainability and will closely monitor the performance.
The Company has published its Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) Report on the same date, which contains further information
about its ESG policies and performance during the Year. The ESG Report
is available on the “Investors’ Relations” page of the Company’s website
at www.hcgroup.com, and the Stock Exchange’s website at www.
hkexnews.hk.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Chinese Mainland,
while the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in Chinese
Mainland, Hong Kong and Cayman Islands. To the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Group has complied in material aspects with the
relevant laws and regulations which have significant impact on its
business and operation during the Year.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 90 to 91.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year.

The Company is not aware of the existence of any arrangement that
a shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividend during the
Year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in retained earnings of the Group during the
Year are set out on page 95.

Details of the movements in other reserves of the Group are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of
the Company are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as the 2015 share option scheme, the Company had not enter into
any equity-linked agreement during the Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had no distributable reserves,
calculated under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (31
December 2023: RMB243,638,000).
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 5.

DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

The Directors’ profile is set out on pages 16 to 20.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Directors as of the date of this report (or during the Period) are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jun (Chairman and CEQ)
Mr. Zhang Yonghong
Mr. Liu Xiaodong (President)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Fansheng
Mr. Lin Dewei
Mr. Xing Jingfeng
(appointed with effect from 26 March 2024)
Mr. Sun Yang (resigned with effect from 20 March 2024)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Ke
Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei
Ms. Qi Yan

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during or at the end of the
Year (i) no Director or an entity connected with a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance; (ii) there were no transaction,
arrangement or contract entered into by a specified undertaking of
the Company in which a Director had a material interest; (iii) there was
no other contract of significance between the Company or one of its
subsidiary companies, and a controlling shareholder (if any) or any of
its subsidiaries; and (iv) there was no contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
controlling shareholder (if any) or any of its subsidiaries.

During or at the end of the Year, there were no arrangements to which
the Company or a specified undertaking of the Company is a party, and
whose objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by mean of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate other than the 2015 share
option scheme of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EEEY

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the service contracts to MEXRFRABFBEUNLZREENEIEEIR
engage the Directors and management for their full-time services, no H2BRENBE AL » FRABMET LK
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole HFEEBBAEEEK2BRETMNEZHS E
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or B RITH Z2&4) °

existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR STAFF EMOLUMENTS EERk&5H{E S = ¥
Details of Directors and senior staff emoluments for the Year are setout ZAEEEZLRSREE ZHMFBEHN A 0

in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements. B R M 3E9 %10 o
Senior management remuneration by band REBESZSREBEAEHE
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: BEzZHEeBENT

No. of individuals

A B
2024
—E-ME
HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000 500,001/ 7T 1,000,000 7T = 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000 7T 2 o

See also “Corporate Governance Report — Remuneration Committee” HHEZEZNESREBABZFMzEZER -
for more information about the emoluments of Directors and senior T2 HIMEEARE —FHEZES]-
management.

During the Year, there was no arrangement in which the Directors RAFE  MEEETWNEXRAEREN 2
waived or agreed to waive their remuneration. ZHE o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
SECURITIES INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
"SFO")) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Securities Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company

Personal
interests

Class of
shares

Name of
Director

Family

Capacity interests

ROER 5%
Liu Jun Ordinary Beneficial owner 79,252,100 -
£ LR EREBA (note 1)
R
Zhang Yonghong Ordinary Beneficial owner 13,600,000 -
Rk AL LAk EnEaA (note 2)
(M3t2)
Liu Xiaodong ~ Ordinary Beneficial owner and 5,168,085 -
ANz LER Interest of controlled (note 3)
corporation (h33)
EnBEEARTENAT
Ean
Guo Fansheng  Ordinary Beneficial owner 2,088,000 -
PLE LAk and founder of a (note 4)
discretionary trust who (M 5E4)

can influence how the
trustee exercises his
discretion
ERBEARTYERT
ANIFEREEZ2E
FemA
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EERTETHRABZESHE

R-ZE-_ME+-_A=+—"H BEERARQ
AEETBABERARAR K EFMAEEE
(EERBEBEPENEBZSRBAEKRO([F
FREBEKRADEXVIE) KK - BERD
REHF - BEERBEZESFRBAEKRINEXVE
FINFESH HAMEARRE LBz
RABRERBEESFRBEGIBBIEGX
BEREEIRIERB 2T RAR) KA
RARRNBRIEEF R B E &G F3521& Fr
GEExZMzEm R AR HIBRIE ETHRAY
T8 EmBEITAESHITESFIHIMNIFES
AI((FEHIZESFRID BN E AR R KB RFT
ZHEmRAKBIT:

RERARGEEBEBRDZHR

Percentage of

shareholding
as of
31 December
Corporate Other  Total number 2024
interests interests of Shares  (approximate)
HE-B-MF
t-A=1-H
ZBREEAL
(B#%)
- - 79,252,100 6.05%
(note 1)
(B &)
- - 13,600,000 1.04%
(note 2)
(W3¥2)
62,273,794 - 67,441,879 5.15%
(note 3) (note 3)
(H33) (H3)
- 55,661,015 57,749,015 4.4%
(note 4) (note 4)
(M34) (FisE4)
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Notes:

i Among such interests include interests in 29,032,100 underlying Shares
derived from the share options (“Options”) granted under the 2015 Share
Option Scheme.

2. Among such interests include interests in 9,500,000 underlying Shares
derived from Options.

3. Among such interests include interests in 3,168,085 underlying Shares
derived from Options. Mr. Liu Xiaodong is also deemed to be interested
in 62,273,794 Shares held by Wisdom Limited (a company wholly and
beneficially owned by him) pursuant to the SFO.

4. Mr. Guo Fansheng is deemed to be interested in 55,661,015 Shares (long
position) held by a trustee of a trust of which Mr. Guo Fansheng is a
founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the trustee exercise
his discretion pursuant to the SFO. He 100% controls Frandor Limited
(which 100% controls Altair Associates Ltd.). Altair Associates Ltd. 100%
controls Cedoria Capital LLC, who is interested in such 55,661,015 Shares.

58 More information about the Directors’ interests in the Options is set out in
the paragraph headed “Share Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company has any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provision
of the SFO) or required to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Securities Model
Code as of 31 December 2024.

SHARE SCHEME
2015 Share Option Scheme

On 22 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”), a share option scheme was
approved by the shareholders of the Company (2015 Share Option
Scheme”). More information of the 2015 Share Option Scheme were
included in the circular of the Company dated 5 May 2015. Set out
below is a summary of the 2015 Share Option Scheme:
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4. REEFFEHAEKD

1. ZERZETREREBE-_ZT—AFHERE
el cERE(ERBEDA SR Z
29,032,100 A B Xt #E = ©

28 ZER=ETRREEREMP R 29,500,000
ARAEREAR DS o

3. ZERTETOREBREAIS R 23,168,085
BABRAR Dz - RBEFHRB|EEG -
2 /N S A IR AR E A Wisdom Limited(H
RNRELE2EEZHAZARABEZ
62,273,794 B0 P HEB H#E % ©

R EFREHBIER
5t 2% A$5 B 255,661,015 Ik 19 (47 &)
'?Tﬁi*ﬁ%ﬁé J ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬂi%i%i&ﬁ g kS
AN AIZBERATEEBS#E - %100%
7 ) Frandor Limited(#% 22 71100% 3% &l Altair
Associates Ltd.) o Altair Associates Ltd.100%
2= %l Cedoria Capital LLC * Cedoria Capital LLC
M % %55,661,0158 D P HEHEXE -
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Purpose and participants

The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is to attract and
retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants, customers,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, business partners
or service providers of the Group and to promote the success of the
business of the Group (“Participant(s)”). The Board may, at its absolute
discretion, invite any person belonging to any of the aforesaid classes
of persons of any member of the Group to be a Participant of the 2015
Share Option Scheme.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of Options
may be granted to Participants (including service providers) under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme is 102,085,221 Shares, representing
approximately 7.79% of the issued Shares, as at the beginning and the
end of the Year, and as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Options granted to each Participant (including both exercised and
outstanding Options) under the 2015 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

Time of exercise of the Options

An Option may be exercised by the grantee at any time during the
period to be notified by the Board to the grantee (the “Grantee”) in
the offer of Options (the “Offer”), but in any event shall not exceed 10
years from the date of offer (the “Offer Date"”).

Minimum holding period

The Board may offer to grant any Options subject to such terms and
conditions in relation to the minimum period of the Options to be held
and/or the performance criteria to be satisfied before such Options can
be exercised and/or any other terms as the Board may determine in its
absolute discretion.

Amount payable on acceptance of the Option

An Offer shall be deemed to have been accepted and an Option to
which the Offer relates shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted and to have taken effect when a letter in such form as the
Board may from time to time determine signifying acceptance of the
Option duly signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour
of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by the Company within 7 days from the Offer Date
(inclusive of the Offer Date).
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Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price shall be a price determined solely by the Board
and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the Offer Date, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
Offer Date.

Remaining life of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The 2015 Share Option Scheme shall be valid for a period of 10 years
commencing on the Adoption Date.

Outstanding Share Options

Set out below are the movement of the Options granted under the
under the 2015 Share Option Scheme during the Year:

Number of Options

BREZE

Exercised
during
the Year

Granted
during
the Year

Exercise  Outstanding
price per  asat 1 January
share 2024
igmt Sl
-A-# MAEE NAEE
EiK R fife

Name/category of
grantee

Date of grant

ARA

5/ %A RHAR SRRE
HKS

A

Directors/chief executive

E3/1EfBAR
Liv Jun 13 October 2017 6476 5,986,000 - -
I b
+A+=H
5,986,000 - -
5,686,700 - -
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BT REZEE
REBAHESS2RRTL B2 AL
HABERURT=FPzH&BE  (IRORN
ZHRHMWAREXRARNBXAEBA®RE
KRB ZWHE: (NROREZZLHRYA
TALXERBIMEBERERMBZITFY
Wi E: k(iR HREHNBH ZHIE -

CE-AFERENECETFEY
“E-LhFEBRESABEAERMBHET0
FABR -

W ARATE 2 BB R
ATHIRNANFERE T -RFBRES
B ROMBEREZSIENR

Outstanding

Lapsed as at
during 31 December
the Year 2024
i

REEE +ZA=t-H
X3 Eild
(Note 1)

(Hrat1)

Vesting
period and
Exercise period ~ conditions

k8 BEERAHK

13 October 2018 - Note 8
12 October 2027
Z2-N\ETATZAE WS
ZRoEETATIR
13 October 2019 -
12 October 2027
ZR-NETATZRE
ZRoEETATIR
13 October 2020 -
12 October 2027
ZRCRETATERE
ZRoEETATIR

S 5,986,000

S 5,986,000

S 5,686,700



49

Report of the Directors

EEERE

Number of Options
RREHA
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Vesting
Name/category of price per  asat 1 January during during during 31 December period and
grantee Date of grant share 2024 the Year the Year the Year 2024 Exercise period  conditions
gt -2 it 13
ARA -f-8 REEE REEE WAEE +ZA=t-H
e/ 88 RS SRTRE AR i fif 3! E3id k8 BRARKH
HKS (Note 1)
B (Bat1)
5,686,700 . . - 5,686,700 13 October 2021 -
12 October 2027
EC-FtATZREE
CECEETATCR
5,686,700 - - - 5,686,700 13 October 2022 -
12 October 2027
CECCETATZRE
CECEETATCR
Zhang Yonghong 20 June 2019 46 3,163,500 S = S 3,163,500 20 June 2020- Note 9
19 June 2029
FXA ZE-AE CECRERACTRE MRS
~A-TAR ZECAERATAR
3,163,500 - - - 3,163,500 20 June 2021 -
19 June 2029

“FC-FxAZTRE

ZECAERATAR

3,173,000 e = = 3,173,000 20 June 2022 -
19 June 2029

“ECCEARCTRE

ZECAERATAR

Liu Xiaodong 19 July 2018 46 1,332,000 - - - 133,00 19.July 2019 - Note 10
18 July 2028

#1R it 46 E-ARCATARE K0
tATAR “2-\ELATIR
1,034,485 - - - 103448 19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028

Z5IRELATNAE

“E-N\EEATNA

801,600 - - - 801,600 19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028

“Fo-FrAtNRE

“E-N\EEATNA
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Number of Options
RREHA
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed as at Vesting

Name/category of price per  asat 1 January during during during 31 December period and

grantee Date of grant share 2024 the Year the Year the Year 2024 Exercise period conditions

gt 13 it L3

ARA -R-H HEEE REEE WEEE tZA=t-A

e/ 8N RHRH SRTEE E3id g i X3 E3id k8 BRARKH

HK$ (Note 1)
A7 (Hra1)

Five highest paid
individuals
(not Director)

INBREAL(FES)

2 individuals (also being 19 July 2018 46 1,681,650 - - - 1,681,650 19July 2019 - Note 10
senior management), in 18 July 2028
aggreqate ZE-NEEATRAE B0

WNTBERAERE) Z3-)\% ZEZN\ELATAR
aif tA+hA

1,507,660 - - - 1,507,660 19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028

ZEIRELATAAR

ZEZN\ELATAR

1,012,020 - - - 1,012,020 19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028

ZEI-FtATIRE

ZEZN\ELATAR

Other senior management

R

1 individual 19 July 2018 46 999,000 - - - 999,000 19 July 2019~ Note 10

18 July 2028
1A Z3-\f ZE-RELATARE B
tAthA ZEZN\ELATAR
895,640 - - - 895,640 19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
ZEIRELATAAR
ZEZN\ELATAR
200,400 - - - 200,400 19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028

“5--FtAtnRE
“E-N\ELATNA
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Outstanding
Lapsed as at Vesting
during 31 December period and

the Year 2024 Exercise period  conditions

RZZ-M%

REEE T2A=t-A

¥ Rl EH BERARKE
(Note 1)
(1)

- 2,160,388 19 July 2019~ Note 10
18 July 2028
ZE-AFEATHAZE BN
“E-N\EEATNA
- 2,160,888 19 July 2020 -
18 July 2028
Z5IRELATNAZ
“E-N\EEATNA
- 2,167,375 19 July 2021 -
18 July 2028
“F-FrAtARE
“E-N\EEATNA

- 54,485,706
(Note 11)
(Bzn)

Number of Options
RREHA
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised
Name/category of price per  asat 1 January during during
grantee Date of grant share 2024 the Year the Year
ot 1
ARA -f-8 REEE REEE
e/ 88 RS SRTRE AR i fif
HKS
B
Other employees
iR
In aggregate (Note 2) 19 July 2018 46 2,160,888 - -
ait (M) Z3-Nf
tAThA
2,160,388 - -
2,167,375 - -
Total 54,485,706 - -
Eh (Note 11)
(B3t
Notes:

Each Option granted and accepted shall be valid for a period of 10 years
from the date of grant of Options. Each Option has a vesting period from
its date of grant up to the date immediately before the commencement of
its exercise period.

For the Options exercisable at HK$6.476 granted on 13 October 2017,
the relevant grantees may exercise Options up to 20%, 40%, 60%, 80%
and 100%, respectively, of the Shares comprised in his or her Option (less
any number of Shares in respect of which the Option has been previously
exercised), commencing from the first, second, third, fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of the grant of Options.

B %

BNERONEEMZBREEEMNAERE
BERHABETF - FHBREHR
BEREAMEERETHEAMNKAARZE
BH -

MR —tF+AT=BRETiZ6.476%
TR 2ERENS  ARAARARBER
BEELYENE - - F= -FNOEFEHR
BER RZUPRTERMITHRERYS
B9 220%  40% * 60% * 80% 100%
(MBBEBITEBRERM SR 2EMKRG
HE)ZHERE -

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the Options exercisable at HK$4.60 granted on 19 July 2018, the
relevant grantees may exercise Options up to 33.3%, 66.6% and 100%,
respectively, of the Shares comprised in his or her Option (less any number
of Shares in respect of which the Option has been previously exercised),
commencing from the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of
the grant of Options.

For the Options exercisable at HK$4.60 granted on 20 June 2019, the
relevant grantees may exercise Options up to 33.3%, 66.6% and 100%,
respectively, of the Shares comprised in his or her Options (less any
number of shares of the Company in respect of which the Options have
been previously exercised), commencing from the first, second and third
anniversaries of the date of the grant of Options.

5 employees with Options to subscribe Shares at HK$4.60 per Share.

These Options are conditional upon the continuation of employment of the
relevant grantee.

The fair value of Options granted under the Share Option Scheme on 13
October 2017, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model,
was approximately RMB100,356,000. The significant inputs into the
model were exercise price of HK$6.476 standard deviation of expected
share price returns of 62%, expected life of Options 4.9 years expected
dividend paid out rate of 0.9% and annual risk-free interest rate 1.745%.
The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected share price
returns is based on statistical analysis of historical price movement of the
Company and other comparable companies with similar business nature.

The fair value of Options granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme on
19 July 2018, determined using the Binomial Model valuation model, was
approximately RMB70,258,000. The significant inputs into the model were
exercise price of HK$4.6 standard deviation of expected share price returns
of 70%, expected life of Options 10 years expected dividend paid out rate
of 0% and annual risk-free interest rate 2.13%. The volatility measured
at the standard deviation of expected share price returns is based on
statistical analysis of historical price movement of the Company and other
comparable companies with similar business nature.

If an employee with unvested Options resign, such unvested Options will
lapse, and the share compensation costs recognised previously will be
credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The values of Options recognised in share-based compensation reserves
are subject to a number of assumptions and with regard to the limitation
of the valuation model.
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RR-E-NAENA-+EEHTIRI60E
TIEzERENS  EEARARERE
BREFREAME- - F-_RFZBFE &
ZUSRTERASEEREM P RKRMHZ
33.3% * 66.6% &100% (MK BACTHEE
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8.  The Options granted on 13 October 2017 were subject to the following 8. RZZE—+tF+AT=-ARHZERESZR
vesting period and conditions: RUATHEB B RIEE:
20% each of the Options would be vested and become exercisable on each M0%EREBREHNABRE =T —+
of the first, second, third, fourth and fifth anniversary dates of date of F+A+T=ZE)E— F=- - F= -FNEEFE
offer (being 13 October 2017). Out of each of these 20%, half of them (i.e. TEAFERSAREBRATIE -EBHZ
an aggregate of 50% of all Options) would only be vested and become Z0%ERER —FBEmEBERESH
exercisable if the following performance targets are met: S50%)ERTIHBHNEFRERZIEATHE
HBRATITE:

Percentage of performance targets achieved Percentage of the special Options becoming exercisable

BERBEXEEZEA L BRI EBBBREZTDL

100% 100%

70%-99% Proportionate to the percentage of performance targets actually achieved

for the relevant financial year

70% E99% BBV RFEEREERN ZERBEESLARIELL

Less than 70% Nil

L H70% =
If the grantee ceases to be an employee, unvested Options will lapse WMEBATBRAEE AEBEERESED
automatically, and Options vested but not yet exercised will lapse if such KM MiHBEEKRELERBAESEAEF=HE
Options have not been exercised within three months from the date of his/ AAMAKRITEESHBERTEBERE A&
her cessation of employment. EERBHEEM-

9. Options granted on 20 June 2019 were subject to the following vesting 9. RZE-NAFAAZTARHZEREZR
period and conditions: LA 55 8 B R R 1R 14 -

Percentage of Shares
comprised in the Option
which is vested and
exercisable (subject to
fulfillment of vesting

Date when the Options conditions set out in the
become exercisable next column) Condition 1 Condition 2
EEBRATREDN
§8 IR AR 16 R 42
BAL(ERT-#
FBzEBREEERR -
BREATEZAS HEEE) B
(Notes)
(B &)
First tranche of Options First anniversary date of the 33.3% The performance target of the The Grantee shall remain as an
Date of Grant (the “First Company for the year 2019 is employee of the Group as at the
Anniversary Date") achieved First Anniversary Date
BHERE REAHzE-BFRH(E 333% ARRAZE-NFEBARE EARARE-BEERNELE
—BERH) =34 BzEE

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Date when the Options
become exercisable

BRETTEZAS

Second tranche of Options ~ Second anniversary date of
the Date of Grant (the

“Second Anniversary

Date"”)
E-BERE REBHzEF _BERB(E
“EFAH])

Third tranche of Options Third anniversary date of the
Date of Grant (the “Third
Anniversary Date"”)

RURBME-BFRH(E
“@EFRE])

FomBERE

50% of the respective tranche of Options in
exercisable only if Condition 1 and Condition 2
achieved. The remaining 50% of the respective tr

Percentage of Shares

comprised in the Option

which is vested and

exercisable (subject to

fulfillment of vesting

conditions set out in the
next column) Condition 1

EEBRATHEN

B8 IR AT 45 R 43
BAL(AST-—8
FRzERRGEEERE
hEEE)

(Notes)

(&)

R

33.3%
achieved
333% AQARIZEC
E
33.4%

achieved
33.4%
=374

each vesting period are
set out above are fully
anche of Options in each

vesting period are exercisable if Condition 2 is fulfilled.
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The performance target of the
Company for the year 2020 is

The performance target of the
Company for the year 2021 is

ARAIZEZ-F2BHARE

Condition 2

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as at the

Second Anniversary Date
DEZEHABE ARARE_BEERNELE
BlzEE

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as at the
Third Anniversary Date

ARAREZBEFEANEASE
BzEE

fid £ X Pra R R R 22 8K - B R R
HRY R 2 BIREZ50% T AT 1T -
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10.

periods and conditions:

First tranche of Options

ELid e

Second tranche of Options

EHERE

Third tranche of Options

E-HRRRE

Date when the Options

become exercisable

BRETTEZAN

First anniversary date of the
Date of Grant (the “First
Anniversary Date")

RHBHzE-BFRE(E
~BFAH])

Second anniversary date of the
Date of Grant (the "Second
Anniversary Date")

RHRMZE_BEAHR(E
—EFAH)

Third anniversary date of the
Date of Grant (the "Third
Anniversary Date”)

REEHzE=BFAH(%
—BFAH)

The Options granted on 19 July 2018 were subject to the following vesting

Percentage of Shares
comprised in the Option
which is vested and
exercisable (subject to
fulfillment of vesting
conditions set out in the
next column)
ERBRATRNERE
FERBEDL(AFT
-REBzREREE
ERf HEER)
(Notes)

(M&E)

33.3%

33.3%

33.3%

33.3%

33.4%

33.4%

10.

Condition 1

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2018 reaches
RMB10 billion or above.

ARAR-F-N\EZHE
BN EARBI00E T
k-

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2019 reaches
RMB20 billion or above.

ARARR-F-NFZHE
WABARE200[ET
T

The revenue of the Company
for the year 2020 reaches
RMB30 billion or above.

FRAR-B-_BE HE
WA EARE300ET
HU L

JiN
s
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Condition 2

The Grantee has achieved
the performance targets
for the year 2018 set out
by the department or
business unit where he/
she belongs.

RRANEREMBHAR
EBEUAMT=F-N
EZEMAE

The Grantee has achieved
the performance targets
for the year 2019 set out
by the department or
business unit where he/
she belongs.

ERANEREMBHAR
EBRBNAE-Z—N
FZEMAE -

The Grantee has achieved
the performance targets
for the year 2020 set out
by the department or
business unit where he/
she belongs.

RRANEREMBHAR
EBENME-Z=%
EZEMAR -

Condition 3

The Grantee shall remain as
an employee of the Group
as at the First Anniversary
Date

ARARE-BEAHNEA
SEZER

The Grantee shall remain as an
employee of the Group as
at the Second Anniversary
Date

EEARE_BERBNEA
SEZER

The Grantee shall remain as
an employee of the Group
as at the Third Anniversary
Date

ERAREZBERBNER
SEZEE

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Notes:

If a Grantee fulfills Condition 1 and Condition 3 set out above in the
respective vesting period, the Grantee will be entitled to exercise
40% of the respective tranche of Options.

If a Grantee fulfills Condition 2 and Condition 3 set out above in the
respective vesting period, the Grantee will be entitled to exercise
40% of the respective tranche of Options.

If a Grantee fulfills Condition 3, the Grantee will be entitled to
exercise 20% of the respective tranche of Options.

All the Options will be automatically cancelled if the Grantee fails
to fulfil Condition 3 regardless of whether Condition 1 and/or
Condition 2 are achieved.

In addition to the above vesting conditions, if performance targets
set out in Condition 1 or Condition 2 above cannot be fully
achieved, the number of Options corresponding to fulfilment of
Condition 1 and/or Condition 2 as referred to in notes 1 and 2
above which can be exercisable in the respective vesting period
would be further adjusted in the following manner:

Percentage of performance targets achieved

EREMEBBEZED L
100% 100%
70%-99%

70% £99%

Less than 70% Nil
DIRT0% ES

The number of outstanding Options under the 2015 Share Option Scheme
represented approximately 4.16% of the Company’s issued Shares as of
the beginning and the end of the Year. As of the date of this report, there
were 54,485,706 Outstanding Options, representing approximately 4.16%

of the

issued Shares.

Save as disclosed, no options were exercised, granted, lapsed or
cancelled during the Year.
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Percentage of the Options becoming exercisable
ATEZERERTS L

Proportionate to the percentage of performance targets actually
achieved
HERERZENEBREDLKIEL

"N, ZE—AFBEREFEEBTZARITER
BREHBEEREAFVEAFRARAER
BITRMANLI6%  BEARSBH B
54,485,706 R1TEBRE - HEFHTRH
474.16% °

BT EEIN  BIEAAERERAFEARNTT
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so for as the Company is aware of, the
interests and short positions of substantial Shareholders (not being
Directors and the chief executives of the Company) in the Shares and
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
(“Shares”)

Name of Shareholder Class of shares Long position Capacity

BRES EB 1% 43 % 5l &6

Substantial shareholder

57

FERRREMALREQFAR
DREBROGZEZR KR

R-E-_MF+=_A=+—8  BAQXRHM
FERR(WIFEEIARAEBZITHASL)
RARABKEFMWEB EZE(EEREFFR
HEKRAEXVB) 2RO RAEBBERMDS - #
ERBESFLRHAEGRMIEXVHFE2R F35
HBENSARRARBIMZESRAR I
AR ARRRREZES KB E KO FE3361K
FIEEEEMeEZRABNT

FRRAEBER(RGD2EFR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as at
31 December 2024

REBAOTD L

FERRK
Talent Gain Developments  Ordinary 253,671,964  Beneficial owner and Interest in 19.37%
Limited T (note 1) controlled corporation
(FH3E1) EBEmBEAEARZEHATEZR
Digital China (BVI) Limited  Ordinary 253,671,964 Interest in controlled corporation 19.37%
3 A% (note 1) X EHIAAERE
(B 3E1)
Digital China Holdings Ordinary 253,671,964 Interest in controlled corporation 19.37%
Limited L im AR (note 1) Z{EHIQFE =
NI IERER QA (P 5E1)
Other persons
Hftt A
Ideal South Limited Ordinary 80,000,000 Beneficial owner 6.11%
T AR (note2) EmHEAA
(B 7 2)

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Name of Shareholder

BRRES E8

Class of shares

I 13 28 Rl

Long position

L33

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding as at
31 December 2024
R=-ZB-OF
+=A=+—-8B%2
BRERAES

Capacity

51

Wong Luen Hei Ordinary 129,705,000 Interest in controlled corporation and 9.90%
= e A (note 2) Founder of a discretionary trust
(Kt 5E2) who can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion
REH AR R KA EITEATRE
EmfERz2RERZEBA
Fortune Value Investment  Ordinary 104,562,000 Beneficial owner 7.98%
Holdings Limited TR (note3) EmHEABA
(Bff 5 3)
Zhu Lemin Ordinary 104,562,000 Interest in controlled corporation 7.98%
REH gl (note 3) EEHQAAIER
(BT 3E3)

Notes: B 5 -

1. Such interests in the Company comprise: (1) 230,263,964 Shares held by 1. ZERARR ZEZBIE (1) HTalent Gain
Talent Gain Developments Limited; and (2) 23,408,000 Shares held by Developments Limited ¥ 5 230,263,964 %
Unique Golden Limited. Unique Golden Limited is wholly and beneficially %19 : & (2)E Unique Golden Limited# & 2
owned by Talent Gain Developments Limited, which in turn is wholly and 23,408,000 & 7 ° Unique Golden Limited
beneficially owned by Digital China (BVI) Limited and indirectly wholly and fiTalent Gain Developments Limited & & & &
beneficially owned by Digital China Holdings Limited, a company whose #4A + MTalent Gain Developments Limited Al
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 861). Therefore, Talent fi Digital China (BVI) Limited2 B E &= # A I
Gain Developments Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held RS MNBEBIERBERAR (RO AERAM
by Unique Golden Limited, and each of Digital China (BVI) Limited and FA(RORFE - 861))EEL2EEMES -
Digital China Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares It - Talent Gain Developments Limited #
held by Talent Gain Developments Limited and Unique Golden Limited. B AE R Unique Golden Limited ¥ 5 2 B 15

7R ¥ A # = - M Digital China (BVI) Limited &
1N S R A PR A A & B 1% AR 1 R Talent
Gain Developments Limited }2Unique Golden
Limited R B Z R TR HEB E = ©

2. Ideal South Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Luen 2. Ideal South Limited B E# B A2 EE =
Hei. I

3. Fortune Value Investment Holdings Limited is wholly and beneficially 3. Fortune Value Investment Holdings Limited Fq

owned by Mr. Zhu Lemin.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had
not been notified of any interests or short positions of substantial
Shareholders or other persons in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which are required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

All the related party transactions as disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, or are otherwise fully-
exempted under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules from time to time (if applicable) during
the Year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group’s customers are mostly small and medium sized enterprises
in the PRC and certain well-known companies. The five largest
customers of the Group together accounted for approximately 17.1%
of the Group’s revenue for the Year, out of which the largest customer
accounted for approximately 4.1% of the Group’s revenue. Most of
the Group’s revenue is derived from B2B trading platform. The major
customers of trading platforms include a large number of small and
medium sized enterprises and factories. The sales contracts are entered
according to contracts orders. The sale contracts generally have a term
of one year, which could be renewed by the customers upon expiry
depending on the type of contracts.

The Group’s major suppliers are the major suppliers of B2B trading
platform and well-known scale factories and traders. The five largest
suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for less than 20% of
the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) has an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the Year (2023:
Nil).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the risk
management and internal control systems, this annual report and the
results of the Company for the Year. The Audit Committee has met with
external auditors and discussed the financial matters of the Group that
arose during the course of audit for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code"”) in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules in force at the relevant time except
for code provision C.2.1 regarding the separate roles of chairman and
chief executive, as Mr. Liu Jun is serving as both the chairman and the
CEO. More information about the Company’s considered reasons and
explanation for adopting such arrangement is set out on page 62 of the
“Corporate Governance Report”.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company believes that at least 25% of the Company total
issued Shares was held by the public.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she and, to the best of his/
her information, his/her respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules), did not have any business or interest in any company that
materially competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
any other conflict of interests with the interests of the Group during the
Year.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers they
are independent. See the Corporate Governance Report for further
information.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Articles, (among others) the Directors
and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty,
in their respective offices or trusts. This indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of said persons. Such provisions were in force during the Year and
remained in force as of the date of this annual report. The Company
has also arranged appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of potential legal action against Directors and other officers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holdings in the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed its listed securities (including sale of treasury shares as
defined under the Listing Rules) during the Year. As of 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
There has been no change in the auditors of the Company for the
preceding three years.

By Order of the Board
HC Group Inc.
Liu Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2025
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INTRODUCTION

Maintaining high standards of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Company’s goals. This corporate
governance report describes the Company’s corporate governance
practices, explains the Company’s applications of the principles of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the "CG Code”).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company believes that by applying the principles under the CG
Code with reference to the Company’s own individuality and achieving
high standard of corporate governance, the corporate value and
accountability of the Company can be enhanced and the shareholders’
interests can be maximised. The Board is satisfied that the Group’s
strategic directions and business model are aligned with its culture
during the Year. The Board monitors and reviews the Company’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices. Management
meetings were held throughout the Year and where appropriate,
internal circulars and other guidance notes were issued to the Directors
and senior management to monitor and raise awareness to issues
regarding corporate governance practices.

The Company complied with all the applicable code provisions of Part
2 of the CG Code in the Year, except for Code Provision C.2.1 of Part 2
of the CG Code with respect to Mr. Liu Jun (Chairman of the Company)
acting as the chief executive officer (CEQ) with effect from 3 February
2023 to allow Mr. Zhang Yonghong (an executive Director) to focus on
the development of PanPass. Such Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly established
and set out in writing.

The Company believes that the above arrangement is beneficial to the
Group as a whole. Mr. Liu has been overseeing the Group’s strategic
development, he has extensive experience in the industry and the
experience of acting as the CEO. It allows Mr. Zhang to devote and
focus on the development of PanPass, and is in line with the corporate
governance requirements of Beijing Stock Exchange in light of PanPass’
Proposed listing on the Beijing Stock Exchange. The Company believes
that this arrangement allows the Group to maintain its efficient
planning and implementation of business decisions and strategies
under consistent leadership of the current management team without
compromising the balance of power and authority. The arrangement
could also facilitate a division of work among key management members
of the Company. With other corporate and internal control practices by
the Group, including its decision-making procedures and mechanism
to manage conflict of interests, such arrangement fits the Company’s
individual circumstances and overall need.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

F=
ARRI—HENERSRECHFERRALR
EREARER AEXBERBMEBALR
AEXREREMR UYHEARTH LMHA
MexCimEtxERTA(RERERTAD
ZEH -

TEERER
ARARARERABEAKLSEARTNBTER
2R ERTHARTZRARGERSFE
ZEEER AURSARAZELEXEESR
MEMN  IHERFMEKKE EFEEH
FEERAFENRBIMREEBRAGE
EXf—H EFgERIRTAER 2D
XERATHRZARBR EEHEGERAF
EHEARARNEEZBERATAEERER
EEABZRHAMBSEAMIES C AEE
Rt XEATRERSHENER

BRERARARERAETELEB T =_=F_A
“HREATERENTE AERKA L E T
EREITRKEROZEEREOLES
BSFRIE Z 5 FANME X B C2. &N - AR
AAFEBETHEEARTUNE _BomEEAE
FASFRIMEX c ZTFRMESXEC2UERTE - £
FHITBRERzAGCETES - TEA—A
AT ETFETHRAREABEZS>TE
ERERFELIAZESE -

ARABIBR/LEARHEAEEERER - 3
RE-BEEEASBZEBRER KHEFY
ETERBREFERATEZER - EfR
RELRMEINKERODZER  BER
KEBRNBRIERBAISHA LD - W8T
HEARBHERGMZEEERER AR
ARG ZRFSAEELEERTERRER
FZHERET  #FIRREURRITE
BARRER RARTEZTEORERZF
B REHNEDARAIEEREKEH
DL BEEAEEEMEENAIRIEGEE -
BRERERARREFRBHAEENEFTR &
LZHNEARAENBERRERBHEK -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for determining and performing the corporate
governance functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
During the Year, the Board has reviewed and monitored, among other
things, (a) the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices;
(b) training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management; (c) the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) the Company’s
code of conduct applicable to employees and directors; and (e) the
Company's compliance with the CG Code disclosures requirements.

CODES ON DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms not less than the required standard
of dealings under the Securities Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Directors have confirmed his/her compliance with such required
standard of dealings and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors throughout the Year.

The Board has also adopted written guidelines on terms not less than
the required standard of dealings for relevant employees who may have
access to inside or price sensitive information of the Company in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Directors on the date of this annual report were:

Name Date of appointment (as director)

Mr. Liu Jun
(Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Zhang Yonghong

(appointed on 12 September 2016)
(appointed on 4 January 2019)

Mr. Liu Xiaodong (President) (appointed on 1 June 2018)
Mr. Guo Fansheng Note'! (appointed on 21 March 2000)
Mr. Xing Jingfeng Notes1&3 (appointed on 26 March 2024)
Mr. Lin Dewej Note! (appointed on 1 July 2020)
Mr. Zhang Ke Note2 (appointed on 28 March 2003)

Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwej Note 2 (appointed on 1 November 2011)

Ms. Qi Yan Note2 (appointed on 30 November 2017)

Notes:

1. non-executive Directors

2. independent non-executive Directors

3. Mr. Xing Jingfeng was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect

from 26 March 2024. He obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules, and confirmed he understood his obligations as
a director, on 20 March 2024. See the Company’s announcement dated 26

March 2024.

4. Mr. Sun Yang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 20
March 2024 due to adjustments in his other work arrangements (See also
the Company’s announcement dated 20 March 2024). Mr. Sun disagreed
with other members of the Board regarding the procedures and manner
of resolution of the disposal entered into in November 2023. His view, the
Company’s considerations and more information about the disposal of
Huicong Hulian were included in the Company’s circular dated 30 January

2024.
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The Company’s circular with respect to matters to be considered at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") sets out information
about the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has in place mechanism for ensuring independent views
and input are available to the Board. Each of the Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors) has full and timely access
to the Group’s information, and can seek advice from the company
secretary as well as independent professional advisers at the Company'’s
expenses in appropriate circumstances. With the Group’s conflict
management and other internal control measures, these independent
non-executive Directors provide balance and independent external
perspective, overseeing the Group’s operation and corporate action.
The Board and its committees review, at least once every year, the
Company’s governance structure and such mechanism. Periodic
review and evaluations are also being conducted to assess the Board
and management’s performance, monitoring and enhancing the
effectiveness of the Company’s governance structure and mechanism.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company
has received from each independent non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of his/her independence. Having assessed the independent
non-executive Directors’ background, business and other relationship (if
any), and the strong independence in judgment by them throughout the
Year and with reference to such confirmations, the Company considers
such Directors to be independent in accordance with the guideline set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises the benefits
of diversity of Board members, and will ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experiences and diversity of prospect appropriate to
the Company’s business need prospectus. See also “— Diversity” in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Director do not have any
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship with
each other.

Board meetings and general meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year. At least 14 days’ notice
of all regular Board meetings were given to all Directors (unless waived
in accordance with the Articles), who were all given an opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for discussion. The Board secretary
of the Company (the “Board Secretary”) assists the Chairman in
preparing the agenda for the meeting, and in observing applicable
rules and regulations regarding the meetings. The meeting agenda and
accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors prior to meetings.
During the Year, 4 Board meetings and 2 general meetings (including
the annual general meeting) were held and the Directors’ attendance is
as follows:

Attendance
Board
Meetings

General
Meetings

Executive Directors

Liu Jun 4/4 2/2
Zhang Yonghong 4/4 2/2
Liu Xiaodong 4/4 2/2

Non-executive Directors

Guo Fansheng 4/4 1/2
Lin Dewei 4/4 2/2
Xing Jingfeng 2/2 171
Sun Yang 2/2 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke 4/4 2/2
Zhang Tim Tianwei 4/4 172
Qi Yan 4/4 172

Notes:

Q) Some Directors were unable to attend the general meeting(s) held during
the Year due to other engagements. Communications were made to
inquire with the Directors on their opinion and matters to be brought to
the attention of the general meeting prior to the meetings. Updates about
the meetings were provided subsequently.

(2) Board meetings at which relevant Director is required to abstain pursuant
to the Listing Rules and/or the Articles are excluded (where applicable).

(3) Mr. Xing became a Director in March 2024. Mr. Sun ceased to be a

Director in March 2024. Attendance is stated by reference to the number
of meeting(s) held during their tenure.
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In regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the Company, monitor financial performances
and discuss the annual and interim results, consider budgets, as well as
discuss and decide on other significant matters.

The Board Secretary records the proceedings of Board meeting by
keeping minutes, including all decisions made, concerns raised and
dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts minutes are circulated to all
Directors as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director. All
Directors have access to relevant and timely information as the Chairman
ensures that management will supply the Board and its committees with
all relevant information in a timely manner.

Delegation by the Board

The Company has established the respective functions and
responsibilities reserved to the Board and those delegated to
management. The Board leads and provides direction to and monitors
the management (who in turns, provide updates and reports to the
Directors). The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of
the Company’s overall strategies and policies and their implementation;
approval of business plans; evaluation of the performance and
compliance of the Company and oversight of management. It is
also responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its
businesses by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, matters relating to the Company’s
share capital, appointment of Directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to day-to-day
operation, implementing decisions of the Board, are delegated to the
management.

Decisions of the Board are mainly communicated to the management
through executive Directors. Senior management also attends meeting
among the Directors as and when appropriate.

INDUCTION AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive induction, guideline and

reference materials to enable them to familiarise with the Group’s
business operations and the Board’s polices.
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The Directors recognise the importance of ongoing professional
development and training, and are committed to participating in
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, and
to keep abreast of the current trends and issues which the Group may
face. Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional
development and have been provided with training materials relevant to
the directors duties and responsibilities.

All Directors during the Year have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminar(s) and/or reading relevant materials
on the topics related to corporate governance, updates on the Listing
Rules and applicable laws and regulations, and provided the Company
with their training record. The individual training record is summarised
below:

Attending
seminar(s)/

reading relevant
materials

Executive Directors

Liu Jun YES
Zhang Yonghong YES
Liu Xiaodong YES

Non-executive Directors

Guo Fansheng YES
Lin Dewei YES
Xing Jingfeng YES

Independent non-executive Directors

Zhang Ke YES
Zhang Tim Tianwei YES
Qi Yan YES

DIRECTORS’ TERM AND RE-ELECTION

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years (from 12 September 2022, 4
January 2025 and 1 June 2024 for Mr. Liu Jun, Mr. Zhang Yonghong
and Mr. Liu Xiaodong, respectively) which may be terminated by either
party giving three months’ prior written notice or otherwise pursuant to
such service contract.
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Each of the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Director) was appointed for a fixed term of one year, which
term shall be renewed automatically unless terminated by not less
than one month’s written notice or otherwise pursuant to the term of
appointment and/or service contract.

All Directors are subject to retirement, rotation and/or re-election and
removal, as specified by the Listing Rules and the Articles.

There is no service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) in respect of any Director proposed for re-election at the
AGM.

Pursuant to the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after
the appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election. At each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Information about the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM is
included in the circular issued together with this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The main role and functions of the Remuneration Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of all the Directors’ and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy. The Remuneration Committee is
accountable to the Board.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendation to the Board in relation to the remuneration policy,
assessed the performance of executive Directors and, reviewed and
discussed the package of the remunerations of executive Directors and
members of senior management of the Company, reviewed and made
recommendation on the remuneration of the non-executive Directors,
the 2015 share option scheme (including its term, operation and staff
feedback), bonus structure, provident fund and other incentive and
compensation-related issues and structure; and make recommendation
to the Board on remuneration package of new Director. The
Remuneration Committee also reviewed its terms of reference, and
performed such other duties under the Listing Rules and the terms of
reference during the Year.
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The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties such as the access to professional advice if and
when necessary. The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during
the Year, members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and
their attendance record are as follows:

Members Attendance

Liu Jun (ED) iVl
Zhang Ke (INED, Chairman of the committee) 11
Zhang Tim Tianwei (INED) 11
Qi Yan (INED) 171
Xing Jingfeng (NED) N/A
Sun Yang (NED) N/A

Note: Mr. Sun Yang ceased to be a member of the committee upon his
resignation as a Director on 20 March 2024. Mr. Xing Jingfeng was
appointed as a member of the committee on 26 March 2024. Attendance
is stated by reference to the number of meeting(s) held during their tenure.

In line with practices consistent with meetings of the Board and other
committee meetings, the Company keeps meeting minutes of the
Remuneration Committee, and draft and final versions of minutes are
circulated to all members of the Remuneration Committee as soon as
practicable after each meeting.

Remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management

The emoluments of the Directors and the senior management are
determined based on the Company’s remuneration policy, requiring
objective criteria including the operating results of the Company,
and individual roles and responsibilities to be assumed, individual
performance and/or prevailing market conditions and trend be taken
into account. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model
under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of making recommendation to the
Board on remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management. The Company also operates the 2015 Share Option
Scheme as part of its incentive structure. See also the “— Report of the
Directors — Share scheme” for information about such scheme, and “—
Directors’ and senior staff emoluments” for emolument of the Directors
and senior management during the Year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The main role and function of the Nomination Committee is to regularly
review the structure of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed change to the structure of the Board. The
Nomination Committee is accountable to the Board.
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During the Year, the work of the Nomination Committee included,
among others, reviewing the structure, size, diversity and composition
of the Board, assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, making recommendation to the Board on the re-
election of Directors and succession planning for Directors, making
recommendation to the Board on review of key executive position;
reviewing progress and policy on the Board diversity, identifying
measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity Policy,
making recommendation on change of Director and performing such
other duties under the Listing Rules and the terms of reference.

Directors nomination policy

The Company has adopted a Directors nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”), which establishes criteria and procedures to identify and
consider individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and for
the Nomination Committee to make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to
the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection
and appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination
Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to
make sound and well considered decisions.

Nomination process

When receiving the proposal to appoint a new Director, the Nomination
Committee shall (i) assess the candidate with reference to the selection
criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy to determine the eligibility
of the candidate to serve as a Director; (ii) if there are more than
one desirable candidates, rank them in accordance with the needs
of the Company and the merits of each candidate; and (iii) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of a suitable
candidate to serve as a Director (if applicable).

When the Nomination Committee became aware of a proposed change
of Director; it reviewed the Board composition with reference to the
Company’s need and relevant requirements of applicable laws and
regulation (if any). Candidates would be assessed with due consideration
of his individual quality. the nomination policy, the diversity policy, and
the overall balance of the Board. Recommendation was then presented
to the Board for consideration.

When a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for
re-election, the nomination committee shall (i) review the overall
contribution and services of the retiring Director and the performance
and level of participation of the retiring Director; (ii) assess whether the
retiring Director satisfy the selection criteria as set out in the Nomination
Policy; and (iii) if considered appropriate make recommendations to
the Board, which may make a recommendation to the Shareholders to
re-elect the retiring Director at a general meeting.
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Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account the Board Diversity
Policy, a candidate’s: (i) character (in terms of his/her honesty,
integrity, motivation or reputation); (ii) merits (in terms of his/her
qualifications (including professional qualifications)), skills, knowledge,
accomplishment and experience related to the business and strategy
of the Company and the diversity in gender, age, ethnicity, length of
service and skill set of the Board in accordance with Board Diversity
Policy of the Company); (iii) business expertise; (iv) whether sufficient
time can be devoted to properly discharge his/her duties as a member
of the Board and a member of the board committees; and (v) his/
her independence (if an independent non-executive director is being
considered).

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy, and
diversity of the Board from time to time. See also “— Diversity” below
for further information.

The Board with the support and recommendation of the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses the Nomination Policy and its
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources
enabling it to discharge its duties.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the Year. The
members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and their
attendance record are as follows:

Members Attendance

Liu Jun (ED, Chairman of the committee) 2/2
Zhang Ke (INED) 2/2
Zhang Tim Tianwei (/NED) 2/2

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Management of the Company provides all relevant information and
records to the Board, enabling the Board to make assessment and to
prepare the financial statements and other financial disclosures. The
main role and function of the Audit Committee is to be responsible for
the relationship with the Company’s auditors, review of the Company’s
financial information and monitoring of the Company’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures. The Audit Committee
is accountable to the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring
the Company’s financial statements, annual and interim reports, and
the auditor’s report present a true and balanced assessment of the
Company'’s financial position; reviewing the Company’s financial control,
internal control and risk management systems, and internal audit
functions and reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices, and performed such other duties under the Listing Rules
and the terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the
Year. The members of the Audit Committee during the Year and their
attendance record are as follows:

Members Attendance

Zhang Ke (INED, Chairman of the committee)

2/2
Qi Yan (INED) 2/2
Guo Fansheng (INED) 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management of the Company
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the
internal control procedures, the risk management systems and the
financial results of the Group during the Year, met with external
auditors and discussed the financial matters of the Group that arose
during the course of audit during the Year, reviewed and monitored the
external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process, reviewed the terms of reference of the committee
and whistle blowing policy of the Company to consider if any proposed
changes that deemed appropriate or advisable, and reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function. In the opinion of
the Audit Committee, there are no material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cost significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the assessment,
selection, re-appointment or discussion of the external auditors.

In line with practices consistent with meetings of the Board and other
committee meetings, the Company keeps meeting minutes of the Audit
Committee, and draft and final versions of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit Committee as soon
as practicable after each meeting.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
accounts. The Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements and
the responsibilities of the external auditors to the shareholders are set
out on pages 87 to 89 of this annual report.

DIVERSITY

The Board has formulated the Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board reviews
the implementation and effectiveness of such policy. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. All Board appointments will
continue to be based on meritocracy with due regard for to the Board
Diversity Policy and a range of diversity perspectives, including gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will
continue to be primarily responsible for identifying suitable qualified
candidates to become Board members and making recommendation
to the Board, to ensure that the Board has an appropriate balance and
diversity.

The Board comprises both male and female (one out of nine as of 31
December 2024 and the date of this annual report), and the Board
is of the opinion that Board diversity (including gender diversity)
has been achieved with reference to the need of the business of the
Group and the industries it participated. The Directors believe that the
current composition of the Board (with Directors from both genders,
different age group and diversified background; with both executive
and non-executive Directors (including independent Directors))
reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the business development of the Group and
for effective leadership. All the executive Directors possess extensive
experience in the industry, while the non-executive Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors) allow the Board to enjoy the
benefits of opinions from independent and objective perspective, and
controls risks from conflict of interests and ensure that interests of
shareholders as a whole being duly considered in the decision-making
process. The Board will continue to implement its Nomination Policy, the
Board Diversity Policy, and maintain at least one female representation
on the Board to ensure the opinions from different gender are well
represented.
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The Company is committed to gender equality and other diversity
aspects by providing fair recruitment, training and promotion
opportunities for all employees. As of 31 December 2024, approximately
42.9% of the Group’s full-time employees were female, among
which approximately 25% of the Group’s senior management were
female (excluding Directors). The Board considers that the Group’s
senior management and workforce are diverse in terms of gender. At
present, the Company considers that the level of gender diversity at the
Board level and among the Group’s workforce to be appropriate. The
Company is committed to having representations from both genders on
the Board and maintain similar levels of gender ratio in its workforce. It
has not set any additional measurable objectives for the implementation
of diversity policies in relation to the Board members and the workforce
of the Group (including gender diversity). The Company will consider
and review from time to time such diversity policies (including gender
diversity) and the setting of any measurable objectives (if applicable).
It will also continues to make progress in nurturing talented leaders
across all management levels, regardless of gender through training
programme, equitable hiring, recruitment practices and employee
networking. Further details on the gender ratio of the Group and
initiatives taken to promote gender diversity across senior management
and the wider workforce can be found in the ESG Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit function performed
by external auditors, including whether such non-audit functions could
lead to any potential material adverse effect on the Company. The
Group’s external auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers. The remuneration
paid or payable to the external auditor of the Group in relation to the
Year comprised fees for audit services for the Group of approximately
HK$3.68 million (2023: approximately HK$6.0 million) and non-audit
services of approximately HK$0.02 million (2023: approximately HK$2.0
million).

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company
secretarial services and Ms. Kwong Yin Ping Yvonne is appointed as the
Company Secretary. Her primary contact person is Mr. Lu Qingguo, the
Board Secretary and the General Counsel of the Company.

Ms. Kwong has confirmed that she has complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules in relation to the professional training requirements during
the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems, and the review of its effectiveness. The Board is responsible
for determining the risk appetite and maintaining sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems with the assistance of
the Audit Committee and the Group’s internal audit function. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. As its main
feature, the Group’s risk management and internal control system model
is designed to provide an independent oversight of risk management, to
retain only risks that are manageable and at a reasonable level, and to
enable the Group to capture and evaluate significant emerging risks and
risk changes, both quantitatively and qualitatively, and to timely manage
risks by appropriate risk responses and mitigation strategies.

The management of the Group identifies risks that impact the Group’s
achievement of its strategy, objectives and performance. (e.g. key
financial and operational process, regulatory compliance and legal
disputes, anti-corruption, information security) at a strategic level,
and as part of its business planning process. As part of the system,
procedures are also in place to require operational units to identify
and report all material risks that they come across, or circumstances
which may lead to emergence of risks from time to time. Assessment
would be made to evaluate and priorities the risks in perspective such
as the likelihood of occurrence, its impact and vulnerability. Control
and procedures, remedial escalation and contingency may then be
adjusted/implemented to manage risks and mitigate their impact. The
management closely monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control.

The Board, with the support of the Audit Committee (who periodically
considers issues observed by or raised to them and provide
recommendations to the Board) reviews the risk management and
internal control systems at least annually, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls for a period at
least since the last review, and consider various factors, such as changes
since the last review; scope and quality of management’s monitoring
of risks; training programme, the nature and extent of significant risk;
adequacy of resources and background of responsible staff; budget,
financial reporting functions, ESG performance and reporting, incidence
of significant control failings and weaknesses identified (if any, and its
impact); effectiveness relating to financial reporting and compliance
with the Listing Rules and factors under code provision D.2.3 of the CG
Code.

Each year, external auditors will also report on issues in the Group’s

internal control and accounting procedure which have come to their
attention during the course of their audit, if any.
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Having reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the Year, no critical internal control issues have been
identified and that the necessary and adequate mechanisms have been
put in place, and being implemented. The Company considers that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems to be effective
and adequate with reference to the Group’s circumstances.

In line with the commitment to achieve and maintain openness, probity
and accountability, the Company encourages employees of the Group
and those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors
and debtors) to report, in confidence, any suspected impropriety,
misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group. In this regard, the
Company has adopted the Whistle blowing Policy. The Board delegated
the authority to the Audit Committee which is responsible for ensuring
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions
are taken.

The Company has developed its inside information and disclosure policy
which provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries, and to ensure that inside information is disseminated to the
public in fair and timely manner in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. Monitoring and control procedures have been implemented
to ensure that unauthorised access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited. The implementation of the policy, associated risks
(such as late or premature disclosure, leakage) are regularly assessed
and monitored, and are reviewed at least annually. No significant
weaknesses have been identified during the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy in line with code provision F.1.1
to enhance the transparency of dividends distributed by the Company
and to facilitate the Shareholders and potential investors to make
informed investment decisions.

There is no guarantee or assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any given period and the Company does not
have a predetermined dividend payout ratio.

The declaration, payment and form of dividends is at the absolute
discretion of the Board, subject to the Articles, the laws of Cayman
Islands, any other applicable laws and regulations and the provision of
this Dividend Policy. Payment of final dividend shall also be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders.
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The Board in determining the payment and level of dividends take into
account a wide range of factors, including (without limitation):

1. distributable profits;

2. earnings,

3 current financial position;

4.  capital requirements and expense planning;
5. past financial performance;

6.  past and forecasted cash flows;

7. business status and strategies;

8.  future operations and profitability;

9. shareholder interests; and

10. restrictions on dividend payments (including contractual
restrictions, such as restrictions stipulated in any financing
agreements).

Subject to the relevant laws and regulations and the Articles, the
Company may also declare interim dividends, special dividends and/or
any distributions that is considered appropriate by the Board in addition
to the annual distributions.

The Board reviews the dividend policy from time to time.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company places high priority to the communication with
shareholders.

The Company has established a Shareholders’” Communication Policy
with an aim to provide shareholders and the investment community with
timely and appropriate access to material information and development
about the Group through public disclosure such as periodic reports and
announcements and through the Company’s website. The Directors and
management endeavours to attend and interact with shareholders at
general meetings, listening to view of shareholders and stakeholders
and answering queries. The Company also encourages shareholders and
stakeholders to engage actively with the Company and communicate
their views on various matters. The said policy is available on the
Company’s website.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Investor Relations Department of the Company
whose contact details are as follows:

Unit 302, 3rd Floor

Beiyuan, Yuanyang Xingfan Plaza
Building 1, No. 28 Beiyuan Road
Chaoyang District, Beijing 10017
The People’s Republic of China
Email: ir@hcgroup.com

Shareholders’ enquiries and concerns will be forwarded to the Board
and/or relevant Board committees, where appropriate, to answer the
Shareholders’ questions.

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing the Shareholders’
Communication Policy, and its implementation and effectiveness. Having
considered the multiple channels of communication and engagement
in place, and valuable feedbacks from shareholders and investment
community in the recent review in March 2024, the Board is satisfied
with the effectiveness of the policy and its implementation.

No significant changes were made to the Articles during the Year.

Shareholders’ right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and procedures to put forward proposals at
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or add
resolution to the agenda of the meeting so convened specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 88 of the Articles, no person other than a Director
retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors
for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a notice signed by a member (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for
election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at
the registration office provided that the minimum length of the period,
during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and
that the period for lodgement of such notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

For more information, please refer to the text of the Articles and the
procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director (see also the Company’s website at http://www.hcgroup.com).

This annual report contains forward-looking statements that reflect the
Company’s beliefs, plans or expectations. These statements are based
on a number of assumptions, current estimates and projections, and
subject to inherent risks, uncertainties and other factors which may
be beyond the Company’s control. The actual outcomes may differ.
These statements is not, and shall not be, relied upon as assurance,
representation or warranty otherwise. Neither the Company nor
its directors, staff, agents, advisers or representatives assume any
responsibility to update, supplement, correct these statements or adapt
them to future events.

Certain figures set out herein are subject to rounding adjustment.
Certain Chinese names of entities or individuals have been translated
into English and included as unofficial translations for identification
purpose only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall
prevail.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of HC Group Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of HC Group Inc. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 90 to
248, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Impairment assessments of goodwill;

° Impairment assessments of investment in an associate.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

83

FAREETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BRENEE

Impairment assessments of goodwill

B E T

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

FELHE BRI L9 -

As disclosed in note 19, the Group’s goodwill were
allocated to various cash-generating units (“CGUs”). In
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the
Group is required to, at least annually, test goodwill for
impairment.

HMMFEIOMEE ERERECHOEETRREEL
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Management performed the impairment assessments,
and determined the recoverable amount of each CGU by
using value-in-use calculation. Significant management’s
judgements and estimates is required, particularly
regarding key assumptions such as compound annual
revenue growth rates, compound annual cost and expense
growth rate and pre-tax discount rates.

EREBEETRENG TREREBEELFTEEECEME
ReELABENZAREcHE FEERAEREBEZLEAX
HEEGF  BRERKAEGFERE KEARFAXES
FHRELBATTREEZSZHEBR -

As a result of the impairment assessments, management
concluded that no impairment was necessary for goodwill
over "Anti-counterfeiting products and services” CGU and
“Trading services-cotton industry” CGU for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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In the evaluation of management’s impairment assessments
over the goodwill balances, we have performed the
followings:
RABEEBEHRBEGMEZRENGR
TTATF I :

BB #

- Understood and evaluated the key control procedures
over management’s estimation of recoverable amount
of the CGUs containing goodwill and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors;

- TEHRERFAEEERMGIEEREZRSELEMA
WES B EREEGNRERF  YRBEREMGFNEE

MiEEREMEARBRREEKE  FHEERNHERR
oz BB R

- Compared the figures included in prior year forecasts
with current year actual results to consider the
accuracy of historical forecasts and understood
the explanation for deviation of the actual results
compared with prior year forecast to evaluate the
effectiveness of the management’s estimation
process;

- BLEL-FEATHBEESFNERERETLER
NEZEBERBMCEEE T THRERGERRE F—
FHAZENREZEZHE  UFHEREEGRARE
BB A

- Understood and assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by management;

- TERAHEREMAGETEZEEIE:

- Challenged the appropriateness of the key assumptions
applied by management based on the business plan,
past results of the identified CGUs and available
industry research, where applicable; and

- REXEXKE ERNBEELEEULUCBEEER
AEZTERAEWMER) HEEBEMAFERR
ZAEE MR E R

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AMHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

HEETER

FAEETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWEFTNAEEREETEE

We focused on this area because the balances of goodwill
were significant and the estimation of the recoverable
amount involved a high level of management’s judgement.
BMRFIRNGER FAASPMEGEHRER  MMATATK
Le@PRREEREHEH -

- Evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions and assessed the potential impact of
reasonable changes to the significant assumptions.

- HEEREHIERR[Z2BBREIN  LHEEE
EHHEARKZIEERTE -

We found management’s judgements, assumption and
estimates applied on the impairment assessments in respect
of the goodwill were supported by available evidence.
BMRAR BEEXRREMERETHOALE KRR
HEHEEEXE -

Impairment assessments of investment in an
associate

REBEATNRENRET ML

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
BREEHHBEHERXNH22 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held a 22.35% equity
interest in Guangdong Zhongmo Cloud Digital Technology
Co., Limited (“Zhongmo Group”), which was accounted
for as an investment in an associate. The carrying amount
of the investment in Zhongmo Group before impairment
was RMB203,232,000. During the year, Zhongmo Group
experienced significant operational challenges, including:
a substantial increase in the default rate of accounts
receivable and large-scale workforce reductions, which
indicated that an impairment provision might be required.
RZZEZNF+_A=+—H BE£BERERFEEZH
FRIREBRODERQR([PESLEE])FHF22.35%K#E - I
BEERRBEATNREAR RAEEENRE
R B AT A BR E B B A R #203,232,0000T - £ A
REBRKBEERLERSE  2F BRERRKEKXE
FARKBEHRE  EXAUEESEHRERE -

In the evaluation of management’s impairment assessment
over the investment in an associate, we have performed the
followings:
RABEREBHRBEARNKREMEZ BETHE
BMEETUTIE:

- Understood and evaluated the key control procedures
over management’s estimation of recoverable amount
of the investment in an associate and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors;

- TERERFEEEEMFRBELEARNKE ZAKE
SHECERTHER  WBBZERMATIHREILERE
EREMBEARREZKF  FHERFERRLZ
BER:

- Compared the figures included in prior year forecasts
with current year actual results to consider the
accuracy of historical forecasts and understood
the explanation for deviation of the actual results
compared with prior year forecast to evaluate the
effectiveness of the management’s estimation
process;

- BLE-FEATHBBESFHNERERETHLE
NZEBAEANZERE WTHRERSRSE £ —
FHEAZENREZZHE  UFHEREGRTBE
BB R

- Understood and assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by management; with
the assistance of our internal valuation specialist;

- ERNRGEEZEROBHT TEHREFEHEREMA
RERFEzA#EN:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BEESER

85

FAREETEE®

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMNEFNAEERRETEZE

In accordance with HKAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”,
when there is an indication of impairment, the Group
is required to estimate the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset. Management performed impairment
assessment of its investment in Zhongmo Group, with the
assistance of an independent external valuer appointed
by management. The recoverable amount was determined
based on the value in use, derived from a discounted
cash flow forecast. The assessment involved significant
judgements and estimates by management, particularly
regarding key assumptions such as compound annual
revenue growth rates, compound annual cost and expense
growth rate and pre-tax discount rates.
REFZBGHENFCRIEERE EEEEARF
EREPRKEAHBEENTTROSE ERER
EREZENBLINBEEMBHT  HERFESE
ZEREBETRENG ARODEBEDREFERE R
ERAGLHNERBEET HFEHPREEENERX
AE REE HARARRAESFERE  KEAKF
XEEFERERBAMFTREXTETIZMER -

Based on the results of the impairment assessment,
management concluded that the carrying amount
of the investment in Zhongmo Group exceeded its
recoverable amount. Consequently, an impairment loss
of RMB103,728,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2024.
BEBEREFLER EEERARPEEEZRER
EEBLHEAKOSE At REE-T_MNF+=
A=T—-BILHEENEHKRELZERREEFEREARK
103,728,0007T °

We focused on this area because the magnitude of
impairment on Zhongmo Group is material to the
consolidated financial statements, require significant
judgement in determining the appropriate valuation
methodology as well as the selection of assumptions
appropriate to the circumstances.

BEMErRhEE REERTREENRERBEHS
HUBREMEBEBER BAERTEAETNMEETER
EREESBABRR T EMELERHE -

- Challenged the appropriateness of the key assumptions
applied by management based on the business plan,
historical performance and available industry research,
where applicable.

- REBEEBHE BEXRBRAGZOTEFAE(WE
B HEEEMATER[ZAENEREER -

- Evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis on key
assumptions and assessed the potential impact of
reasonable changes to the significant assumptions.

- HEEEREHIERI[IBEREIMN  LFGEEE
BHUEABRIBELE -

We found management’s judgements, assumption and
estimates applied on the impairment assessments in respect
of the investment in Zhongmo Group were supported by
available evidence.

HMRE BEEFRPEEENREMIERMMENGH
HE - BRREFEBEIBEXE -

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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BB AMHRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in HC
Group Inc. 2024 Annual Report (the “annual report”) other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
We have obtained some of the other information including Report of
the Directors, Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date
of this auditor’s report. The remaining other information, including
Corporate Information, Corporate Portfolio, Financial Highlights,
Management'’s Statement, Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management, Corporate Governance Report and the other sections to
be included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee
and take appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Chun Yu.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BftGRElER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 EHZE—Z

ZWEF A=+ -HLEFE

2024
—E_MEF

RMB’000
AR TR

2023
T =F

RMB'000
AR T T

Continuing operations HEREER
Revenue 8 & A 5 10,965,992 18,447,807
Interest income from financing services B ERE TSR E M A 5 — 256
10,965,992 18,448,063
Cost of revenue =l N (10,560,001) (18,050,204)
Selling and marketing expenses HERTMSHEEER (234,210) (267,708)
Administrative expenses TERER (170,340) (227,247)
Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible &2 & % 2 & & B (&
assets [ 19 — (1,019,680)
Net provision for impairment losses on TREEREBEBERE
financial assets F 8(b) (102,428) (19,301)
Other income H A A 18,193 16,999
Other gains, net Hfb W ax F 58 7 15,825 30,770
Operating loss LB R (66,969) (1,088,308)
Finance cost, net B 75 B R % FR 11 (2,391) (1,366)
Impairment losses on the investment in an REE QA2 ERE
associate & 18 22 (103,728) (3,894)
Share of post-tax losses of associates DR E RRIR T E
Eﬁﬁi 22 (65,155) (11,678)
Loss before income tax B BT 1S B4 Al B 48 (238,243) (1,105,246)
Income tax expenses g B 12 (3.871) (10,769)
Loss from continuing operations SEBIKEEBZEBE (242,114) (1,116,015)
Discontinued operations ERIEEEER
Loss from discontinued operations ERIEEEXEB2ER 13 (42,169) (774,490)
Loss for the year KEEEIR (284,283) (1,890,505)
Other comprehensive loss: Hth2HEEE:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss FE#H 7 EE Bz 2
EHH
Currency translation differences BEEENEZR 30 546 8,287
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or #5188 & % 7 48 F 15 25
loss ZIHEH
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair ZAFEsFAEZMEE
value through other comprehensive income, WAz % e Fk Z ’A
net of tax FEW = (EIE
Einl Rl
— Group — AEH 30 964 (78,471)
Currency translation differences for financial & X FEFAEMEE
assets at fair value through other WAZEBREEZ
comprehensive income BEEENEZR 30 326 221
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net "EEZ2EEEHAHE -
of tax HBRBLH (282,447) (1,960,468)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

Loss for the year attributable to:

THALTERIERFE
18

2024
ZE-IF

2023
—E-=F

RMB'000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR TR

Equity holders of the Company PIN/NER > E RSN (289,229) (1,829,540)
Non-controlling interests R ER 4,946 (60,965)
(284,283) (1,890,505)
Loss for the year attributable to the equity RETINEBZ
holders of the Company arises from: ZNY/NCIE -SSR EN
FEAE ANFE BB
Continuing operations SEICEER (265,206) (1,129,319)
Discontinued operations BRI EER (24,023) (700,221)
(289,229) (1,829,540)
Total comprehensive loss for the year THATEIEAREE
attributable to: THBE®RE:
Equity holders of the Company AAREEHFEA (287,393) (1,899,503)
Non-controlling interests R ER 4,946 (60,965)
(282,447) (1,960,468)
Total comprehensive loss for the year RE TN EB 2R F
attributable to the equity holders of the A AEN
Company arises from: AFEEEHEBEBE:
Continuing operations SEIKEEB (263,370) (1,199,282)
Discontinued operations BRI EER (24,023) (700,221)
(287,393) (1,899,503)
Loss per share for loss from continuing RARERFARA
operations attributable to the equity holders & {f 45 & (& & ¥ 75
of the Company (expressed in RMB per EEERER
share) (RNEBRARKESIE)
Basic loss per share BREXRERE 14 (0.2025) (0.8621)
Diluted loss per share gR#EEIS 14 (0.2025) (0.8621)
Loss per share for loss attributable to the ARATERFEA
equity holders of the Company (expressed in  [E1G & 18 2 &M% &5 18
RMB per share) (LEBRARBYME)
Basic loss per share BREKXEIRE 14 (0.2208) (1.3967)
Diluted loss per share Bl #EEE 14 (0.2208) (1.3967)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PR AHEREREREEBENR 2 M &E— 63
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO BRI R

As at 31 December 2024 HRZ-Z_MNF+-A=+—H

2024 2023
ZEZOF —T=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR% T AR T T
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment M BERK 18 19,795 20,045
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16(a) 14,285 4,247
Investment properties wEYE 17 22,523 23,685
Intangible assets mEEE 19 98,129 91,522
Deferred income tax assets BTG EE 33 1,506 3,969
Financial assets at fair value through other RAVFEFAEMER
comprehensive income WAZEREE 25 15,176 21,546
Financial assets at fair value through profitor XA FEEFAEZE 2
loss CREE 25 — 3,426
Long term deposits and prepayments KBRS REMFHIEA 20 10,005 13,225
Investments accounted for using equity KAERZEIEZ
method ®E 22 149,864 262,705
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 331,283 444,370
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 27 115,622 123,919
Trade receivables JE U BR 3R 20 127,510 107,610
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Re BRARER
H th & W 3R 20 793,957 770,198
Contract assets EHEE 1,678 2,687
Loans and interest receivables FEWEREFE 2,194 53,203
Restricted bank deposit Z MR #I R 1T 1F K 28 224,499 234,868
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEED 28 279,037 365,682
1,544,497 1,658,167
Assets classified as held for sale DHEABELEZEE — 974,508
Total current assets REBEERE 1,544,497 2,632,675
Total assets BEE 1,875,780 3,077,045
Equity attributable to equity holders of ERATEBRFEA
the Company iR
Share capital % < 29 120,977 120,977
Other reserves H A 30 3,271,388 3,147,855
Accumulated losses 2B (3,131,944) (2,708,422)
260,421 560,410
Non-controlling interests FEREDS 325,320 624,866
Total equity R 585,741 1,185,276
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BT BRI R

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE_WME+_-_A=+—H

93

2024 2023
—E-NEF ZTEZ=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Liabilities =i
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Lease liabilities HEBR 16(a) 8,737 537
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMEREE 33 1,602 1,253
Other financial liabilities EmEmas 24 92,423 =
Total non-current liabilities FREBEELE 102,762 1,790
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade and bill payables FER RN R EREE 31 276,178 292,924
Accrued expenses and other payables EETBEAR
H & < 5/ 1A 31 120,849 139,198
Contract liabilities SHEE 5(b) 241,416 298,733
Bank borrowings HITEE 32 175,848 150,852
Other borrowings HifgE 32 261,632 255,621
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(a) 6,675 4,075
Income tax payable J& B PR 15 7 18,863 20,400
Other financial liabilities EfhemAaE 24 85,816 165,644
1,187,277 1,327,447
Liabilities directly associated with assets HOBARKELEZ
classified as held for sale EEERAEB - AE — 562,532
Total current liabilities FEBEEAE 1,187,277 1,889,979
Total liabilities wEeE 1,290,039 1,891,769
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 1,875,780 3,077,045

The consolidated financial statements on pages 90 to 248 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2025 and were signed

on its behalf.

LIU Jun
Director
2 F
2

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FIE248E v EHYBREN_ZE_AF =
AZtHEESEe ATHTIEEKRKRE
EEEE -

ZHANG Yonghong
Director
iR K AL
BF

st A BF B 7 IR O 3R R B BE B 2 Y 5 — pF B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EHERSER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZ -+ _A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
KATEREBAEE

Non-
Accumulated controlling
Share capital ~ Other reserves losses Sub-total interests
RA At b 2B R Nt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
\ ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARETR
(Note 30)
(Fitzt29) (it £30)
Balance at 1 January 2023 WZZE-=F-f—H
L 120,977 3,345,393 (857,252) 2,609,118 669,511 3,278,629
Comprehensive loss 2EFE
Loss for the year TEERE — — (1,829,540) (1,829,540) (60,965) (1,890,505)
Other comprehensive loss A2 EER
Fair value loss on financial assets R AFEHFAHM2
at fair value through other HUAZERERE
comprehensive income, net of LATEEE
deferred tax NREEHRE - (78,471) - (78,471) - (78,471)
Currency translation differences EREHZE = 8,508 = 8,508 = 8,508
Total comprehensive loss rAEBRESR = (69,963) (1,829,540) (1,899,503) (60,965) (1,960,468)
Disposal of finanial assets HERATETA
at fair value through other H2EKAZ
comprehensive income CRHEE - 10,836 (21,630) (10,794) = (10,794)
Remeasurement of other financial ~ FFHERER 2
liabilities in respect of non- Eepai
controlling interests B8 - (138,411) - (138,411) - (138,411)
Transactions with owners BERAETZRS
Transactions with non-controlling ~ EE3EERERETZ
interests 2% - — = = 24,345 24,345
Contribution from non-controlling [t B 2 71 3F 42 Ak ik 38
shareholders of subsidiaries LB — — — — 900 900
Disposal of subsidiary LERBAR - - — - (1,329) (1,329)
Dividend paid to non-controlling ~ F—fAHBARZ
interests of a subsidiary FERERRNL
) = = — — (7,596) (7,596)

Total transactions with owners BEEAETLIRS

BE — (127,575) (21,630 (149,205) 16,320 (132,885)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%+-A

=t-Rz&H 120,977 3,147,855 (2,708,422) 560,410 624,866 1,185,276
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company
AARRBREAES
Non-
Accumulated controlling
Share capital Other reserves losses Sub-total interests Total

& At 2HER Nt FERESR b

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTR ARBT R AR®T R ARBT R AR®T R
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(M &E29) (GEE()

Balance at 1 January 2024 RZZ-ME-A-H
& 120,977 3,147,855 (2,708,422) 560,410 624,866 1,185,276

Comprehensive loss 2EFE
Loss for the year AEEER - — (289,229) (289,229) 4,946 (284,283)
Other comprehensive loss Ht2EES
Fair value gain on financial assets R A FEHAEM2

at fair value through other HUAZEREE

comprehensive income, net of ZATFERE

deferred tax NRELHE - 964 - 964 - 964
Currency translation differences ~ EEERZ2 - 872 - 872 - 872
Total comprehensive loss 2EERBRAE — 1,836 (289,229) (287,393) 4,946 (282,447)

Remeasurement of other financial ~ FEEREH 2

liabilities in respect of non Etemat

controlling interests ENE - (12,596) - (12,596) = (12,596)
Transactions with owners BEBAETZRS
Transactions with non-controlling B FFERERETZ

interests 25 - — - - 700 700
Non-controlling interest on disposal £ E M B AR 2 JE 1

of subsidiary bR - 134,293 (134,293) — (305,192) (305,192)

Total transactions with owners HBEAANETZRS
B — 121,697 (134,293) (12,596) (304,492) (317,088)

Balance at 31 December 2024 RZE-MF+=A

=+-Rz&H 120,977 3,271,388 (3,131,944) 260,421 325,320 585,741
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read & it & £ 4 25 % B) 3% FE 82 B8 IF 2 MY 5 — 669
in conjunction with the accompany notes. iE oo
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

BHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HEZT-NF+-A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E- =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
b it AR T AR¥ETF T
Cash flows from operating activities RETH2HERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KB,/ G
2B e 34(a) (49,739) 307,650
Interest received 24 F B 9,383 7,706
Interest paid EATF & (16,214) (45,802)
The People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) income B 1/ #E A R £ 7
tax paid (TPEDMEH (3,163) (19,163)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating &2 58 (FTH), i
activities 2R (59,733) 250,391
Cash flows from investing activities REZTBHZRERE
Cash outflow arising from disposal of HENBRAIEELAZR
subsidiaries, net of cash disposed et - MBRHEHERS (99,697) 5,324
Additions of property, plant and equipment REME BER&HE 18 (1,739) (1,138)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plantand HE®WE B E K&K
equipment P 5 KB 52 1,289
Proceeds from disposal of associates o E B & QAR TS RIR — 14,120
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HERAFEFAER
fair value through profit or loss ZERMEEMGHIEA — 9,500
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at HEZAYE qu)\Eﬂﬂ
fair value through other comprehensive PEHRAZEREE
income Z PrisRIE 8,228 26,864
Dividend received B E 864 771
Loans repayment received from employees EREE ZERER 1,200 200
Loans repayment received from a former B — AR E QT2
associate BERER — 45,729
Advance received from disposal group B EEARNZ
T8 W 5k 78 — 1,000
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing WREEES (A, i
activities ZHEFHA (91,092) 103,659
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EHEESHRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-@WmEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®ET T

Cash flows from financing activities RMETBHZRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEMGFHIA 201,250 675,708
Proceeds from other borrowings HiEEMSHRIE 244,939 165,237
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE (136,942) (689,269)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEEMEE (239,037) (323,259)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEARE (7,274) (11,408)
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERERTE

interests 700 900
Transactions with non-controlling interests BIETERERETZ

5 — 7,300

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of a [ — R M B2 &) 2 JE#

subsidiary REZRIREMNZRE — (7,596)
Change in restricted bank deposit ZRERITERE — (112,208)

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing MEFBRE(FTA)
activities ZHEFH 63,636 (294,595)

Net (decrease)/increase in cashand cash BERRLZEY

equivalents CR &) /R (87,189) 59,455
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of RE#FZH & K
the year ReZEY 365,682 312,023
Exchange differences on cash and cash RekBReEEYZ
equivalents MEHEER 544 169
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale ### & 5 48 A5 {E
HEZEE — (5,965)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of REXRZRHER
the year REEEY 28 279,037 365,682

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in & HE &% SR EEREN 2 M — 0F 5

conjunction with the accompany notes. g °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZEZZ -+ _A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

HC Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered
office is 4th Floor, One Capital Place, P.O. Box 847 George Town,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands. The Company has its
primary listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the following activities in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC") during the year ended 31 December 2024:

° Trading of goods through its B2B trading platforms,
including “www.unioncotton.com” (“Union Cotton");

° Provision of advertising and marketing services through its
website “www.zol.com.cn” (“ZOL");

° Sales and provision of anti-counterfeiting products and
digital identity technology and solution services through
PanPass; and

° Hosting marketing events, exhibitions and seminars.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in

thousands of units of Renminbi (RMB’'000), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.1

Discontinued operation

On 28 November 2023, the Group announced that it
agreed to sell its equity interests in Beijing Huicong Hulian
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (it R Z 12 5 B {z B
filt & BR 2 &) (“Huicong Hulian”), its then 100% owned
subsidiary mainly operated in financial related business
and held the Group’s investment in commercial bank and
financial sector in the Mainland China, to an independent
third party. The transaction was completed on 27 February
2024 ("Completion Date”) and Huicong Hulian ceased to be
a subsidiary of the Group thereafter.

Following the completion of the transaction, the Group's
equity interest in Chongging Digital China Huicong Micro-
credit Co., Ltd. (“Chongging Micro-credit”) decreased
from 70% to 40%, and the Group no longer controlled
Chongging Micro-credit but continued to exercise significant
influence over Chongging Micro-credit. As a result, with
effect from the Completion Date, Chongging Micro-credit
ceased to be a subsidiary and has then been accounted for
as investment in associates in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. For
details, please refer to Note 23.

In accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
(“"HKFRS"”) 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”, the financial results of Huicong
Hulian and the related impairment expenses for the period
ended 27 February 2024 and the year ended 31 December
2023 were classified as discontinued operations in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operations
is set out in Note 13.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

This note provides a list of the accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with HKFRS and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
following:

—  Certain financial assets and financial liabilities,

which are measured at fair value or their present
value of expected redemption amounts, and;

—  Assets held for sale — measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iii) New and amended standards and framework
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following annual
improvements and amendments to HKFRS issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS Lease Liability in a Sale and
16 Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of Financial
5 (Revised) Statements —
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The amended standards listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior period and
are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

EHBEREERE @)

21 WEEEE)

(iv) New and amended standards, interpretation and
accounting guidance issued but not yet effective

Certain new standards and amendments to standards
have been issued but are not yet effective for the year
beginning on 1 January 2024 and have not been early

(iv) B4 % £ 2 HATR
EHTEA  BBRBH
3/
=T AT RAEETRAR
TomE—f—ARBEOT
EEEMELRER AR

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

EBSHEAENRERESTE
WEEREIREETRN)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BABMGRELENEIR RE S
BmEERFETH (BT R)

HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

BBV BWEEAEI9 BEY
B EEAETR - BAMB®

HREANFEOR  BEAMBREL

AIZL105 R BB G ERIETH
HKFRS 18
BB B & EREA L85
HKFRS 19

BEEV R EEAFE195
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

EERBEEST (BT

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BRUBRELBI0RLEE
A ERIZE285% (1B ET )
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RZBR KA
ZEFHBEXN

Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Bz AR —E-_RF—HA—H
Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

EMIANDBERE

1 January 2026
—ZEZRFE—HA—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

EEMBREERSHER ZFERE —
F£11%

1 January 2026

—E-RF—A—H

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

B 7% S % 51 3R A0 BR

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures

FARZHETWB AR E

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

WHEHRERZEY —EBRAHBEERER S+ F—A—H
BEENXZEBHERZYE
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Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
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1 January 2027
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New and amended standards, interpretation and
accounting guidance issued but not yet effective
(Continued)

The Company’s directors have performed an
assessment on these amendments to standards
and have concluded on a preliminary basis that the
adoption of these amendments to standards is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group's
financial performance and position when they become
effective, except for HKFRS 18 which will impact the
presentation of profit and loss. The Group is still in the
process of evaluating the impact of adoption of HKFRS

18.

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(1)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group. Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(1)

(1)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements

In order to comply with the PRC laws and
regulations which prohibit or restrict foreign
control of companies involved in provision of
internet content and other restricted businesses,
the Group operates its business operations
within these areas in the PRC through a series
of contractual arrangements entered into among
the Group’s subsidiaries and certain domestic
entities (“Structured entities”) that legally
owned by certain management members of the
Group (“Registered Shareholders”) authorised
by the Group (collectively, the “Contractual
Arrangements”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(1)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

The Contractual Arrangements include
Technology Service Agreement, Domain Names
and Trademarks Licence Agreement, Online
Information Distribution Agreement, Online
Advertisement Publication Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Exclusive Technical Services
Agreement, Exclusive Licensing Agreement
on Intellectual Property, Exclusive Right to
Share Purchase Agreement, Voting Right Proxy
Agreement, Management and Operation
Agreement, Power of Attorney and Equity Pledge
Agreement, which enable the Group to:

o govern the financial and operating policies
of the Structured entities;

o receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by the
Structured entities in consideration for
the technical support and other services
provided exclusively by the wholly foreign
owned enterprise (“"WFOE"), at the WFOE's
discretion;

o obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to
purchase part or all of the equity interests
in the Structured entities at any time
and from time to time, at the minimum
consideration permitted by the relevant law
in China at the time of transfer;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(1)

(i)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual
Arrangements (Continued)

o obtain a pledge over all of its equity
interests from its respective Registered
Shareholders as collateral for all of the
PRC entities’ payments due to the Group
to secure performance of Structured
entities’ obligation under the Contractual
Arrangements;

o exercise equity holder voting rights of the
Structured entities; and

J exercise effective financial and operational
control over of Structured Entities.

Accordingly, the Group has rights to control
these entities and they are accounted for as
entities controlled by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (iv) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY
INFORMATI

OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ON (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Conti
(iv)

nued)

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of
the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates and joint ventures are recognised
as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its
interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in note
2.2.8.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(v)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. A change in ownership interest results in
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity attributable to
owners of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence,
any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture
or an associate is reduced but joint control
or significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY
INFORMATI

OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ON (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.2 Foreign currency translation

(1)

(1)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial information
of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB").
Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$") is regarded as the
Company’s functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end
exchange rates are generally recognised in profit
or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on a net basis within other (losses)/gains.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as at fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

2

109

SHBEEEHMEW

22 EXASFHEME(E)

2225 B E

(1)

(1)

WEER ZHME

AEEXEERB MG
EEMBREER &
ZERKEMEEE
KEIREZ 2 E®(Y
EEBDFE &0
%%ﬁ%%kﬁ%”k
REDEY - Bx(#
TDHWERERE 2T

Ab»fb% o

L8
HNEZHHERHHE
HzEXRE R G
EB -EARERHE
EREFRAEXRKR
BEUNNEFEZER
EERBEMELZ
EXWmkEBER R
REBEZER - EXHK
s RBERFREE
IR A BHERE %Em
(B1R) KEmA

Mo stERAFE
FEZEBMHER
AFPEEBEEZRZ
ExH:E - ZAFE
SR cEERARBLZ
BLEZBEEZRAMY
AP EREHER-
FEKULEEZRMEEW
moBREAFEE
ARMEERA ZHER)
CHREEZBEAREM
2EKAHER -

EREEBFRDT 20245 3



110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.2 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement
of comprehensive loss are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

(iiiy all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment
in foreign operations are taken to other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part
of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 B BREXREE#EMEwW»
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.3Investment properties 223 REYH

22 EXASFHEME(E)

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group.

It also includes properties that are being constructed
or developed for future use as investment properties.
Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at cost less
depreciation and impairment provision. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives of 30 years.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied
or commences to be further developed for sale, it is
reclassified as property, plant and equipment and land
use right or properties under development, and its fair
value at the date of change in use becomes its cost for
accounting purposes.

2.2.4Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising buildings,
computer and telecommunications equipment, fixtures,
fittings and office equipment, leasehold improvements,
motor vehicles are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)
2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvements

HEMEEE
Buildings
gF

Computer and telecommunications equipment
B R A AR

Fixtures, fittings and office equipment

FE -RERBRAEHRE

Motor vehicles

P

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
consolidated statement of financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (note 2.2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY
INFORMATI

OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ON (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.5 Intangible assets

(1)

(1)

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating
units (“CGUs") for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs
or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purpose.

Customer relationship

Contractual customer in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The contractual customer/distributor
relationship have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

Patent

Separately acquired patents are shown at
historical cost. Patents acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The patents have a finite useful
life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.5 Intangible assets (Continued)
(iv)

Trade and domain name

Trade and domain name acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Trade name and domain name
have a finite useful life and are subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and

impairment losses.

(v)  Platform

Platform acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
The platform has a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

(vi)  Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a
limited useful life using the straight-line method

over the following periods:

Customer relationship
BEPBIR

Patent

=

Trade and domain name
72 5% K 5k A

Platform

Fa
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.6 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for

sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and a sale is considered
highly probable. They are measured at the lower of
their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell,
except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets
arising from employee benefits, financial assets and
investment property that are carried at fair value and
contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are
specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group)
to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for
any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell
of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of
any cumulative impairment loss previously recognised.
A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of
the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is
recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of
a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest
and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to

be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale
are presented separately from the other assets in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale
are presented separately from other liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.6 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for

sale and discontinued operations (Continued)

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for
sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of or abandon
such a line of business or area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of discontinued operations are presented
separately as a single amount in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

2.2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY
INFORMATI

OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
ON (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.8Investments and other financial assets

()

(1)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (OCI) or through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has substantially transferred all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2.8Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other
(losses)/gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as a separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2.8Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iif)  Measurement (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “other (losses)/gains, net”.

Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
“other (losses)/gains, net” and impairment
expenses are presented as a separate line
item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.8Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

(iif)  Measurement (Continued)

(iv)

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other (losses)/gains,
net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and
FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2.8Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Impairment (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see note 20 for
further details.

Note 3.1(b) provides more details of how the
expected credit loss allowance is measured.

2.2.9 Put option arrangements on non-controlling
interest

Put options on non-controlling interest of the Group
are financial instruments granted by the Group which
permit the holders to put back to the Group their
shares in certain non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group for cash or other financial instruments when
certain conditions are met. If the Group does not
have the unconditional right to avoid delivering cash
or other financial instruments under the put option,
a financial liability is initially recognised under “Other
financial liabilities” in the consolidated financial
statements at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows on exercise under the put option.
Subsequently, if the Group revises its estimates of
payments, the Group will adjust the carrying amount
of the financial liability to reflect actual and revised
estimated cash outflows. The Group will recalculate
the carrying amount based on the present value of
revised estimated future cash outflows at the financial
instrument’s original effective interest rate and the
adjustment will be recognised in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. In the event that
the put option expires unexercised, the liability is
derecognised with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

The put option liabilities are current liabilities unless
the put option first becomes exercisable 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EHBEXREEEMEwW
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2.10Inventories 2210 &

22 EXREFHEBME(H)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. The cost of finished goods comprises
merchandises and other direct costs. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less estimated costs necessary to
make the sales.

2.2.11 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business.

They are generally due for settlement within one year
and therefore all classified as current assets. Trade
receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See note 20 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and note 3.1(b) for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term and highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 B BREXREE#EMEwW»
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

22 EXASFHEME(E)

2213 BEREBEEALK

2.2.13 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised profit
or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the drawn down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor
to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity
swap), a gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, which is
measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability and the fair value of
the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EHBEXREEEMEwW
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

22 EXREFHEBME(H)

22B3EEREEM LK (E)

2.2.13 Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

For borrowing costs, general and specific borrowing
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.2.14 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.15Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold or services
performed, stated net of discounts, returns and value-
added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities, as described below.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of goods
or services is transferred to a customer. Depending on
the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods and services may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods and services is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods and services.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EHBEXREEEMEwW
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

22 EXREFHEBME(H)

2215 HE W A EZZ (1)

2.2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

When determining the transaction price to be allocated
to different performance obligations, the Group first
determines the service fees that the Group entitles
in the contract period and adjusts the transaction
price for variable considerations and significant
financing component, if any. The Group includes in
the transaction price some or all of an amount of
variable considerations only to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal in amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

When either party to a contract has performed, the
Group presents the contract in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a contract asset
or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A contract asset is the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods and services that the Group
has transferred to a customer or cost to obtain a
contract. A receivable is recorded when the Group has
an unconditional right to a consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. Contract assets related to cost to obtain the
contracts are recognised over the life of the contracts
to which they related.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the Group presents the
contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract
liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting policy
for the principal revenue streams of the Group.

(1)

Revenue from B2B trading platforms

Revenue from B2B trading business primarily
comprised revenue from merchandise sales.
Revenue from merchandise sales and related
costs is recognised on a gross basis when the
Group acts as a principal, and recognised on
a net basis when the Group acts as an agent.
The determination of the Group’s role as a
principal or agent is based on indicators such as
control, risks, rewards, and pricing discretion.
Revenue from merchandise sales are recognised
at the point in time when the control of the
merchandise has been transferred, being when
the goods are delivered.

Revenue from B2B trading business service is
recognised in the accounting period in which
the services are rendered, by reference to
stage of completion of the specific transaction
and assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service to
be provided. Customers are invoiced upon the
completion of services or on a regular basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.15Revenue recognition (Continued)

(1)

Revenue from advertising and marketing services

Advertising income from internet portals and
mobile devices is recognised rateably over the
contracted period in which the advertisements
are displayed.

Subscription fee income from online services is
recognised over the period of contracts entered
with the customers. The unrecognised portions
of contract sum are recognised as contract
liabilities.

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised
in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income over the cumulative payments made by
customers is recognised as trade receivables
and contract assets. The contract assets are
recognised as a receivable when the Group’s
right to consideration is unconditional.

Some contracts include multiple performance
obligations and do not include any integration
services. They are therefore accounted for as
separate performance obligations. Revenue
from each of the performance obligations is
recognised by allocating the transaction price
based on the stand-alone service price. Under
HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”, the rebate to customers is a variable
consideration and to be net off against the
transaction price.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Revenue from anti-counterfeiting business

Anti-counterfeiting business comprises revenue
from providing anti-counterfeiting products
and services. Revenue from selling of anti-
counterfeiting products and services are
recognised at the point in time when the
control of the products has been transferred,
being when the goods are delivered and when
the services are completed and accepted by
customers. Customers are invoiced upon the
completion of services or on a regular basis.

Revenue from marketing events, exhibition,
seminars and other services

Revenue from the hosting of marketing events,
trade exhibitions and business seminars is
recognised in the accounting period in which
the services are rendered, by reference to
stage of completion of the specific transaction
and assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service to
be provided. Customers are invoiced upon the
completion of services or on a regular basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies

2.3.1 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries and associate are accounted
for at cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
and associate is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.3.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker.

The executive directors of the Group are regarded as
the chief operating decision maker who will review the
operating results of the Group on a consolidated basis,
and make strategic decisions.

2.3.3 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2

EHBEREERE @)

23 HMEFdBHEME
231 EBHBHFE

REBARRBE R 2K
BEBRAMBRET K - K
ANBHEEREZEKEMBK
Ko MBAREEBARA
mEel kEREE ZEEA

BE o

RRBZEREZREE
filf B B BB KB AR EE K
REHRzZ2EEALRE
REEBUBEHRRZRER
HEBBRENEEFER
ERB)EAMHUBRERLZ
E RN
RA LB ERR 2R EETT

FREER - BIMA

BRI -

2.3.258HE

rEDMBzHmETT A IAR M
TEIELERREZARBH
FEBZAANETESE °

AEBHPTEETEHRA/TR
RERRE BEHAKHE
RAMERERBE IKERSE

A 1F 5 B MR TE o

233 EL@MT A

EEAERTBITEMNAE
HERALRE BEERSF
BEEIRKZREE NG
FRERK FHcHEENR
BEFAEMREN XEA G
MBRRRBERLFE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
2.3.4 Contract costs

Costs to fulfill a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services
in the future; and are expected to be recovered.
Costs that relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may
include direct labor, direct materials, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract.

The asset recognised from capitalising the costs to
obtain or fulfill a contract is amortised on a systematic
basis consistent with the pattern of the transfer of
the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Capitalised costs might relate to an entire contract, or
could relate only to specific performance obligations
within a contract. Impairment loss are recognised
to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds the remaining amount of consideration that
the entity expects to receive, less the costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have
not been recognised as expenses.

2.3.5 Share capital and shares held for employee share
scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (note 29).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company
as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EHBEXREEEMEwW
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

23 HMEHdHEMEH)

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the
market under the employee share scheme, the total
consideration of shares acquired from the market
(including any directly attributable incremental costs)
is presented as shares held for employee share scheme
and deducted from total equity. Upon vesting, the
related costs of the vested shares for employee share
scheme purchased from the market are credited
to shares held for share reward scheme, with a
corresponding decrease in share-based compensation
reserve for employee share scheme.

2.3.6 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid. These amounts are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
2.3.7 Leases

As a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to
10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at the commencement date,

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees,

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.7 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in
a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

. any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.
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SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
2.3.7 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less.

As a lessor

The Group classifies all leases as operating leases as
the Group will not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. Rental income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor, including investment properties,
is recognised within “Revenue” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Lease income from operating
leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The lease term is 5 years. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on their nature.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.8 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

()

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.8 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i1)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax liabilities in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is
determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amount will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.8 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred tax balances related to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

2.3.9 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income(FVOCI).Dividends are recognised as
other income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when the right to receive
payment is established. This applies even if they are
paid out of pre-acquisition profits, unless the dividend
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of an
investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in
OClI if it relates to an investment measured at FVOCI.
However, the investment may need to be tested for
impairment as a consequence.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.10 Employee benefits

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i)

(1)

Retirement benefit costs

The full-time employees of the Group are covered
by various government-sponsored pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a
monthly pension based on certain formulas.

The relevant government agencies are
responsible for the pension liabilities to these
retired employees. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these pension plans. Under
these plans, the Group has no further payment
obligations for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made.

Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation for payment of bonus as
a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are
settled.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.10 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)~ Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services
up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities
are presented as accrued expenses and other
payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

2.3.11 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of share-based payment
schemes (in the form of share awards and share
options) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Under such
schemes, employees (including directors) of the Group
may receive equity instruments as remuneration for
their services rendered (“equity-settled transactions”).
The fair value of the employee services and other
qualifying participants’ services received in exchange
for the grant of equity instruments of the Group is
recognised as an expense over the vesting period,
i.e. the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied and credited to equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)
2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
2.3.11 Share-based payments (Continued)
Share options

The fair value of options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

— including any market performance conditions
(e.g. the entity’s share price);

—  excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (e.g.
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a specified time
period); and

— including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g. the requirement for employees to
save or hold shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

2.3.11 Share-based payments (Continued)

Share awards

Under the Share Award Scheme, the directors and
certain employees of the Group are entitled to receive
shares in the Company. The shares held under trust
by a financial institution (“Trustee”) for the benefit
of the directors and employees, would be paid and
the paid up consideration would be capitalised in the
Company’s reserves. The Trustee has been instructed
to buy shares from the market using the funds held
by the Trustee to grant shares to the director and
employees. The Group has also granted shares of it
subsidiaries to certain employee (including directors) at
the subsidiaries level.

The total expense to be recognised over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the share options and shares granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of shares or share options that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period over which all
of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At each date of consolidated statement of financial
position date, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of shares or share options that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

2.3.12 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair values when there is a reasonable assurance that
the grants will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (continued)

2.3 Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
2.3.13 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

J the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares;

o by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.

(i) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

o the after income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

o the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.3.14 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.

2
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the Chief
Financial Officer of the Group. The Finance Department
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation
with the Group’s operating units to cope with overall risk
management as well as specific areas such as market risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
and majority of its transactions are denominated
in the functional currencies of the respective
entities. The Group has no material foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities and
does not have material exposure on foreign
exchange risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk mainly arising from cash and cash
equivalents and borrowings bearing interest at
floating rates, and exposed to fair value interest
risk arising from other financial assets and
liabilities which are either non-interest-bearing or
bear fixed interest rates.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rate on cash
and cash equivalents and borrowings at variable
rates had been increased/decreased by 50 basis-
points (2023: same) with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss after tax and
total comprehensive loss would have been
approximately RMB2,186,240 lower/higher (2023:
loss after tax and total comprehensive loss would
have been approximately RMB1,733,000 lower/
higher).

As at 31 December 2024, the fair value interest
rate risk is insignificant to the Group (2023:
same).

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate
risk to ensure there are no undue exposures to
significant interest rate movements and regular
reporting is provided to the management for the
Group’s debt and interest rates exposure.

(1)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(iif)

Price risk

The Group's exposure to equity securities price
risk arises from investments held by the Group
and they are classified in the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial assets
at fair value either through profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, the Group reviews the
share price of investments on a regular basis.

Other reserve for the year would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB1,518,000 (2023:
RMB2,155,000) as a result of 10% gains/losses
on equity securities classified as at fair value
through other comprehensive income.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit
risk mainly arises from a customer’s inability or
unwillingness to meet its financial obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group has following types of financial assets
and contract that are subject to HKFRS 9's “Financial
Instruments” expected credit loss (“ECL") model:

o Trade receivables

° Contract assets

° Deposits and other receivables
° Restricted bank deposit

° Cash and cash equivalents

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets

The trade receivables and contract assets mainly
arise from the business of B2B trading, the online
services and advertisement, anti-counterfeiting
products and services, and market event services.
The Group generally grants a credit period
ranging from 90 days to 180 days to customers
depending on business segment. The Group
applies the HKFRS 9 “Financial Instrument”
simplified approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and contract
assets.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

There was no significant credit risk for the
B2B trading business as the Group generally
required customers to prepay for the goods
before delivery. For B2B trading business, the
Group only granted credit period for certain
customers that are considered creditworthy.
The Group has put in place policies to ensure
that provision of services is made to customers
with an appropriate credit history and the
Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its
customers. The Group assesses the credit risk on
a collective basis. Trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of
receivables fall within the recorded allowances.

As management consider the contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables and
contract assets are a reasonable approximation
of the loss rates for the contract assets.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BBEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MBEBEZE®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) EEmEE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) & EE(E)
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) EREREEHEE
(&)

More than More than More than More than
Current- 90 days 180 days 270 days 365 days

31 December 2024 90 days past due past due pastdue  past due

BAIZ HAH90X @AH180X ®‘EH270X HH365K
“E-ME+=A=+-H 90X BE Bk Bk BE
Trade receivables, gross JE W AR TR AR 112,814 10,941 6,123 2,494 11,962 144,334
Loss allowance for trade receivables  JEUR BR ZU 5 B % & (4,139) (789) (1,306) (629) (9,961) (16,824)
Contract assets, gross ENEELA 1,751 — — — — 1,751
Loss allowance for contract assets BNEEBERRE (73) - - - - (73)
Expected loss rate BHERE 3.7% 7.2% 21.3% 25.2% 83.3% 11.7%

More than ~ More than ~ More than ~ More than

Current- 90 days 180 days 270 days 365 days

31 December 2023 90 days past due past due past due past due

BRIZE #H90K #|EIBOKX #@E20K BH365K

“EZ=f+-A=+—A 90K A £ Ak Ak Ak
Trade receivables, gross BT EE 98,489 8,487 2,396 1,852 12,168 123,392
Loss allowance for trade receivables &4 BR 3k /&5 1B 2 1 (3,005) (846) (528) (458) (10,945) (15,782)
Contract assets, gross ANEERA 2,783 — — — — 2,783
Loss allowance for contract assets ANEEEERE (96) — — — — (96)
Expected loss rate BHEEBRE 3.1% 10.0% 22.0% 24.7% 89.9% 12.6%

EREEBFRDT 20245 3



150

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BMKEREE®
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MRREBEZE®)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)) =EEE(E)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) = & E A ()
(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) REBREZFLEHEE
(#)
The reconciliation of closing loss allowances for RZEZMERZZE
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 —=Z=F+= H Sop—
December 2024 and 2023 to the opening loss H BRERREH
allowances are summarised as follows: BEZCFREBBEER
Eﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁé%Zﬁ
BRBEaian T -

Contract
receivables assets

FE Uy B 7% BHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTT ARBT

Loss allowance at 1 January 2023 RZZ=Z=F—HF—H

Z BB 37,187 158
Decrease in loss allowance FRARBERERZ
recognised in profit or loss EREEERL
during the year
— from continuing operations — BEREER (4,524) (62)
Receivables written off during the ¢WW§¢!%TTH§ZI§|
year as uncollectible 2 FE W FRIR (1,206) —
Disposal of subsidiary HENE R A (15,675) S
Loss allowance at 31 December R=—ZZT ==
2023 and 1 January 2024 +=-—A=+—-HK
—E-_NE-F—H
ZEBEE 15,782 96
Increase in loss allowance FRARERER
recognised in profit or loss B9 18 ¢ s 1 N

during the year

— from continuing operations — BELEER 4,256 (23)
Receivables written off during the 4E A #f % /& A~ AT Uk [@]
year as uncollectible 2 W R IE (3.114) =
Disposal of subsidiary HEN B R A (100) —
Loss allowance at 31 December R=ZZT - &
2024 +ZHA=+-—
BRERE 16,824 73
Trade receivables and contract assets are written ErMFEAKBE A
off when there is no reasonable expectation of EHEHK XEEE
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable WEEKERRE RN
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, BE - NEFEEATKE
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment ZEBBEHZERERE
plan with the Group. (BB EBAE
S HL N R @ AR E R
FTEl -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

0)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables and
contract assets are presented as “net provision
for impairment losses on financial assets” within
operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the
same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposit, as well
as credit exposures to other receivables and
deposit. The carrying amount of each class of
these financial assets represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
the corresponding class of financial assets.

To manage credit risk, cash and cash equivalents
and bank deposits are mainly placed with
state-owned financial institutions or reputable
financial institutions in the PRC and reputable
international financial institutions outside of
the PRC. There has been no recent history of
default in relation to these financial institutions.
The finance department has policies in place to
monitor the exposures to these credit risks on an
on-going basis. The balances as of 31 December
2024 are considered to be low credit risk.

)

(if)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(if)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

For balance with related companies, other
receivables due from third parties and deposits,
it is measured as either 12-month expected credit
losses or lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on whether there has been significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. Other
financial assets that are not credit-impaired
on initial recognition are classified in ‘stage 1’
and the expected credit losses are measured as
12-month expected credit losses. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other financial asset has
occurred since initial recognition, the financial
asset is moved to ‘stage 2’ but is not yet deemed
to be credit-impaired. The expected credit losses
are measured as lifetime expected credit loss. If
any financial asset is credit-impaired, it is then
moved to ‘stage 3’ and the expected credit loss
is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
certain suppliers of the Group failed to
deliver the merchandise as stipulated in the
agreements. The Group initiated negotiations
with the suppliers and agreed on settlement
plans, following which these prepayments
were reclassified as other receivables. Despite
these efforts, the suppliers failed to honor the
agreed settlements, even after the Group’s
active follow-up for repayment. Consequently,
management has initiated legal action to
recover the outstanding amount. Management
performed an assessment of the recoverability
of these balances and concluded that there
was no reasonable expectation of recovery
for certain amounts. As a result, a provision
of RMB92,003,000 was recognised as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB1,571,000). Please
refer to note 8(b) for details.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

Excepted for the receivable from suppliers
mentioned above, management makes periodic
assessments on other financial assets based
on historical settlement records and past
experience. The loss allowance of approximately
RMB7,125,000 was recognised for other financial
assets at amortised cost as at 31 December 2024
(2023: the balance of RMB20,000,000 was fully
recognised).

Except for the amount mentioned above, the
management believe that there is no material
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding
balances of other receivables and deposits and
the expected credit loss is close to zero.

Liquidity risk

With prudent liquidity risk management, the Group
is confident to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and ensure the adequacy and flexibility
of working capital through internal generated cash,
managing the turnover days of and the level of
working capital used in prepayment for procuring
inventories and renewal and availability of bank
borrowings. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group's finance department
maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate
amount of cash and cash equivalents and flexibility in
funding through having available sources of financing.

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group approximated
RMB279,037,000 (2023: RMB365,682,000) and
net debt of RMB112,419,000 (2023: Net cash of
RMB48,793,000) (note 34(b)).

3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis
shows the undiscounted cash outflow based on the
earliest date in which the Group can be required
to pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate
effect. The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates.

3

R REEREe
31 BIXEBREERE®)

(c)

mBELEE(E)
TRBAB AN - RO
BIRBEASEEHAXNZ &
FEHEMMERAESE
A6 {1 2 M) DA BB Wy 121 R
BHZAFTHRBASRL - &
ELHERRANVNXAE
ZRBIETR °

Less than Between 1 Between2 Over
1year and2years and 5 years 5 years Total
15/ 1225 285% SENE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETn AE®Tn AR%Tn AR%TR AR¥TR
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_m%E
T-AZ+-8
Trade and bill payables ERERRENER 276,178 = = = 276,178
Accrued expenses and other payables EERREMEMNTE 64,233 - - - 64,233
Borrowings BE 443,439 - - - 443,439
Other financial liabilities EemaRs 85,816 107,100 - - 192,916
Lease liabilities HERE 7,586 5,837 3,300 - 16,723
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=%
tZA=t-A
Trade and bill payables ENERRENZE 292,924 - - - 292,924
Accrued expenses and other payables B EBREMEMNTE 74,592 = = = 74,592
Borrowings BE 413,143 = = = 413,143
Other financial liabilities EheRak 175,873 - - - 175,873
Lease liabilities BERRE 4,108 586 - - 4,694

Management monitors the Group’s liquidity through
cash flow projections covering a period of twelve
months on a rolling basis. Based on the cash flow
projection, taking into account the reasonably
possible changes in the operation working capital,
the continuous availability of banking and the
other facilities, negotiation the repayment date of
other borrowing with the lender, counterparties,
management considers that there will be sufficient
financial resources in the coming twelve months to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BBKERERBRERE®g

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EXEBERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt/net asset divided
by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings,
lease liabilities and other financial liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents (including restricted bank deposits). Total
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position plus net debt. Accordingly,
the gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

AEBERESZENARER
SERBELEZEN RRR®T
KEH - REREMENDEHE
et WRFREEREB AR
(=N DN

RERBIABRELNER T&HE
AREEeRBRNTRRZEES
HOMBRRREEARN BITHR
MRHEBEEAREES -

RAEEREEABBLXRERE
Ko B ERIZFER FEER
NBERGTE - FEBZFAER
FhEGRIEE HEaERHEM
cHEERBESRESESED (R
FEZBRHBITFR) - BERZE
BHEABESIREHGB
RRERFR)IMFER - Bt - »
—TE-_MER-ZTE-=F+=A
=T —BZERBELERNT:

2024 2023
—E-@WEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETTT

Bank borrowings (note 32) R A7 EE (M 5E32) 175,848 150,852
Other borrowings (note 32) HaEE (M 5E32) 261,632 255,621
Lease liabilities (note 16(a)) HE &R MWE16@) 15,412 4,612
Other financial liabilities HEthaemaE 178,239 165,644

Less: cash and cash equivalent (including /B : R & MRS EEY
restricted bank deposits) (note 28) (BEXRHRITFR)

(Mt 5%28) (503,536) (600,550)

Net debt/(net asset) FERECFEE) 127,595 (23,821)
Total equity B 585,741 1,185,276
Total capital BER 713,336 1,161,455
Gearing ratio EARBELX N/A
18% i
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BBEERRBEREw®G
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AEEME

TREZEARAEAFEZHEERS
EHRABMASEBZESR 2R
—TE-NMFERE-_=F+=A
=t HASEEERAFEEIEZ
THMIE - BEGASREBEYIER
ATFEEBAZTI=ER:

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by
level of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

HREEXABELERTS
ZHmE(REHBENFE M) »

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for o
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

BESRETATEZBIN
B HR) Sk % (Bl B (E 45 5
MBRERZBAHE T8
BE-—BAZREFE=R) -

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level o
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on e EBEERABEPVWIFKEAER
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) RS B 28 A B (A
(level 3). TR B R AHSEBE)(FE=

&) e
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-% ] E=R @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TnT AR¥Tn AR®Tx
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MmE
—B=t+-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAELZE
other comprehensive income WAZEREE 15,176 — — 15,176
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f
+=ZA=t-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZEREE 21,546 — — 21,546
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRRZ
profit or loss SREE — — 3,426 3,426
21,546 - 3,426 24,972

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurement during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, price services or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

(i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques are used to value
financial instruments include the use of quoted
market prices and adjusted price-to-book ratios
similar instruments.

The Group’s finance department includes a
team that performs the valuation of financial
asset required for financial reporting purposes,
including level 3 fair values with assistance
of external valuers. This team reports directly
to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the
Audit Committee (AC). Discussion of valuation
processes and results are held between the CFO,
AC and the valuation team at least once before
the reporting date of every half year, in line with
the Group’s reporting dates.

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHEREE®
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREMFE)
(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (b)) E=Hz2@ITAE)
The following table represents the changes in level 3 TREINBZ-_Z_MNEF
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2024. +ZA=+—HLEFEE=

MIAZEE -

Financial assets

at fair value

through profit

or loss

BATLEFA

BREZERmEE

RMB’000

ARETR

As at 1 January 2024 RZZE-mE—-A—H 3,426
Fair value changes charged to the REHGENERNBZATEEZD

consolidated statement of comprehensive
income (3,426)
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZNE+ZA=+—H —
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 UHEREE®
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREMFE)
(b) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (b)) F=RKz2@MTAH(E)
The following table represents the changes in level 3 TRENBHE-_ZT_Z=F
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2023. +ZA=+—HLEFEE=

RIEZRD -

Financial assets at
Financial assets at  fair value through
fair value through other comprehensive

profit or loss income
BATETA N
1
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETTT
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-=F—-F—H 11,283 357,326
Disposal & (9,500) (16,793)

Fair value changes credited/(charged) to the RA B HEAWMBERFA/GIK) 2
consolidated statement of comprehensive A F{H & &)

income 1,643 (68,760)
Transfer to assets classified as held forsale BEEZE= DB AFIERE 2
(note 13) &= (M ExE13) = (271,773)
As at 31 December 2023 RZBE_=Z#+-A=+—-H 3,426 -
The Group's finance department includes a team that REEMBEBHIE —EEX
performs the valuation of financial asset required BEENEHEM BT
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 MU BRMEBNETARZ
fair values with assistance of external valuers. This PHEEBEEE=ZH 2R
team reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer THE)HE - ZEBEKEER
(CFO) and the Audit Committee (AC). Discussion of EEVBEEENBE)R
valuation processes and results are held between the ERZER(EREZEER)E
CFO, AC and the valuation team at least once before WoRFEAEE ZHRER
the reporting date of every half year, in line with the H - BRMEE FRZEE
Group'’s reporting dates. eHREEERELBEER

BERHAREERF RE
RAET—IRE® o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EEGFETRHE

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible
assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill have
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 2.2.7. For intangible
assets with finite useful life, the Group reviews internal
and external sources information to identify indications
of impairment. In determining where goodwill and
intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of cash-generating units
to which goodwill and intangible assets have been
allocated. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been determined based on the higher
of value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs
of disposal. These calculations require the use of
judgements and estimates. Management judgement
is required in the area of asset impairment particularly
in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values may not
be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and net present value of future cash flows expected
to be derived from an asset or cash-generating unit
and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test and as a
result affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(b)

Impairment of other non-financial assets (other
than goodwill and intangible assets)

At each date of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group reviews internal and external
sources of information to identify indications that
other non-financial assets (other than goodwill and
intangible assets) which are significant to the Group
may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income whenever the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.

The sources utilised to identify indications of
impairment are often subjective in nature and the
Group is required to use judgement in applying such
information to its business. The Group's interpretation
of this information has a direct impact on whether
an impairment assessment is performed as at any
given reporting date. If an indication of impairment
is identified, such information is further subject to
an exercise that requires the Group to estimate the
recoverable amount, representing the greater of
the asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value in
use. Depending on the Group’s assessment of the
significance of the asset under review and complexity
of deriving reasonable estimates of the recoverable
amount, the Group may perform such assessment
utilising internal resources or engage external advisors
to counsel the Group in making this assessment.
Regardless of the resources utilised, the Group is
required to make many assumptions to make this
assessment, including the utilisation of such asset,
the cash flow to be generated, appropriate market
discount rates and the projected market and regulatory
conditions. Changes in any of these assumptions could
result in a material change to future estimates of the
recoverable amount of any asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4.2 Critical judgement in applying the Group's
accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Revenue from merchandise sale through its B2B
trading Platforms

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal
or as an agent in the sales of goods on the Group's
platform requires judgement and consideration of all
relevant facts and circumstances. In evaluation of the
Group acting as a principal or an agent, the Group
considers, individually or in combination whether
the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilment the
contract, is subject to the inventory risk, and has
discretion to establish prices. Having considered
the relevant facts and circumstances, management
considers revenue is recognised on a gross basis
when the Group is acting as a principal for the
direct sales, and on a net basis when the Group is
acting as an agent. Regarding to the cotton trading
business, having considered the relevant facts and
circumstances, management considers that the Group
obtains control of those goods sold through Union
Cotton before goods are transferred to the customers.
Accordingly, the Group is acting as a principal and the
related revenue is presented on a gross basis.

Contractual arrangements

As disclosed in Note 2.2.1, the Group exercises
control over certain Structured entities and has the
right to recognise and receive substantially all the
economic benefits from them through the Contractual
Arrangements. The Directors consider that the Group
controls these Structured entities notwithstanding that
it does not have direct or indirect legal ownership in
equity of these entities as the Group has power over
the financial and operating policies of these entities
and receives substantially all the economic interest
returns generated from the business activities of these
entities through these Contractual Arrangements.
Accordingly, all these Structured entities are accounted
for as controlled structured entities and their financial
statements have also been consolidated by the
Company throughout the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

4 EEREMHEERAE

163

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2 Critical judgement in applying the Group's
accounting policies (Continued)
(b) Contractual arrangements (Continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may
not be as effective as direct legal ownership in
providing the Group with direct control over the
Structured entities. Uncertainties presented by
the PRC legal system could impede the Group’'s
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the Structured entities. Significant judgement is
involved in determining whether the Group is able
to control these entities through these Contractual
Arrangements. The Directors of the Company, consider
that the Contractual Arrangements entered into by the
Group are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations and are therefore legally binding and
enforceable.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company (“the Executive
Directors”). The Executive Directors review the Group’s internal
report in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments based on
these reports.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segments (including the discontinued operations) based on a
measure of loss before income tax. This measurement basis
excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from operating
segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Historically, the Group presented the financial results of its
e-business platform, hc360.com, and its financial services
business, including finance lease services, as “Platform and
corporate services segment”.

In 2022, the Group decided to suspend the operation of hc360.
com and gradually close down its entity.

On 28 November 2023, the Group announced that it has agreed
to sell its equity interests in Huicong Hulian and its subsidiaries
("Huicong Hulian Group”) to an independent third party. Huicong
Hulian Group which is principally engaged in financial related
business and holds the Group’s investment in commercial bank
and financial sector in the Chinese Mainland. The above disposals
of business has been completed on 27 February 2024.

The finance lease business under “Platform and corporate services
segment” was gradually close down in 2024 after the Group
collected remaining balance of loans to customers of financing
business, which does not represent a major line of business.

In accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations”, the financial results of hc360.
com for the year ended 31 December 2023 and financial result
of Huicong Hulian and the relevant impairment expenses for the
period ended 27 February 2024 and year ended 31 December
2023 were classified as discontinued operations in the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operations is set
out in Note 13.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group is organised into the
following business segments:

(i)  Technology-driven new retail segment, which primarily
includes provision of online advertising services through ZOL
as well as trading business of electronics products through
its platform.

(i) Smart industries segment, which mainly includes B2B
trading through Union Cotton, sale and provision of anti-
counterfeiting products and digital identity technology
and solution services under PanPass and other marketing
services.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 SEER@E
The table below shows the segment information for the year TREIEE-_ZT-_MFE+-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2024. AEFERNDIER -

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-B-NE+-A=+-BLEE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
FEREXEY BRLEEEY
Technology- Platform and
driven new Smart corporate

retail industries services
segment segment Subtotal segment Total

MERHEE BEREX FPRELE
3 33 BER Nt BRBEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE AR¥Tn AR®TR AR¥TR AR®T:R

Revenue HEWRA 243,459 10,722,533 10,965,992 — 10,965,992
Interest income from financing services BERBABHNSBA — — — 11,740 11,740
Total revenue and income BHEBRARBA 243,459 10,722,533 10,965,992 11,740 10,977,732
Cost of revenue HERA (41)  (10,559,960) (10,560,001) —  (10,560,001)
Segment results NEER (24,673) (76,314) (100,987) (14,888) (115,875)
Other income - ON 18,193 — 18,193
Other gains, net H’rMﬁZ 5 F R 15,825 (22,310) (6,485)
Impairment losses on the investment REERRZREREEE

in an associate (103,728) — (103,728)
Share of post-tax losses of associates SEBERIBREAER (65,155) — (65,155)
Finance income BB A 9,516 — 9,516
Finance cost B 7% Bk AR (11,907) (4,971) (16,878)
Loss before income tax BRETEHAIE R (238,243) (42,169) (280,412)
Other information: Hihg#:
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 3,941 14,911 18,852 82 18,934
Provision for impairment on SREERERE

financial assets 1,129 101,299 102,428 32,512 134,940
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 oHMER@®
The table below shows the segment information for the year TREINEE-_ET-_=ZF+-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2023. AEFERNDIER -

Year ended 31 December 2023
HE “F+Z A=+ -BIESFE

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

v

Platform and

BRI

Technology- Platform and
driven new Smart corporate corporate
retail industries services services
segment segment Subtotal segment
ES 3i3 Nat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRH ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Revenue HEKA 1,209,833 17,225,282 12,692 18,447,807 — 18,447,807
Interest income from financing BMERBAETEWA
services — — 256 256 87,374 87,630
Total revenue and income BERERARKA 1,209,833 17,225,282 12,948 18,448,063 87,374 18,535,437
Cost of revenue HEKA (970,314)  (17,076,075) (3,815)  (18,050,204) (64)  (18,050,268)
Impairment losses on goodwilland ~ HEREFEEREESE
intangible assets (1,019,680) — — (1,019,680) — (1,019,680)
Segment results DHEE (1,087,800) (5,821) (42,456)  (1,136,077) (335,635 (1,471,712)
Remeasurement losses on ERIEEEEB BN ERR
discontinued operations — (586,302) (586,302)
Other income Hib A 16,999 407 17,406
Other gains, net Hith a5 % 8 26,876 180,746 207,622
Share of post-tax losses of associates 715 & A Al Br B 4 &5 18 (11,678) — (11,678)
Finance income B A 7,651 245 7,896
Finance cost B 75 P A (9,017) (33,905) (42,922)
Loss before income tax BREEHRAER (1,105,246) (774,444) (1,879,690
Other information: Hu B R :
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 41,995 9,270 4,067 55,332 532 55,864
Share based compensation expense M I3 2 # BB 17,045 = = 17,045 = 17,045
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment & B4 & E & (B E) /& &
on financial assets (480) 17,946 1,835 19,301 401,064 420,365
Note: B &
As at 31 December 2024, the total non-financial non-current assets R-E-_WE+-_A=+—8" kLB *ER

PEEBRRBURFEZEREEE - £E
ME - ME BEEAIEBEUREFREE) R
B4 B AR154,732,000L (- =4 -/\
R #139,499,0007T) °

including right-of-use assets, investment properties, property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets located in the PRC are approximately
RMB154,732,000 (2023: RMB139,499,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 ZEER@®
During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the revenue is BHE_Z-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
derived from the operation in the PRC from external customers, MR EI37FII R 2B R 55N FT B
except for the related party transactions disclosed in Note 37 HEWAARERRHEE ZIBES (=
(2023: Same). To=F R -
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) PHFHFEEWA

2024 2023
—TE_NF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T

Timing of revenue recognition R EWARME
- At a point in time -RERE 10,787,905 18,229,892
— Over time — BE RS 178,087 217,915

10,965,992 18,447,807

2024 2023
—E-_NEF —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT

Continued operations: FELEE
Revenue from contract with customers: EE A LW A :
Sales of goods through B2B trading #EBBBRH T AHEEE M
platforms 10,600,134 18,078,701
Advertising and marketing services & & & i AR 15 125,527 121,516
Digital identity technology and solution — #{F & {» £ 1if # & ik 5 &
services PR 75 107,669 89,883
Sales of anti-counterfeiting products HEAE® 70,671 76,045
Marketing events, exhibition, seminars 5% - B E - e 59,312 78,121
Others HAh 2,679 3,541
10,965,992 18,447,807
Income from other sources: H A A KR -
Interest income from financing services @& iR % B 15 F 8 48 A — 256
Total revenue and income 4 E WA RIEA 10,965,992 18,448,063
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 HFER =@
(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) EEFAHNEBZEE
The Group has recognised the following liabilities relating to FAEEEBABTIEETPEHNEF

contracts with customers:

MzBafE:

2024 2023
—E_-_MEF =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities related to sales of
goods through B2B trading platforms
Contract liabilities related to other

AR T AR T

B EBBRBFAHEER
E@cEHAaGE 208,500 270,283
HEMPEEVMABBZEH

revenue BE 32,916 28,450
Contract liabilities aHAE 241,416 298,733
(i)  Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) BENEEBEZHEEKA
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue TR AR ARFE E B HE
recognised in the year related to carried forward BERATHLECHNEES

contract liabilities.

TR -

2024 2023
—E-_MF —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARKETT

Revenue recognised that was included FTASEHWAHNBEEH 2

in the contract liabilities balance at

the beginning of the year

— Sales of goods on B2B trading
platform

— Other revenue

BEREREERA
— MB2BRZFEHE

E & 270,283 1,592,150
— Hi sk A 28,450 36,970

298,733 1,629,120
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii)

Unsatisfied performance obligation

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount
of the transaction price allocated to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)
was RMB257,273,000 (2023: RMB302,490,000).
Management expects that the transaction price
allocated to the majority of unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised as revenue when
the related services, mainly related to provision of
advertising services and provision of B2B e-commerce
services for spot cotton trading, are provided in the
coming year (2023: same) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Group has elected the practical expedient not
to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) for revenue
contracts which have an original expected duration of
one year or less.

5

169

7 EBE B =)
(b) BREFENEBZERE®

(i) XEFTZEXNER

RZEZWNEF+ZA=+—
B BEREBTEEHD
AXEBTEHNEETZXRSE
145 A AR 1257,273,000
T(ZTE_=ZF: ARK
302,490,0007T) - B 1 [E &
H-MEEREERB LM
REBERSRE st%?ﬁ
REHEEOREREZZ
ZHFEF+Z A=+ — E|J£¢
F}Ki(fyf_i R
Rt PEERIHRETT
E%@EEZ&%E%HM&%
BEERA -

AEECDERBEREE A
ot ¥ 26 T8 B HA IR — F 3 A
WEHEWAEHNEED R
ERBT(EBORETE
MBEEZXHEREAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HilA
2024 2023
—E-_NEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR T T
Government grants (Note) T 78 B (B %) 17,329 16,228
Dividend income i% B A 864 771
18,193 16,999

Note:

Various government grants have been received from the local government
authority for promoting electronic trading platform in the PRC. The
Group recognised these government grants as other income when all the
conditions specified in the government grants were satisfied.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the government grants amounted
to approximately RMB9,041,000 (2023: RMB9,603,000) was received from
the Huizhou Daya Bay Economic and Technological Development Zone. All
conditions for these grants were met and the amount were received in full.

OTHER GAINS, NET

Other gains, net, mainly consist of the following:

B &

AEEERRPRETEFRSFRERE
WRFHEZZHEBGHEY - REERKF
M2 2B EGRMEENRRRBZEBT
mYREMBEA -

BHE-_Z-_MNE+-_A=+—HALEE K
T % B 49 A R 89,041,000 (=T = =4
A R #9,603,0007T) KR B BN K T8 & B B
MrER - - MR EKEEER " B IlRR
ZEEMB o

H ftb I 25 75 80

Hi WS FREBBEUTRE:

2024 2023
— ks —E_=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFR  ARETT

Change in fair value on financial assets at fair ZAFEFABREZE/E

value through profit or loss EZAFEED (3,426) 1,643
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note) HEMB AR 2= F 8

(Bt &) 19,228 24,874

Net gain on disposal of associates PEBE QR 2K F5E — 3,939

Others Hh 23 314

15,825 30,770
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

OTHER GAlNS, NET (Continued)

Note:

The amount mainly represents gain on disposal of a subsidiary, Guangzhou
Huizheng Zhi Lian Technology Co., Ltd* (B M E2 EE B R B E R
A 7] ) ("Guangzhou Huizheng”), which engaged in chemical trading
platform business, “ibuychem.com”. On 26 December 2024, the Group
disposed 22.8% of its equity interest in Guangzhou Huizheng for a cash
consideration of RMB100. Upon completion of the disposal, the Group's
remaining equity interest in Guangzhou Huizheng was 20%, the Group
no longer holds any board seats and has no significant influence over
Guangzhou Huizheng. The remaining investment will be accounted for
as a financial asset measured in fair value through profit or loss. Net
liabilities of Guangzhou Huizheng as at the disposal date amounted to
approximately RMB19,122,000. This resulted in a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary amounting to approximately RMB19,122,000.

* Name of the subsidiary represent management’s translation of the
Chinese names of the subsidiaries as no English names have been
registered.

L fth Uy &5 T BB (40)

B2

\

=

ZEeHEITEHELE—RHWNBRAREMNEBES
BMREBERARTEMELE] #E/11TE
SFEEBIBELBDZEREZ -R=ZFT=X
E+-_A-+ B - AEBHEEREMNE
F22.8% 2 BHeREAAREKI00T »
PETKE AEEREMNEBEZRIAKRE
B20%  AEBETBEATMNESFEMN - B
EMNEBERTBABEATEEN - FAHK
BBARIBEATEFABEZEMEE
BENEERHERPraBFEONAARE
19,122,000 - WRELE L E—HWEB AR
2 W 49 A R #19,122,0007T

* AREEEMEXEE WELRS
BAEREHMEBAARXEBOE
&
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

8(a) LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX FROM 8a) REFEREEB2RIE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BAakEiEa

2024 2023
—E_F —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT

The loss before income tax from continuing RERBEBEREEBZBRE
operations is arrived at after charging/ AT ET 1B & 0BR (FTA) A
(crediting): THIBEES:

Cost of goods sold of B2B trading platforms  B2BRX ZFAZEEE MM A

(including (reversal)/write down of (BREFEEE),#R A

inventories of RMB300,000) (2023: R #¥300,000t (===

RMB1,385,000) F: AR #1,385,0007T)) 10,474,181 17,969,417
Cost of goods sold for anti-counterfeiting ARERZEESEM®MKAR

products 36,718 39,476
Cost of revenue for digital identify technology £ & & 1 £ fif 1R 3k 5 &

and solution services BR 75 2 88 & A A 47,533 35,403
Cost for marketing events, exhibition, seminars 2 58 - B & -

and other services g & B A AR 5 2 B AR 1,569 5,908
Auditor’s remuneration 2

— Audit services - Z B R 3,358 5,401

— Non-audit services - R 18 1,800
Amortisation of investment properties WEMEEHE(ME17)

(Note 17) 1,162 1,162
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) M E B (M EE19) 8,531 41,407
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BEL R EITE

(Note 18) (P 7£18) 1,566 2,299
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)  { F3 # & & I & (M 3£ 16) 7,593 10,464
Employee benefits expenses (Note 9) 1B 88 M (M 5E9) 171,115 224,823
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LHEME BEREHZ

equipment & 18 286 6,056
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible HEREVAEAEREEBRE

assets (Note 19) (Bt 3E19) — 1,019,680
Legal and professional fees (excluding auditor's A2 M E ¥ & B (T 82 HE&

remuneration) Bib % B 5,543 6,499
Marketing and consultancy expenses EHMFBHRER 118,555 81,017
Net provision for impairment losses on TREERBEEBEREH

financial assets (Note 8(b)) 5 78 (P 5E8(b)) 102,428 19,301
Short term leases expenses HPHEEEA 2,301 1,696
Transportation expenses RiBE 6,843 6,878
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

8(b) NET PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

8b) EMEEREBEREF

ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

#

2024 2023
—E_MF —E =4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR% T ARBT T
Provision for impairment of other receivables X fth i Ui 3K 18 J5 {8 B 5
(Note) (B 71) 99,128 2,808
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of trade & W BR B & B 5 (B A1)
receivables (Note 20) (Fff #£20) 4,256 (4,524)
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of other E {th & 3t & & Uk F B 5 (&
loans and interest receivables (BED),#BE (13) 20,031
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of other HE & @& ERME (L),
financial assets B (943) 986
Net provision for impairment losses on TREERBEBERE
financial assets F R 102,428 19,301

Note:

As part of the ordinary course of its B2B trading platform operations, the
Group routinely prepays independent upstream suppliers for goods and
products to secure pricing and ensure the availability of items needed to
fulfill orders from the Group’s downstream customers. These prepayments
are typically utilized within one to two months upon delivery of goods by
the suppliers. However, some suppliers failed to deliver the merchandise
as stipulated in the agreements. The Group initiated negotiations with
the suppliers and agreed on settlement plans. Despite these efforts, the
suppliers failed to honor the agreed settlements, even after the Group's
active follow-up for repayment. Consequently, management has initiated
legal action to recover the outstanding amount. Following a thorough
assessment, management has concluded that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the outstanding amount. As a result, a provision
of RMB92,003,000 has been recognised in the financial statements (2023:
RMB1,571,000).

Bt

ERBBR S FAHELEEMN—BD A&
EREeEMRkERRABY LFHEER
BARE UAERETERBRAFTEENHMH
B EMEBETAEE THEFPNEIE - Eit
ERRIBEBEEEH ﬁﬁxﬁf%é—iu
BARGER - Am - BHOHEEERER D H
BREXNER ° $%lﬁ LA ERAER
Iﬁ%xﬁﬂLﬁﬁé BEWM - BMER
EERBRGREZRENR HEFDKRERET
MENLEE - At EEEBORIARTH
BRRR - L2HEMGER  EEERARLE
EEBABHEBIRK . AL UHERREER
B AR%92,003,000c(ZE-=F: AR
#1,571,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 9 EERA

2024 2023
—EB-MF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T AR T T
Wages and salaries TEERY® 142,659 173,972
Retirement benefits costs (Note (a)) RRAE A A A (T 7% ) 28,456 33,806

Share based compensation IR z#E
— Other employee compensation (Note (b)) - H bz 8 F B (B 5 (b)) — 17,045
171,115 224,823

Employee benefits expenses of RMB81,411,000 (2023:
RMB101,106,000) are recognised in selling and marketing
expenses; RMB89,704,000 (2023: RMB123,717,000) in
administrative expenses.

Note:

(a) In accordance with the PRC regulations, the Group is required to
make annual contributions to the state retirement plans calculated
at 16% (2023: same) of the basic salaries of the employees, and
employees are required to contribute 8% (2023: same) of their
basic salaries to the plan. The Group has no obligations for further
pension payments or any post-retirement benefits beyond these
annual contributions. The retirement benefits are paid directly
from the plan assets to the retired employees and are calculated by
reference to their monthly basic salaries at the date of retirement
and periods of service rendered.

As at 31 December 2024, there were no forfeited contributions
available to offset future retirement benefit obligations of the Group
(2023: Nil).

(b) Other employee compensation refers to the expense arising from
share-based awards granted by a subsidiary under “Technology-
driven Segment Stock Incentive Plan”, in which those selected
employee would be granted with certain shares of ownership from
corresponding subsidiaries’ group.
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ARM81,411,000(ZE = =F: AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued) 9
(a) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year include two (2023: same) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in
note 10. The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining
three (2023: same) individuals during the year are as follows:

EX#He  FERR

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other

175

EBERA &)

(a)

TfUBREHFAL

FRN - AEFRAUESHFEA LS
HEME(ZCE-=F:HREE -
EM e R 1025 2 54
PR RERENMENST &
T=&(ZE-_=F :HRH)ALZ
BT :

2024
—E-MIF

2023
—E-=F

RMB’000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR®B TR

allowances and benefits in kind Hin 2 REMH = 2,877 1,996
Retirement plan contributions RIKET B3 330 276
3,207 2,272

The emoluments for these three individuals (2023: same) fell
within the following bands:

Z=R(ZEZ=ZF:-HEEALZ
Mo ELWT

2024

—E2-F

HKD500,001 to HKD1,000,000
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
BT

500,001/ 7T 1,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T 1,500,000

(b) During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals
mentioned above as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

(b)

FAR -AEEYEAEFEH L
IuGREHFALINEMMNE

ERMALRINAKR KB EZH
M BEBBE(CE_=F 8)-
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EEZTEFRES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EERFETHAEZHS
The remunerations of each director and chief executive for HE_Z-_WNFR-_TE-_=ZF+=
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out A=+—BLFE EFEFk*x
below: ZETBRABZHMETI AT :

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s
services as a director, whether of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking
REAZAAAENBARNESZALEARENZHE
Employer’s
contribution
Estimated toa
money value  retirement
of other benefit
Salary benefit scheme
Hit @A RKER
e e MTENE FHHMR 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®Tn AR%®Trn AR%Tx

2024 g o1

Executive directors: UTES:

Mr. Liu Jun AERE — 1,204 131 — 1,335
Mr. Zhang Yonghong RKAL — 1,321 160 — 1,481
Mr. Liu Xiaodong HUNEAS — 600 107 — 707
Non-executive directors: FETES:

Mr. Guo Fangsheng BIRERE — — = = =
Mr. Lin Dewei MEREE — - - - -
Mr. Sun Yang (Note i) B (3D — = = = —
Mr. Xing Jingfeng (Note i) T & 5 4 (W 3xii) = = = - -
Mr. Zhang Ke RRAE 250 — — — 250
Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei RRELE 220 - — — 220
Ms. Qi Yan BELL 220 — - - 220
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EEZTEFREZRE @
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EERFETHAEZHMS
(Continued) (&)

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as
a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REEARANEMBRAAEEZALENIERZHE

Employer’s

contribution

Estimated toa
money value retirement

of other benefit

Salary benefit scheme

ExY

H fth 72 7 RN AE A

ik e MAEWKE AEANER
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTRT ARKTT AREKETRT ARET:

2023 —E-=F
Executive directors: BiTES:
Mr. Liu Jun AERAE = 904 124 = 1,028
Mr. Zhang Yonghong R EAE = 746 150 = 896
Mr. Liu Xiaodong NS — 612 107 = 719

Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Mr. Guo Fangsheng BEXE — — — — —
Mr. Lin Dewei WEExE — = = = =
Mr. Sun Yang (Note i) B (W FED) = = = = =
Mr. Zhang Ke RREE 250 — — — 250
Mr. Zhang Tim Tianwei RRERAE 220 — — — 220
Ms. Qi Yan BErLL 220 — — = 220

() Resigned as director since March 2024. i) R-FB_NF=-AREEZF-

(i) Appointed as director since March 2024. (i) RZTE-_NE=AEZERE

FEg
(b) Directors’ termination benefits (b) ESHBEF

None of the directors received or will receive any termination HEZZT-_MmF+=-A=+—HL

benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: FE - BEEFD WK KR

Nil). EREBREN(CE_=F &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_Z_MF+_A=+—HIFE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there is no loans,
quasi loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of
the directors, or controlled body corporates and connected
entities of such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 37, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiary was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the years or at any time during the years.

No director received any housing allowance; emolument
from the Group as an inducement to join or leave the
Group or compensation for loss of office; emoluments
paid or receivable in respect of director's other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

11 FINANCE COST, NET 11 BHEREFE

2024 2023
—E-@lmEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AR T

Interest expense: MEFRE:
— Bank borrowings - RITEE (6,064) (5,105)
— Other borrowings - HtEE (3,292) (1,834)
— Lease liabilities (Note 16) -HEaE T (466) (450)
- Others - HAb (2,085) (1,628)
Finance cost B %5 K 7R (11,907) (9,017)
Finance income B U A 9,516 7,651
Finance cost, net BTG A AN F 58 (2,391) (1,366)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12 FTE8HHAX

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T

Current income tax expenses EHERHAX
— The PRC corporate income tax -HEEMEH
("CIT") (T Z2FERD
— Current year - RFE 1,626 1,037
Deferred income tax expenses BELEFSHAX
— The PRC corporate income tax -HPEPEMEH 2,245 9,778
3,871 10,815
Income tax expenses is attributable to: FrieBiRBEEY
— Loss from continuing operations -FEKEEBIER 3,871 10,769
— Loss from discontinued operations -ERIEEEEB 2 EIE — 46
3,871 10,815

Note: M 5E

(@ No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there is no (@ BHREEZZZ-_ONF+ZA=+—H
assessable profit arising in Hong Kong for the year ended 31 HTFETERBEBREERRT &N -
December 2024 (2023: nil). BMUARREBENESRELBEBECE

T=FE)

(b)  The PRC corporate income tax represents taxation charged on by HEGLEMEGHENFAREIEER

assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in FEREKAESERMRITHREHRE
the cities in the PRC in which the Group operates. MR 2 BIE -
The tax rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%, PEREBARZEAMREB25% @
except for certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC which were AEBETFTHEMNBARERER B
approved as High and New Technology Enterprise and were subject BABRMAERIN TR=ZFHHE=E
to a reduced preferential CIT rate of 15% for a 3-year period. ERABEECLEMSHEIS% - K
Certain subsidiaries of the Group were also subject to a reduced SEETHBARTZEA/DEBH R
preferential CIT rate ranging from 5% to 10% for Small Low-profit ¥MEZANKARKERCEMRGHRE -
Enterprises. N F5%ZE10% °©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

12

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

12

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the

location of the Group companies as follows:

Loss from continuing operations before

181

FrE®HEE e

A 5 R B AT B 1B 2 B IE E
AEBMARFERE Y HESEFER
BEEERMT

2024
—E-MOF

2023
—TE-=F
RMB’000
AR T T

RMB’000
AR T

SEREXBRAEHA

income tax & 18 (238,243) (1,105,246)
Loss from discontinued operations before BRI EEBRAEHA
income tax & 18 (42,169) (774,444)
Loss before income tax B AT 1S B AT B 1B (280,412) (1,879,690)
Tax calculated at 25% (2023: 25%) B25% M KT H 2 1A
(ZE - =% :25%) (70,103) (469,923)
Effect of different tax rates in other cities/ Hi W mmRMmrRHEE
under preferential tax treatment B EEFET
TRAMEZZE (6,736) (5,450)
Income not taxable BARTIA (13,064) (62,602)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AAIMBZER 79,352 501,214
Tax loss not recognised RERPIEE B 14,422 47,576
Income tax expenses FriEBiB X 3,871 10,815
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13

ERLEEEXBZER

2024 2023
—E-_MF —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T

Huicong Hulian Disposal Group (Note) EmoBEEE®E (KT (42,169) (955,236)
Tianjin Guokai Group RKEBFREE — 180,746
(42,169) (774,490)

Note: B &

On 28 November 2023, the Group entered into the conditional disposal
agreement (the “Agreement”) to dispose 100% equity interest in Huicong
Hulian for a cash consideration of RMB5,000,000. Huicong Hulian, its
subsidiaries, associate and directly owned investment (together, the
“Huicong Hulian Disposal Group”) was included in the platform and
corporate services segment, mainly operates financial related businesses
and holds the Group’s investment in commercial bank and financial sector.

The financial results and related gain/loss on disposal of Huicong Hulian
Group are reported as a discontinued operation in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Please refer to note 23 for details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

13 LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(i)

B o

Financial performance and cash flow information (i)
The financial performance and cash flow information of Huicong
Hulian Disposal Group for the period from 1 January 2024 and
ended 27 February 2024 and year ended 31 December 2023 are

follows:

(&)

183

13 BRIEREEK 2E B @)

HOBEXERBEEREEHN

—TENE-A—HREZ-ZZTZ-/N
FZ_AZt+tBLHBRBEEZZT
Z=F+ZA=+—HLEFE BHE
EREESECMBRERBRERE

BRI :

Period ended
27 February
2024
BE-ZE-_MF

—A=++H
A
RMB’000
AR®T R

Year ended
31 December

RMB'000
ARETT

Interest income from financing services BB RSETEF B WA 11,740 87,374
Income/(expenses) WA/ () 913 (55,198)
Net provision for impairment losses on CRHEERBEEBEBEBTE

financial assets (32,512) (401,064)
Loss before income tax Bk T 1S B A &S 18 (19,859) (368,888)
Income tax expense FrieBimx — (46)
Loss after income tax from discontinued ERIEEEEBZBRABTE

operations & 18 (19,859) (368,934)
Loss recognised on the remeasurement to fair ZE 15t 2 A A F{E R 8 S K A

value less costs to sell R EIE — (586,302)
Loss on disposal of Huicong Hulian Group LEESROBMEE BB (22,310) =
Loss from discontinued operations BRIEEEXEBZEER (42,169) (955,236)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEH (A Bz

operating activities B e F5 (3,457) 21,987
Net cash used in financing activities MEFHACRE S FHE (4,969) (18,000)
Total net cash (outflow)/inflow WEFEORE),RA

HE (8,426) 3,987
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

14 LOSS PER SHARE 14 BRER
(a) Basic (a) EX
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss ERERAEBERARAERFSE
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the ABEEERAFEFAEBITER
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during [1& a0 4 15 Bt & (Kt 7529) ©

the year (Note 29).

2024
—E_-_MEF =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T

Loss attributable to owners of the Company A~ & # A A JE 1 &5 18

— from continuing operations - REBBEREER (265,206) (1,129,319)
— from discontinued operations - REBERIEEER (24,023) (700,221)
(289,229) (1,829,540)

2024

—EB-OF

Weighted average number of shares in B 1T 7 2 M1 # F 5 &

issue (thousands) (F R 1,309,931 1,309,931
Basic loss per share BRELER
From continuing operations (in RMB) REBEREER
(AR¥®TT) (0.2025) (0.8621)
From discontinued operations (in RMB) KB D& I && %
(AR¥TT) (0.0183) (0.5346)

Total basic loss per share attributable to AR AEZIFHE A

the equity holders of the Company EEERERNEEERE
(in RMB) (AR¥T) (0.2208) (1.3967)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

14 LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The
Company has one category of potential dilutive ordinary
shares that is share option.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all of these share
options had no dilutive effect to the Company and therefore,
diluted loss per share for continuing and discontinued
operations equaled basic loss per share (2023: same).

15 DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or declared by the Company during and for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

16 LEASES 16 HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REBHERRERERZZSE
statement of financial position £
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the EMMBRARINTUATEEE
following amounts relating to leases: fHlz&%:

2024 2023
—E_-_MNEF —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARKETT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
At 1 January ®n—H—8 4,247 16,923
Additions NE 17,959 1,432
Lease modification (note i) & & o (FtEED (328) (1,256)
Transfer to assets classified as held for BB ESEABIELEZ

sale BE — (145)
Depreciation meE

— from continuing operations -REFELEER (7,593) (10,464)

— from discontinued operations -REERILEEEED — (134)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QA — (2,109)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8”H 14,285 4,247
Lease liabilities HEEE
At 1 January ®n—H—H 4,612 17,913
Additions NE 17,959 1,433
Lease modification (note i) A& & M (B 3D (351) (1,307)
Transfer to assets classified as held for EEEZESEABIELEZ

sale BE = (154)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB QA — (2,325)
Payments ES (7.274) (11,408)
Interest expenses A B R X

— from continuing operations -RERBELCEEY 466 450

— from discontinued operations -REERIEEEED = 10
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 15,412 4,612
Current me 6,675 4,075
Non-current I B 8,737 537

15,412 4,612
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

16 LEASES (continued) 16 HE )
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REBHBERRERBERZZS
statement of financial position (Continued) ] (E)
Note: B 3
(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had (i) REBEE-_ZT_WNF+_A=+—
agreed with the landlords to extend the terms of several HEFE AEBEEHEXR
rental contracts. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities had BELERZEHESGHZHR -
been adjusted due to the lease modifications amounting HEBISERAEEERES
to RMB328,000 and RMB351,000 respectively (2023: BfED R FEERARK328000
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities had been adjusted due TR AR¥351,0000(ZFE ==
to the lease modifications amounting to RMB1,256,000 and F - HEBISHERABEEER
RMB1,307,000 respectively). HEBEBEIABER/RARE
1,256,000t & A K #1,307,000
JT) e
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REBGRERBERERZE
statement of comprehensive income -]
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows EHEARERIITIUTEAE
the following amounts relating to leases: flze%:

2024 2023
—EZMmF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBFT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets F A EEZINEE M

Properties ) %
— from continuing operations - REFELEED (7,593) (10,464)
— from discontinued operations -REERIEEEER — (134)
(7,593) (10,598)
Interest expense on lease liabilities FHE&EFEMX
— from continuing operations -REFBEEEEB (466) (450)
— from discontinued operations -REERIEEEET — (10)
(466) (460)
Expenses relating to short-term leases EEEHIHEHBA 2 X
— from continuing operations -RERFBELCEEB (2,163) (1,696)
— from discontinued operations - REERIEEEER (28) (144)
(2,191) (1,840)
Gain on lease modification HEBITZWE
— from continuing operations -REBFECEER 23 51
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

16 LEASES (Continued) 16 HE®)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) REBGRERBERERZE
statement of comprehensive income (Continued) ](E)
Depreciation of approximately RMB7,593,000(2023: o E N AR 7593000 (=&
RMB10,598,000) is included in administrative expenses. The — =% : A R %10,598,0007T) &f
total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was RMB7,274,000 ATHERA RZ-_ZT-_MWM4F -
(2023: RMB11,408,000). HEZHERHBERARE

7274000t (ZCZE - =F AR
11,408,0007T) °

17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 17 REYX

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT

At 1 January wn—A—8 23,685 24,847
Amortisation B
— from continuing operations -RERBEREED (1,162) (1,162)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 22,523 23,685
As at 31 December 2024, the Group held one property (2023: RZEZMOF+ZA=+—HB Xx5&E
one) as investment property which was measured under the cost BE—EBHWECE_=F:  —EWHE)
model. EREEME  WIRKAERGE -
The fair value of the investment properties held by the Group was AEBEMBREMEZATFTERE L
RMB26,513,000 (2023: RMB31,563,000) which is valued by an HEMEAMSLERE(ZTEZ=F:
independent valuer using the market comparison approach (2023: R ETE A ARK26,513,000(=F
same). Z=F: AR%31,563,0007T) °
The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating HEAMERBKEHELHETHEP -
leases with rentals payable monthly. There are no other variable HeRAXN - BEEMBARYE
lease payments that depend on an index or rate. BESIMSHENZHHENK -
For minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment BRALHEKREME Z REREBRENK
properties, refer to note 35. BLMMEE3S -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the investment BE_ZT_MF+_A=+—HIFE"
property has generated the rental income of RMB862,000 (2023: HEYEDEE ARKS62,000T(=F
RMB1,668,000). Z=%: AR¥1,668,0007T) FHE WA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18 W% -HEKRRKRHE

Computer Fixtures,
and telecom- fittings and
munications office Leasehold Motor
Buildings equipment equipment  improvements vehicles Total
ElR RE RBR HENE
BF i £ "E @5t
RMB'000 RM RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2023 R=Z2-=%-5-A
Cost KA 33,344 23,964 1,634 6,625 13,265 78,832
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (8,938) (20,427) (1123) (6,297) (11,280) (48,065)
Net book amount EEFE 24,406 3,537 511 328 1,985 30,767
Year ended 31 December 2023 ~ EZ-B=-z=%
TZAZT-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNERFE 24,406 3,537 511 328 1,985 30,767
Additions ~E = 558 - 205 375 1,138
Disposals hE (6,377) (1,245) (284) - (694) (8,600)
Depreciation (Note) wE(fitsr)
— from continuing operations -RERELREN (604) (946) (104) (349) (296) (2,299)
— from discontinued operations -RECRILEEER (75) (12) ) (23) (184) (298)
Transfer to assets classified as held ~ EEZEHEAF(EHE
for sales ZEE = (15) = = (648) (663)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 17,350 1877 119 161 538 20,045
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF
t-A=t-A
Cost RA 24,981 16,349 519 994 2,229 45,072
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (7,631) (14,472) (400) (833) (1,691) (25,027)
Net book amount RETE 17,350 1,877 119 161 538 20,045
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

18 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18 V¥  BMERKE®

(Continued)

Computer
and Fixtures,
telecom- fittings
munications  and office Leasehold Motor

Buildings  equipment  equipment improvements vehicles Total
EER KB #HR HENE

i B2 ERRE BRRE %% RE ast

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRT AR%TT ARETx ARBTRT AR%TRE ARET:x

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZ=-FB-N%

TZRZT-BLfE
Opening net book amount FNEREE 17,350 1,871 119 161 538 20,045
Additions NE = 322 114 112 591 1,739
Disposals HE - (302) (4) = (32) (338)
Disposal of subsidiary HERBAR — (1) - - (84) (85)
Depreciation (Note) HE M)

— from continuing operations -RERBEEER (580) (512) (48) (260) (166) (1,566)
Closing net book amount FREETE 16,770 1,384 181 613 847 19,795
At 31 December 2024 R=2-ME

+=A=+-H

Cost KA 24,981 7,029 545 916 1,535 35,006

Accumulated depreciation ZHME (8.211) (5,645) (364) (303) (688) (15,211)

Net book amount REFE 16,770 1,384 181 613 847 19,795
Note: B &
From continuing operations, depreciation of RMB88,000 (2023: KRERBRBERKESEKHNITE AR KSS000
RMB41,000) is included in selling and marketing expenses; and T(ZZEZ=F: ARBM,0000) R AR
RMB1,478,000 (2023: RMB2,258,000) is included in administrative 1,478,000t (ZE = =% : A R#2,258,000
expenses. AR AEERTHHEESE B RITE

BAA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19 BREEE

Trade name
Customer and domain
Goodwill  relationship name License Platform Patent Others
BE % ik ¥ g 2t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB' 000
ARETT ARETT ARETR L

At 1 January 2023 RZB-Z5-A-H
Cost A 1,526,451 346,900 91,899 540,000 124,636 11,100 46,183 2,701,169
Accumulated amortisation and ZHBERAG

impairment (474,346) (306,464) (46,227) (540,000) (117,308) (11,100) (38,298)  (1,547,743)
Net book value FRFE 1,052,105 40,436 45,672 - 7328 — 7,885 1,153,426
Year ended 31 December 2023 HEogo=fE

t-RA=T-ALEE

Opening net book amount ENEERE 1,052,105 40,436 45672 = 7328 = 7885 1,153,426
Transfer to assets classified as held for EEESBAR{EHEL

sale BE = = = = = (17) (717)
Impairment e

— from continuing operations -RERELEER (980,247) - (39.433) = = = = (1,019,680
Amortisation (Note) BE(h)

— from continuing operations -REBERELE = (31,044) (6,152) = (2527) = (1,684) (41,407)

— from discontinued operations -REBRILEEER = = = = - - (100) (100)
Closing net book amount ERBERE 71,858 939 87 - 4,801 - 5,384 91,522
At 31 December 2023 and R-BzZE

1 January 2024 t=B=t+-AR

ZE-RE-A-8

Cost A 1,506,825 346,900 91,899 - 124,636 11,100 27,003 2,108,363
Accumulated amortisation and ZHEERAE

impairment (1,434967) (337,508) (91,812) — (119,835) (11,100) (21,6190 (2,106,841)
Net book value FEEE 71,858 9,39 87 - 4,801 - 5384 91,522
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

19 BEEE@®

Trade name
Customer  and domain
Goodwill relationship name Platform Patent Others Total
L EFBR HRREZE T4 EYil At &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AE¥Tn AR%Tn ARETn AR¥Tn ARETn AR%ETR
Year ended 31 December 2024  HE-Z-MF
tZA=T-BLEE
Opening net book amount ENRETE 71,858 9,39 87 4,801 - 5,384 91,522
Addition RE - - - 15,138 - - 15,138
Amortisation (Note) B0
— from continuing operations -RARBERLER = (1212) (87) (5,554) = (1,678) (8,531)
Closing net book amount ELREREE 71,858 8,180 - 14,385 - 3,706 98,129
At 31 December 2024 RZB-DF
tZA=t-H
Cost A 1,506,825 346,900 91,899 139,774 11,100 27,003 2,123,501
Accumulated amortisation and ZHERRAME
impairment (1,434,967) (338,720) (91,899) (125,389) (11,100) (23,297) (2,025,372)
Net book value RETE 71,858 8,180 - 14,385 - 3,706 98,129

Note: Amortisation of intangible assets is included in selling and marketing
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Miad: BEEEZBETASHEA RS
RZHEERTEHEERA -
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19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19 BFREE®
Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible HERHMELEERENR
assets
Managements monitors and reviews the business performance at ERERREIHERERRENE
the operating segment level. Goodwill and other intangible assets BRE MEREMEFEESETT
are allocated to the following cash generating units (“CGUs"). WREEABM(REEESEM]) -

2024
it 13

Other
intangible intangible

Goodwill assets Goodwill assets
HE HtBFEE HE HMWEKEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR ARBFT ARBFT

Anti-counterfeiting products and [ % & & & BR %

services 50,314 8,179 50,314 9,391
Trading services — cotton RHRH — BIETE
industry 21,544 17,544 21,544 9,316
Other intangible assets HMEREE — 548 — 957
71,858 26,271 71,858 19,664
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined by ReEfsEz OB ILZFERE
value-in-use calculations based on cash flow projections approved EAEET ZSHAERBELER
by management covering a five-year period. Thereafter, the cash HERELFHHEZRERERA -
flows are extrapolated using the estimated terminal growth rates. Eg RenERAMTRHERE
Management estimates the pre-tax discount rate that reflects HE-EREMRFAIRKEBKEE
market assessment of the time value of money and specific risk ZHBTBMARZITERERR 2
relating to the industry. ARG IR K o
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19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19 BEEE®
Impairment test for goodwill and other intangible HERHEMEFLEEREIR (B
assets (Continued)
The table below sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs that TEREINEBEEABERENEESR
have significant goodwill and intangible assets allocated: EZERGELBUIFERK:

2024

—E-pmsE

Anti-counterfeiting products and services B BERERH%

Compound annual revenue growth rate WAEEFERE 5.0% 3.2%
Compound annual cost and expense KARFZEEF
growth rate #RE 3.2% 3.2%
Pre-tax discount rate 4 Al #T R X 14.0% 8.5%
Trading services-cotton industry RXB|RBE — BEITE
Compound annual revenue growth rate WAEEFERE 3.0% 28.9%
Compound annual cost and expense AR ESE
growth rate #RE 3.2% 28.9%
Pre-tax discount rate Al 3T R X 18.5% 18.2%
The financial budgets covering 5 years period for all CGUs. FERTEABN ZMBBBERER
FHIME o
The Directors and management have considered and assessed EERERBEDERERTBEMEER
reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions, and they HHEEAREEE - WARBEREMA
have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying EERZERSELAEMNREEB
amount of these CGUs to exceed its recoverable amount. HEATKESERNBR -
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 20 EWERR - &% B FIE
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES & H 4 fE UL FR T

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTTT

Trade receivables & W AR 5% 144,334 123,392
Less: provision for impairment of trade I W BR TR E B
receivables (16,824) (15,782)
Trade receivables, net (Note a) B BR FUFE 8 (M st a) 127,510 107,610
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables & 4% ~ B E &
(Note b) H A & W 3K 8 (Mt 5 b) 803,962 783,423
931,472 891,033
Less: Non-current portion B IE R E)ER (10,005) (13,225)
Current portion IR P2) 921,467 877,808
(a) Trade receivables (a) FEWERX
The Group generally grants a credit period ranging from 90 REB-—REBEBSBETE
to 180 days to customers depending on business segment. }5 4 FI0E180K 2= E B » IR
The aging analysis of the gross trade receivables based on RBERE AR KRR DM
invoice date is as follows: QDT :

2024 2023
—E_NfF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T

0 to 90 days 0&90XK 95,714 73,774
91 to 180 days 91£E180K 18,879 23,768
181 to 270 days 181F 270K 11,115 9,271
271 to 365 days 2712 365K 2,853 2,720
Over 1 year 8 — F 15,773 13,859

144,334 123,392
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 20
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)
Note:

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are

EWRERF &€ - BNARE
& H 4 fE YR FRIE ()

(a) EBWERM(E)
i 3 -

EWRR Z mEREEESHWT

as follows:
pLp 2%
—E-mE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR% T AR T T
At 1 January m—A—A 15,782 37,187
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of trade & U BE FURE B # /(B @)
receivables
— from continuing operations - REBEREER 4,256 (4,524)
Write off for impaired trade receivables B 5 B FE Uk BR 7K hf 85 (3,114) (1,206)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKEB QA (100) (15,675)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 16,824 15,782

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair
values.

Balances are denominated in RMB and there is no concentration of
credit risk with respect to trade receivables as the Group has a large
number of customers nationally dispersed.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair

values of trade receivables disclosed above. The Group did not hold
any collateral as security.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables

20 EWRERR - &€ - EARE
& H 4 FE YT FRIE ()

(b) #% FANREREMGENR

ME
2024 2023
—E-@OmF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARBT T
Non-current portion FER BB
— Prepayment for acquiring intangible - REEFLEE 2
assets (Note (i) 8 5 3R 8 (PR FE () 8,069 13,138
— Deposits -&® 1,936 87
10,005 13,225
Current portion VEUEP2)
— Prepayments (Note (ii)) — Ta OB (W 3 (Gi) 676,199 639,924
— Deposits -Ee 57,269 56,016
— Other receivables (Note (iii)) — E #b e U Zk 18 (B Gii)) 60,489 74,258
793,957 770,198
803,962 783,423
The fair values are as follows: NEBEBRT:
— Deposits -&% 59,205 56,103
— Other receivables - E fib B W R I8 60,489 74,258
119,694 130,361
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)

Note:

0]

(if)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount mainly
represented prepayment to IT supplier for the platform
development and consultation fee.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amount mainly
represented prepayment to suppliers for B2B trading platform
business. In the Group’s ordinary trading operations and in
line with the general practices in the industry, the Group
routinely prepays upstream suppliers for certain goods and
products to secure prices and products needed to fulfill orders
from the Group’s downstream customers. The prepayment to
suppliers for B2B trading platform business is expected to be
utilised within the next reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain suppliers
of the Group failed to deliver the merchandise as stipulated
in the agreements. The Group initiated negotiations with the
suppliers and agreed on settlement plans, following which
these prepayments were reclassified as other receivables.
Despite these efforts, the suppliers failed to honor the
agreed settlements, even after the Group’s active follow-
up for repayment. Consequently, management has initiated
legal action to recover the outstanding amount. Management
performed an assessment of the recoverability of these
balances and concluded that there was no reasonable
expectation of recovery for certain amounts. As a result,
a provision of RMB92,003,000 was recognised as at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB1,571,000). Please refer to note
8(b) for details.
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20 BWERA - #&E -  ANRE

R HL At & WO RR IR ()

(b) B  FENRERHEMER

MIE(H)

B 5

(i) RZE-_NMFER T -_=F+=
A=+—HB %&BEZEHEAIT
HEBRFERAERERNER
2 3K1E

(i) RZEZNERZTZ=F+=
A=+—HB %Z&EEXEHEM
BBR S FEEBKERPAEMNZ
HBE - RAEBEHERXZEK
FOASBEREBITEN KB
flaFens TERRERM
EHEEREMKE LER
BITASE THEERFIENT
WERRESD BHAT—@
REHABBHAMBBRZFAE
EBHEFENMZRE -

HE-_Z-_WF+=-A=+—H
LtFE - A&EEETHERRK
ERBHEAETRNER A&
EEAEIRAERDS L3S
HitglEmimas HezgE
NREEFHE A H M EKK
Boe@EW BIEAEETE
BREERER HEFMDE
EBRITHENGEE At &
BEEEBHIEEZITHEITRK
BEEEHZEABOATKE 4
EOTHGE RAETESES
BWRERERE AL R=ZF
ZWME+—RA=1+—BHERERE
A #92,003,000c(= & = =
£ A R #1,571,00070) ° 15
EENETIOR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(b) Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)

Note: (continued)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was engaged in an
arbitration proceeding relating to the unreceived balance of
RMB75,500,000 (“the Balance”) arising from the disposal
of the Group’s equity interest in Tianjin Guokai to an
independent third party (“the Buyer”). Based on legal advice
obtained, the directors of the Company have determined that
the Group has a probable right to receive RMB67,950,000
from the Buyer, netting of by liabilities of RMB12,569,000
(comprising compensation payments and arbitration expenses
borne by the Group). Consequently, a net receivable of
RMB55,381,000 has been recognised in “Other Receivables”.

199

20 EWWERF - &< - AARIE
& H 4 FE YT FRIE ()

(b)

B BEANREREMER
R (4)
MR ()

(iii)

RZFE-—WmFE+=-_A=+—8 "
AEERAR—EZBIE=ZHTE
FHDHEAEERHRERRA
BREMEENRKEHR AR
75,500,0007C ([4 82 ) #7710 &
BF -REMEEEER XK
ARRAIEERBAEERAGE
#mEHWE AR%67,950,000
7T Mk BE A R12,569,000
TEEASERENEES R
HEREH) - Alt  REERIHE
b FE WS X TE | BE R FE IR SR IE F B
A R #55,381,0007T °
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21 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December

2024:

Hong Kong Huicong International Group

BRZEARSEARAA

HC Group (Hong Kong) Limited
ERER(EHR)ERAT

Orange Triangle (HK) Limited

Zale Inc.

Zale (Hong Kong) Limited

Z. Tech Holdings Limited

Saidian HK Limited

el

ERREEERAROBRAF

IRE=ANRARAT

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Place of incorporation

and kind of legal entity
MR LEER
EERRER

British Virgin Islands,

limited liability company
EERNEE BRAA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

EE BRAR

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B ARLA

Cayman Islands, limited
liability company
HEHE FRAT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
B BRAA

Cayman Islands, limited
liability company
HEHES BRAF

Hong Kong, limited
liability company
B BRAA

The PRC, limited liability
company

HE BRAR
The PRC, limited liability

company

TE - BRAA

Principal activities and
place of operation

IRERREEHY

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RERK-FE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBR-FH

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

RERK-BR

Investment holding in
Cayman Islands

RERR-REHE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RERK-FE

Investment holding in
Cayman Islands

REEK-REES

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RERR-BR

Anti-counterfeiting
technology
development in the
PRC

RERBHRG-TE

Provision of business
information in the PRC

REARER-+E

21 B AT

LTAER-ZE-_mF+=

FTENBRARIBE:

Particulars of Effective

registered share capital interest held

BaMBRAFEE FRERRESR

21,000,000 ordinary shares of 100%
US$0.01 (2023: Same)

21,000,000 SR E A (ZBZ=%:fiR)
0.01E T2 ERR

500,000 ordinary shares of 100%
HK$1 each (2023: Same)

500,000 8 RE & (ZB-z£ 8R)
BT EAR

10,000 ordinary shares of 89.34%
HK$1 each (2023: Same)

10,000k R EE (ZB-z£ 8R)
BT EAR

500,000,000 ordinary shares of 89.34%
15$0.0001 each (2023: Same)

500,000,000 EREE  (ZTZ=%:4R)
0.0001E L2 EBR

10,000 ordinary shares of 89.34%
HK$1 each (2023: Same)

10,000 BRRE & (ZZZ=%:R)
BTz EAR

50,000 ordinary shares of US$1 89.34%
each (2023: Same)

50,0008 § R EE (ZB-z£ 8R)
1ZT2ERR

10,000 ordinary shares of 100%
HK$1 each (2023: Same)

10,000 5 REE (ZZZ=%5:fiR)
BTz LAk

RMB70,725,000 64.20%

(2023: Same)
AR70,725,0007 (ZEZZ£:fR)
US150,000 89.34%
(2023: Same)
150,000% (ZZ2Z=%:fiR)

A=+—-Hz2

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by
non-controlling
interests (%)
FERES

Fi 5 2 3 1R L A (%)

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%

10.66%

35.80%

10.66%
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21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

21

Mt B A |l (@)

201

Proportion of
ordinary shares
held by

Place of incorporation  Principal activities and  Particulars of Effective  non-controlling
and kind of legal entity  place of operation registered share capital interest held interests (%)
EMA LR FERESR
EEERER IEERRSEHY CEMARAHSK FREERES FBEBERLH%
ERATHERRERAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business ~ RMB10,000,000 89.34% 10.66%
(Note i) (i &) company information in the PRC (2023: Same)
hE - BRAT REBEFER -8 AX%10,000,0007T (CEZ=FHR)
LBEREFEBERAA The PRC, limited liability  Provision of trading and ~ RMB200,000,000 100% =
company agency services in the (2023: Same)
PRC
HE - BRAF RUEERABRE  ARH200,000,0007 (Z2Z=%:fR)
-
REENRERBRAA The PRC, limited liabiity  Provision of B2B RMB500,000,000 35.70% 64.30%
(Note ii) (¥ i) company e-CommMerce services (2023: Same)
for spot cotton
hE - BRAR RARRIERMD  ARES00,000,0007 (CB-=%fR)
B
IRBERNNRERAR The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of business RMB36,821,000 89.34% 10.66%
company information in the PRC (2023: Same)
HE BRAT REBZEA -8 ARK36,821,0007 (ZZzZ%:FR)
BR(ER)RHERAA The PRC, limited liability ~ Provision of technical ~ RMB40,000,000 52.71% 47.29%
company services in the PRC (2023: Same)
HE - BRAF RURGRE-PE  ARB40,000,0007T (Z2Z=%:fR)
EREFBL)BERNERRA The PRC, limited liability  Provision of trading and ~ RMB20,000,000 52.71% 47.29%
company agency services in the (2023: Same)
PRC
HE BRAT RUEERABRE  ARY20,000,0007 (CZ-=F #R/)
-HE

Notes: B 5

(i) The Group does not have direct or indirect legal ownership in (i) $%ﬂﬁﬁ%§§?§§if’aﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%’l‘$ﬁ
equity of the Structured Entities. Nevertheless, under certain BREZELERE AWM BESR
Contractual Arrangements entered into with the Structured 1% MERBRAFAMBEEALZE
Entities and their registered owners, the Company and its other BN RNRARREEMEEHE
legally owned subsidiaries have rights to exercise power over the ﬁ 2 MEAREETEAEEEER
Structured Entities, receive variable returns from its involvement in BH BEEZBUEETEKEEH
the Structured Entities, and have the ability to affect those returns BRI ARENBBEANZEABELE
through its power over these Structured Entities. As a result, they BB AZEZSZOHR Al K2
are presented as Structured Entities of the Group. FIRAEEEBILEER -

(i) WHEREEEBRAF is accounted for as a subsidiary of the (i) BRAKSRERXLHRBERNEEES
Group, as the Group's representatives have taken up majority of the MAREETERTHREL  AEBEEE
seats in the board of B ERHEE AR QA and the Group is HEHNEFE WRBENEEERS
able to control the board. RABARIEAEBENHBE ARG -
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21 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 21 MEB2E
(a) Material non-controlling interests () EXFERER

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with BEEAHFZEREZNELEZEH
material non-controlling interests BERNEE
Set out below are the summarised financial information of TXHINBHERNBRERBFRA
R ERIB £ B BB 2T (Union Cotton Cloud Technology AIRIERKEEERMBRNER
Group Co., Limited) and It RKEEERMBMHER 2 NAlZHBERNBME  ZF QA
&) (Beijing PanPass Information Technology Co., Limited) HAHAEEMEBEE RN ZIFE
that have non-controlling interests that are material to the I HE 5 e
Group.
Summarised consolidated statement of financial position A [ B 7R 4t 7 S5 B

Union Cotton Cloud Beijing PanPass
Technology Group Co., Information Technology
Limited Co., Limited
BEBENKEER 3 RIS 5 B H 1l R 47
BERADH BERDH

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_NE T ZE_NF ZET-=

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARETT AR®BTR ARETET

Current RE
Assets & 509,490 459,807 276,812 253,776
Liabilities afE (262,166) (227,979) (35,968) (46,365)
Net current assets MBEEFE 247,324 231,828 240,844 207,411
Non-current ERE
Assets BEE 23,120 18,539 3,032 835
Net non-current assets EMEE EFE 23,120 18,539 3,032 835
Net assets BEFE 270,444 250,367 243,876 208,246
Accumulated non- et IR R

controlling interest 175,385 163,130 89,391 77,006
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21 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 21 B AR
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () EXRFERERE
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with BEEAHEZERESZHEB LG ZE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) BEHHEE)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive Bl E W T E
income

Union Cotton Cloud Beijing PanPass
Technology Group Co., Information Technology
Limited Co., Limited
BRHENRER 1k R IK 15 15 B 1l AR 44

BRATR BRATR
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_F T = —EoME —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT AR®TRE ARETE

Revenue iHE WA 10,529,348 16,721,349 178,475 166,066
Profit before tax B 35 B & A 24,114 9,609 37,785 35,093
Income tax (expense)/ Fiefi(Ax)/

credit Evd) (4,038) 1,595 (2,155) (3,533)
Profit after tax B 15 12 )i A 20,076 11,204 35,630 31,560
Other comprehensive Hi2mEKA

income — — = —
Total comprehensive 2HEKA B

income 20,076 11,204 35,630 31,560
Total comprehensive DB EFEIERE S

income allocated to ZE2EWABRTE

non-controlling interests 12,255 6,455 12,385 10,930
Dividends paid to non- BEAT I T AR =

controlling interests f&% &8 — — — (7,596)
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21 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 21 MEB2E
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) () EXRFERERE
Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with BEEAHZEREZHELATZE
material non-controlling interests (Continued) BERHEEE)
Summarised consolidated cash flow statement EHEETHEXEE

Union Cotton Cloud Beijing PanPass
Technology Group Co., Information Technology
Limited Co., Limited
REENRKER L RKEREERMR G
BERAFE BERAF

2024 2023 2024 2023
—EME —E-_=F —E-ME —E-=

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTrr ARBTT AR®Tn ARETRT

Net cash (used in)/generated &% %% (FiA),/

from operating activities EEXRSFHE (67,616) 218,721 10,262 10,051
Net cash generated from/ BRETBEEL

(used in) financing (AR &3R8

activities 20,570 (158,775) (6,062) (31,263)
Net cash (used in)/ "EEBFA),/

generated from EXBREFE

investing activities (7) (72) 2,532 3,018

Net (decrease)/increase BekBEeEED
in cash and cash CRi ) /18 hn
equivalents F R (47,054) 59,874 6,732 (18,194)
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22 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 22 AR R ZIEREZ2HRE
EQUITY METHOD

2024 2023
—E_@mE —E =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

Associates iR/ 149,864 262,705

149,864 262,705

2024 2023
—E_NF —ET-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T

At 1 January Kn—H—H 262,705 288,458
Addition (Note 23) ANE (M F23) 56,042 _—
Disposal & — (10,181)
Share of post-tax losses of associates SIEBERARRBEER (65,155) (11,678)
Impairment losses on the investment in an R & AR 2 % &R EE B

associate (Note a) (Fff 3Ea) (103,728) (3,894)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 149,864 262,705
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22 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUlTY METHOD (Continued)

22 AR ZEIRZ2RE®

Set out below are associates which, in opinion of directors, are
material to the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
associates as listed below have share capital consisting solely of

WTEHIEERAR TS -_NWER_-F
=+ A=+ —HEAKEEBEKX
ZHENTE o T E RE 2 BRAFE

ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group; the country BRETER BAEEEERFE MK
of establishment or registration is also their principal place of VHAMBERTAEETELEME o

business.

Place of

Name of entity

ERiE

business/country
of establishment
Exuy/
T

% of effective interest

REREEAAL
204
g ik

Nature of the
relationship

BEKLE

Measurement
method

TEAR

Carrying amount

REE
204
= L

RMB'000
AE®TR

RMB'000

ARBTT

ERPEERTHRERNERAA(IRE PRC 2.3 235 Associate (Note i) Equity method 99,504 232,625
RREEZRENRARAR(MERE))  +E BELR(ME)  BaE
(Guangdong Zhongmo Cloud Digital Technology
Co., Limited, formerly known as Guangdong
Zhongmoyun Construction Science and
Technology Co., Limited* (“Zhongmo Group"))
ERFELAETARERAARELREE) PRC 2 20 Associate (Note i) Equity method 28,531 30,080
(Guangdong Home Flectronic Appliances World B BELR (M)  BEA
E-Commerce Co,, Ltd.* (IDSJ Group))
£ B /MEE (Chongging Micro-credit) PRC 40 70 Associate (Note 23)  Equity method 21,829 =
e BEAR(WiEs)  ERE
149,864 262,705
& English names are translated for identification purpose only e BEXEBEBEEZNAR
Note M 5
0) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group effectively holds (i) R-E_MER_ZT_=F+_A8
22.35% equity interests in Zhongmo Group. =S+ -RA - FAEEBERFETIEEE
222.35% PR #E o
(i) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group holds 20% equity (i) HRZZE_OmOFR-_ZE-_="F+=A
interest of JDSJ Group. JDSJ Group is engaged in the e-commerce =tT—H AEERFAREHAEE
for home appliances in the PRC through its websites and mobile Z20% M E c  REBEMHAEE BB EE
applications. %&%iﬁ}ﬁﬁﬁ%%f?ﬁé\fP@ﬁi%%%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a)

Impairment of associates

Both external and internal sources of information of
associates are considered in assessing whether there is any
indicator that the investments may be impaired, including
but not limited to information about financial position
and business performance of the associates. The Group
carries out impairment assessment on those investments
with impairment indicators, and the respective recoverable
amounts of investment in associates are determined with
reference to the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use (“VIU").

Zhongmo Group is one of the Group’s investment in
associate. On 26 December 2019, Zhongmo Group ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Group and has then been accounted
for as investment in associates in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. As at 31
December 2024, the carrying amount of the investment in
Zhongmo Group before impairment was RMB203,232,000.

The business of the Zhongmo Group is to provide smart
attached lifting scaffolding and aluminum alloy formwork
systems for the construction formwork industry, including
leasing, design, installation, maintenance and refurbishment
service for properties developers in the PRC.

207

22 RAEREIR2BRE®

(a)

B N R RE
RIEEEETRBETREAGE
WMER  AEEEEEHE QA
MAABEABERKRE B8R
TRREBBE R BERRR
EBRAMEN - AEEH AR
BRROKEEETRENG L
SERFERLERAEERE
BE(EREEDNRSEEEN
fERBMNRENEETRE S
e

TEEERAEERNEZE QA
MIREZ- RZE—-AF+=
AZt+XB H#REETERX
SENHMEBAR LEAER
R EFAGHBBHRROR
ERRZRE -MN_FT_WF
TZA=+—R RPEEEZ
REREBEBAMOEIERSARE
203,232,0007T °

TREBNEB SR ZERERT
EHEEmEAARNFRRE
mAETEREBER BEATEY
XHREmREREE R/ 1K
M M ERT o

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

22

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a)

Impairment of associates (Continued)

Management, as an investor in Zhongmo Group, has been
consistently reviewing the company’s business operations
and the evolving industry landscape. Particular attention
has been given to the persistent slowdown in construction
projects and the weakened market demand within the real
estate industry, which are significantly reshaping Zhongmo
Group’s business environment.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Zhongmo
Group experienced a substantial increase in the default rate
of accounts receivable, as many customers were unable
to meet their payment obligations on time. This created
significant challenges for the company’s business operations
and working capital. Additionally, the declining demand in
the real estate market slowed the number of construction
projects, directly impacting Zhongmo Group’s core business
activities. Consequently, the company faced a significant
decline in revenue and incurred considerable losses for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

In response to these challenges, Zhongmo Group’s
management is currently in the process of reforming its
business strategies. Key measures include streamlining its
clientele by focusing on high-quality clients, downsizing
operations (including staff layoffs), and implementing various
cost-saving initiatives. Furthermore, the management has
prepared a revised financial forecast based on the updated
business plan to better align with the current market
conditions and organizational reforms.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

22 AR ZEIRZERE®

(a)

B & N B RE (40)

ERTPEEENKREE EHE
THRIZRANEELEERD
BrEENTERE LHEEZEZE
TENBEREREHMETER
MEBROBE  EEABEEL
hIREEMNKERE -

HEZZT-_Mm&+=-A=+—HLt
FE BARZBRBZFPEZERRE
IRRER RESEDOEKE
RRRERBLEA - EHZAA
MEBKECEREEESEKRERK
B o N BHETHEERT
BEREEBEEHERLD B
FEPEEENZOEBEY -
it ZRAREBEE_T_NF+=
A=+ —BLEFEHBKmE K@
THRIETEEKREHAE -

REHZEHRE PREENE
EEEMEXREFEEBRE - =
EEBEREERRERRPUAGH
BEFE MEZESRB(BERE)
RERZEHORANER - 1t
Gh R T AT M0 UT B E AT B T 5
BRERAGNE EEECDRE
R EBHEREKETNMH
TER o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

22 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a)

Impairment of associates (Continued)

The management of the Group has assessed the
above-mentioned impairment indicators and performed
an impairment assessment with the assistance of Asia-
Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent
external valuer and determined the recoverable amount of
the investment in Zhongmo Group based on its VIU as VIU is
higher than its fair value less cost of disposal. The calculation
has considered the cash flow projections of Zhongmo
Group for the five years ending 31 December 2029 with
an extrapolation made to perpetuity. The pretax discount
rate used to discount the cash flows to their respective
net present values was 14.5% in 2024, and was based
on cost of capital used to evaluate investments of similar
nature in the mainland of China. Management judgement
is required in estimating the future cash flows of Zhongmo
Group. The management determines the key assumptions
with reference to external sources of information. Based
on the management’s assessment result, an impairment of
RMB103,728,000 was recognised for investment in Zhongmo
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil), as
the recoverable amount as determined by a VIU calculation
was lower than the carrying amount.

The table below sets out the key assumptions for the
determination of the recoverable amount of the investment
in Zhongmo Group:

2024
—E-pmE

209

22 RAEREIR2BRE®

(a) B QaIREE)

AEENEREREBD TG L RE
HERE—RBILINEBEER IR
AT LEHBRBERAR BB T BT
BEFG TREFEAEE(EE
FREESNQFEREEKK)
ETPESENKEENARE 2
- ERECERTESHEZE
2 NF+ZA=+—HIER
BAFEEMEAEHZ XEHHH
Be4RnEEAN - -R_Z=T_MmW&E
He Rk REEZANFRE
BFRT AR ATRE IR R A514.5% - )b
AERNFTHPRERNEEUEENER
BRAMBEARKRA - HarhEE
BEMARBEERERTEETERE
ELHE - EBEL2ZINBEH
REETTEBR REEEE
MAGRER BREAEESTE
FriErliE 2 BERKAEE &
EZT-_NF+-A=+—HILHF
ERPEREEENKEBRIAREA
R #103,728,000c(Z & = = :
T)o

TRE2JNEERTEEENKRE
AT e BT ERRR

Compound annual revenue growth rate WAEEFIERE 6.2%
Compound annual cost and expense growth rate AR F T A FiE K= 5.6%
Pre-tax discount rate Al HT R X 14.5%

As at 31 December 2024, there was no impairment
recognised for the Group’s interests in other associates.

RZTFE-_WMFF+=—A=+—H =&
EEREMBEARMNEDR I E
BRME -

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

22 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 22

EQUlTY METHOD (Continued)

(b) Summarised consolidated financial information

for associates

Set out below are the summarised financial information for
the associates which, in the opinion of director, are material
to the Group and are accounted for using the equity

FRAERZEIRZ2RE®

(b) BMEQARAZEHMBENE

3
TXHINEEZR AV AEEREE
ABREREIN R 2B ERAZ
MBERBME -

method.
Chongging
Zhongmo Group JDSJ Group Micro-credit
EEE
hER FEHRE EX
2024 2023 2024 2024
“E_ME = “E_ME —=t —E_ME
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TT AR%Trn ARETT AR®Tx:
Current ok}
Total current assets RBEELE 306,411 651,816 296,557 209,724 59,130
Total current liabilities nBEELH (492,471) (712,950) (275,795) (185,291) (6,358)
Non-current ERE
Total non-current assets FRBDEERE 546,207 523,501 4,733 5,523 632
Net assets EESE 360,147 462,367 25,495 29,956 53,404
Opening net assets FNEERE 462,367 485,456 29,956 22,708 140,104
Loss for the year FNER (102,220) (23,089) (4,461) 7,248 (86,700)
Closing net assets FREEFHE 360,147 462,367 25,495 29,956 53,404
Direct equity interest held B ERRTE S 22.35% 22.35% 20% 20% 40%
Share of net assetvalue held by ~ AKEDEEEFE
Group 80,493 103,339 5,099 5,991 21,362
Others (Note) H oy (W 3E) 19,011 129,286 23,432 24,089 467
Carrying amount EHE 99,504 232,625 28,531 30,080 21,829

Note: Others mainly represent notional goodwill and notional
intangible assets arising from acquisition of associates.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Ma: EIEARUBBHLEARE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

22 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 22 AR ZIERZ2HRE »)
EQU|TY METHOD (Continued)

(b) Summarised consolidated financial information (b) BBELNTRZEHUHKEERM
for associates (Continued) E(®)

Chongging

Zhongmo Group JDSJ Group Micro-credit
EE)E

RS REHRE B

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
“E-mE Z—T-=F CZE-QWE —T-=F CZE_ME
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR%Trn ARETT AR%Tx

Revenue HEKA 297,510 437,354 1,541,890 927,547 29,585
(Loss)/profit after tax Rk (EE)/
i Fl (102,220) (23,089) (4,461) 7,248 (86,700)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EER - = = = =
Total comprehensive 2EBE)/ KA
(loss)/income B (102,220) (23,089) (4,461) 7,248 (86,700)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in Pt BB KPR S QG A e
the consolidated financial statements of the associates (and BHREMEN 22 B(WLIEAQA
not the Company’s share of those amounts) adjusted for FrihszEce%) AANEEEREE
fair value adjustment and differences in accounting policies RAIZEBHBRREEMELRFE
between the Group and the associates. B E o

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

23 DISPOSAL OF HUICONG HULIAN DISPOSAL 23 HEEZEHEHRHEEH
GROUP
On Completion Date, the Group completed the disposal ?EWEIHJ% AEBEZEKRKLEZRE
transaction of Huicong Hulian Disposal Group. Huicong Hulian .‘:H%% R -BEZTEZ=ZF+= ﬂ
Disposal Group was included in the platform and corporate E**EIJJ:@E CEREBEEEEE
services segment for the year ended 31 December 2023. Huicong MATFEEMCERBEER -REBALY
Hulian Disposal Group mainly operates financial related business ExXHKA  BEREIBHEESEZTEZLHE

%Eﬂ*ﬁ%@%ﬁ% THEAKERERR
ThkeBABNRE -

and holds the Group’s investment in commercial bank and
financial sector prior to the completion of such disposal.

MTE\:x‘:¢+:HE+*E&

The following is a list of subsidiaries, an associate and a directly

owned investment of the Huicong Hulian as at 31 December 2023

and Completion Date:

Tianjin Huicong Leasing Co. Ltd.
(“Tianjin Leasing”)

REBREEARAA(TRREEE]D

Chongging Micro-credit (Note)

EER)BERME)

Inner Mongolia Hohhot Jingu Rural Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd. (“Jingu Bank")

ARETHERSARNBARRITEN
BERAR(EAET]

Inner Mongolia Zhongzai Huicai E-commerce
Co., Ltd.

RETFEERETEBEERA

Beijing Huixiang Network Technology Co., Ltd.

ERZDREZKMBR R A

Huijing (Huizhou) E-commerce Co., Ltd.

SEEMNEFAEBAERA

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TM&E&%EW&E%%:

Equity interests,
directly or
indirectly, held by
Huicong Hulian
EREBEESD
ERENER

Principal business

EREH

Engaged in the finance lease business in the

PRC 100%
RPBEREREHEER
Engaged in the provision of loan service in

the PRC 30%
R ERERHEERRY
Provision of products and services on bank

deposits, loans and advances in the PRC

and other business approved by the China

Banking Regulatory Commission 9.22%
RABRERHEBRTER ERER

RZEMPRBEARPERITEEEE

BLREeHEZ HMER
Investment holding

100%

BEER
Dormant 100%
WL
Dormant 100%
WL
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

23 DISPOSAL OF HUICONG HULIAN DISPOSAL 23 HEEZSHEHREEER 9

GROUP (Continued)

Note:

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held 70% aggregate equity interests
in Chongging Micro-credit, with 30% equity interest being held by
Huicong Hulian and 40% equity interest held by Hong Kong Huicong
International Group Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

Upon completion, the Group’s interest in Chongging Micro-credit
decreased from 70% to 40% and the Group will no longer hold control
over the board of Chongging Micro-credit but retain significant influence
over it. Chongging Micro-credit ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group
and the retained 40% equity interest was recognised as investment in an
associate in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method.

The 40% equity interest in Chongging Micro-credit that was retained was
remeasured to its fair value, as the initial recognition cost of investment in
associates. The deemed disposal loss amounting to RMB22,310,000 was
recognised.

The fair value of the 40% equity interest in Chongqging Micro-credit that
was retained by the Group as at Completion Date was determined by a
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer. The valuation
involved significant judgements and estimates, including price-to-book (P/
B) ratio, and selection of comparable companies.

The calculation of the fair value of 40% equity interest in Chongging
Micro-credit as at the Completion Date is as follows:

B &E

R-ZBE-_=ZF+_-_A=+—8 A&£@AH
BEEER/)BERIONHBE  HP30%8
BREMZROBITE 0% BRERAEER
EENBARESERERSEERARF
e

ERE O AEEREE/)HEERNESEH
70% R E40%  AEBMTABRVNEE)DEE
FMESE AREBUEE)DEERTES
AEEBH BEENBEERTBAAEEZW
BAT MRBMA0%BENSHMBRR
FURS AR AERBEE AR ZERE -

RENERNDEEFAONREDRAFESE
atE VP HRAABRBERAREEZKA -
ERRGEIELEEBEARK22,310,0007T ©

REXKBH AEERENEENEER
40%BEN R FERBLEEHEMETHE
BEET BESREXRHABRG  BEFED
RERBENALBRAF -

EENEETIONBRERETKBROATE
FFEMT:

As at
27 February 2024
R=B-NF
—A=++tH
Applied P/B Ratio Fr % A T BR =X 0.223
Net book value as at 27 February 2024 of Chongqging EENEER R TN F A=+ tHH
Micro-credit (RMB’000) FREFENRET T 1,029,223
100% Equity Value before DLOM (RMB’000) BREMGRBUHENZIN 1006REBEAR
T 229,679
Adjusted for DLOM at 39.0% RS RBUETEAER39.0% (1-39.0%)
100% Equity Value of Chongging Micro-credit EENEERN100%BREEE(ARE T T
(RMB'000) 140,104
40% Equity Value of Chongging Micro-credit EENEERN 4I0%KREEEARE T T
(RMB’000) 56,042

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

23 DISPOSAL OF HUICONG HULIAN DISPOSAL 23 HEEZEBREHBLIEEEHE »)
GROUP (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Huicong Hulian RERKBH  ZBERIHBRLESENEE
Disposal Group as at Completion Date were as follows: MEBEEEZEHENNOT:

As at

Completion Date

R 5 B A

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Finance lease receivables REHE R FIE 147,648

Financial assets at fair value through OCl RATEFAEMEZEARKAZEHEE 271,773
Loan and interest receivables FEWE R R A 1,044,326

Trade and other receivables JE I BR 3R J% E 4t jE U 5RIE 17,822

Cash and cash equivalents RekReSFEY 14,391
Other assets Hih&E 5,675
Trade and other payables JE 1F BR 3R K2 H i JE < 50IR (54,868)
Bank borrowings RITEE (487,882)
Other liabilities HiafE (16,998)
Remeasurement loss previously recognised BABHERZENSAEER (586,302)
Net assets disposed of HEEEFE 355,585

Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling WoEEREREGEEEFE

interests (272,233)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBREGEEEFE 83,352

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

23 DISPOSAL OF HUICONG HULIAN DISPOSAL 23 HEEZSHEHREEER 9
GROUP (Continued)

Net loss on disposal Huicong Hulian Disposal Group as at REXBHRLEZREBEEERZEH
Completion Date were as follows: BEFEET:
As at
completion Date
R A
RMB'000
AR® T
Cash consideration BReRE 5,000
Fair value of the 40% equity interests retained REENEBEERREBENI0%KREER
in Chongging Micro-credit as investment in REERTINEEZATE
associate 56,042
Less net assets attributable to Group disposed of B HEREE E(HE E FE (83,352)
Disposal loss HEEE (22,310)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal for the period ended 27 HEZZ-WF-_A=-+tALHMEYE
February 2024: EEEMNR S ML FRE:

As at completion
Date

A 52 BX B 88
RMB’000
AR®T R

Cash consideration (Note) BeREE) 5,000
Less: deposit received in advance B ET & (1,000)
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of BWEHEReRReEEY (14,391)

(10,391)

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

23 DISPOSAL OF HUICONG HULIAN DISPOSAL 23 HEEZEBREHBEEEEHE »)
GROUP (Continued)

Note: M 5E

Upon the disposal of Huicong Hulian Group, the total cash consideration REEE HEEEZ B2 Llﬁlfﬁﬁ BRE

received amounted to RMB5,000,000. This included an initial deposit of Z\%/\EMS,OO0,000I ZeBEEBRBERZ

RMB1,000,000 received on 1 December 2023. E_=H5+-_A-BHEKREZIT2ARE
1,000,0007T °

The notional goodwill arising on the transaction of Chongging ERNBERRXZIEENEBEFTENT

Micro-credit was as follows:

As at completion
Date
R R A H

RMB’000
ARBT R

Fair value of the 40% equity interests retained REEBNEERRENIONREIER

in Chongging Micro-credit as investment in REERBINKEE 2 AT E
associate 56,042
Share of the fair value of net identifiable assets DA BREEFEZATE (55,575)
Notional goodwill HEEE 467
24 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 24 Hth&mEE

Huizhou Union Cotton PanPass Information
Note (a) Note (b)
TN 45 B8 KEEE
Ht % (a) Ht =% (b)

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E_NE —T-=F ZE_NFE —ZT-_=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AR®Trx AR¥®Tnrx AREFTT

Current Vi) — 88,391 85,816 77,253
Non-current JER B 92,423 — — —

92,423 88,391 85,816 77,253

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

24 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued) 24 HihemaeE s
(a) Redemption liabilities related to Huizhou () EMNBHENEERAFTAZ

Union Cotton Cloud Technology Co., Limited

On 9 August 2021, Huizhou Union Cotton Cloud Technology
Co., Limited (“Huizhou Union Cotton”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered
into an Investment Agreement (the "Agreement”) with
an independent investor. The transaction was completed
on 5 November 2021. Upon the completion of this above
transactions, the Group held 35.7% of the issued shares of
Huizhou Union Cotton, and it remains to be accounted for as
a subsidiary of the Group given the Group’s representatives
have taken up majority of the seats in the board control of
HuiZhou Union Cotton and the Group is able to control the
board.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Huizhou Union Cotton
conditionally agreed to issue shares to the investor for a
cash consideration of RMB150,000,000 and is subject to
performance guarantee arrangement. The independent
investor is entitled to put option to sell the equity interest in
Huizhou Union Cotton to the initial shareholders of Huizhou
Union Cotton (including the Group) at a pre-determined
repurchase price in the events that:

(1) Huizhou Union Cotton’s accumulated revenue and
average net profit in the next 3 years after the
transaction are lower than targets as set out in the
Agreement; or

(2)  Huizhou Union Cotton’s accumulated revenue and
average net profit in the next 5 years after the
transaction are lower than targets as set out in the
Agreement.

The Group recognised such redemption obligation as “other
financial liabilities” and measured its present value of the
expected redemption amount.

HRED&E

RZZBE-_—FNAALA  RRR
MEIZEWMBRREMBEE
AR AR (M) 82—
FBURBEETVUREGZ (B
FD o BRRHGER B —F+—
ARBZERK - RERRFHTEMRE -
AEBFAEEMNBBDETRND
35.7% + BN 5 B MG =N AR B
BEEGREOFEM AEEER
THEEE  WEMRBDAA
RIVEAKEBOH—FHMEBRAE -

RAZ 3 BN IR B A R 1 i R
BRERAZEREEZTRN R
+ & & A K %150,000,0007T °
YARBRRRELRETAHAE -
BYUREEARENTBERELE
B 17 2 2R 00 HA#E - @) 2R AR B 1)
MER(BEEAEE)REERBLD
B & B R B A

() BNRBRIZERE=F
B R EHIRA R F G FER
WA AR =X

2 BMNRBRIZERKOF
B REHRA KT 4R ER
wEAERR -

AEERAZBELOEEREMS
BAE] EEAERENRE

HHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_Z_MF+_A=+—HIFE

24 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Redemption liabilities related to Huizhou
Union Cotton Cloud Technology Co., Limited
(Continued)

During the year of 31 December 2024, Huizhou Union
Cotton has met the 3 years targets as set out in the
Agreement. The end date of the 5 years performance target
period is set for November 2026, after which the fulfillment
of the performance criteria, based on accumulated revenue
and average net profit, will be evaluated to determine if
the put option rights of the independent investor may
be triggered according to the terms of the Agreement.
Therefore the expected redemption amount has been
adjusted based on the targets and classified as non-current
other financial liabilities. As at 31 December 2024, the
relevant liabilities amounted to RMB92,423,000 (2023:
RMB88,391,000).

Redemption liabilities related to PanPass
Information Technology Co., Limited

On 1 December 2020, PanPass Information Technology Co.,
Limited (“PanPass Information”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Share
Subscription Agreement with independent investors. The
transaction was completed on 13 January 2021. After
the above transactions, the Group held 64.2% of the
issued shares of PanPass Information, and it remains to be
accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group given the Group's
control in the board of directors of PanPass Information.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

24 Hhemad e

(a)

(b)

BENRBEENEERAFAZ
MEED & E )

Hz—_Z-_mFE+=-A=+—H1
FE BEMNRBEDEXKBZEAR
—FER - AFEHBERHNE
RAMEA-_ZE-_RE+—H 2
% AR IE 2 AW AT 19 45 A
XEZEMNTRBERETTG
LAEE & =& & ] LAMR 15 155 &% 16 SR B
BB EENRLGEE - Bt -
T ELDSERIREEETHAE
PEAIRDEMESREE - R
TE-ME+-_A=+—H H#
aE A ARKI2423,000L(=ZF
— =% : AR #¥88,391,0007T) °

KEEERMTRAERQ A
ZEBEEREE
RZE-ZEF+=-A—H ' ARA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

24 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued) HuEemaesd »
(b) Redemption liabilities related to PanPass (b) KEEEEMBRBERADE

Information Technology Co., Limited (Continued)

Pursuant to the agreement, PanPass Information
conditionally agreed to issue shares to the investors for
a cash consideration of RMB87,416,000, and is subject
to performance guarantee arrangement, in which the
independent investors are entitled to a put option to sell
its equity interest in PanPass Information to the initial
shareholders of PanPass Information (including the Group) at
a pre-determined repurchase price or receive compensation
in cash or shares from initial shareholders (including the
Group) in the events that:

(1) PanPass Information’s actual net profits during the
years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 are
lower than targets as set out in the Share Subscription
Agreement; or

(2)  PanPass Information fails to apply for an initial public
offering (“IPO") on or before 31 October 2023 or fail
to complete an IPO on or before 30 June 2024.

On 17 March 2023, PanPass Information, the initial
shareholders, and the investors signed a supplementary
agreement. The agreement stipulated that all parties
consented to waive the previously set net profit performance
targets and agreed to suspend the redemption rights given
PanPass Information had submitted the listing application on
30 May 2023 and is in the process of its listing application
to the Beijing Stock Exchange. These put option rights will
be reinstated in the event where the listing application is
withdrawn or unsuccessful.

The Group recognised such redemption obligation as “other
financial liabilities” and measured at the present value of
the expected redemption amount. As at 31 December 2024,
the relevant liabilities amounted to RMB85,816,000 (2023:
RMB77,253,000).

ZHEBEEEEE®)
REZHE KEEEEK T
RAERMEEEZRTRSG  BeR
B A A R¥87,416,0005T » I Al 1R
BRBREZHETFUAARE - Kt
z’%i&éf%ﬁﬁéﬁuﬂiiﬂ?%
BRITEREHE  mMEKEEED

BFREEEASE) IZETER
BREKXEEERENXETBR
R(BEASER) WER S K7D
e

) KEEEREE—FT—_—
—E_ZFR-F_DOF
T-A=t—BLFENE
B 4L FME 20 B 40 R BB 155 5% P
HEZ K

(2) KIEfEEKREE _7_*¢
+)E] + Bk 2 Bl B &
-] ’jﬂla?-*ﬂﬁ‘:.((é NN
BE]) IARER-ZZT =N
FRNA= ‘f’HWZH'EW%

RAFBE -

9,9’

::—:*:ifﬁﬂ—ta JKIE1E
B VERREREEETLER
ts%uw;mu BE ERIKERE
BEOR-_ZE-_=FAA=+HE

XEWHE EIEEWib??é%’
*%FﬁEF'*E TR HARE
ME L A & EE’J@?‘J% MERZ

NABEFEED®E - EHERFE
WRME S RBER Y - EEREH

R T IAURIE ©

AREBBAZERNETAEME
BEE] KBEFENSEMNERE
AFE e RZIEZNFE+ZA=1+—
H: HEEBEEAARSS5816,000
T(ZEZ=F: AR¥77,253,000
JT) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 25 RATVEFEZEMEE
Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

BRAFEFABERZ BEAVLESAZM2ERAZ
SREE SRMEE
2024 2024
—E_NE —E-NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TT ARETT
Listed securities rmEH — — 15,176 21,546
Equity investment — unlisted BRARE -FLETER
securities — 3,426 — —
Financial assets SRMEE — 3,426 15,176 21,546

All financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are classified as non-current
assets.

The change in the fair value of RMB3,426,000 (2023:
RMB1,643,000) for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss for the period was charged to “other gains, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The change
in the fair value of RMB1,466,000 (2023: RMB79,787,000) for
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
for the year was recognised in other reserves.

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

25

Fair value as at
RATREZATE

31 December
2024
“ECRE
tZB=t-H
RMB'000
ARBTR

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

RATEHARBSEZ
tREE

- Privately held partnership —

-hARBLE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE (continued)

Details about the fair value estimates are as follow:

31 December 31 December

2023 Valuation techniques and key inputs

2
tZA=t-H
RMB'000

ARETT

HEAKRTEGARE

Price-to-book ratios: 1.00

m&RE:1.00

3426 It was estimated by market comparison
approach, required the use of market
information (the comparable companies

Lack of marketability

discount: 30%
marketability discount). RETHRENR:

ARAMSURERS  RERRTS 30%
BH(TENTERRARREAT
TEERENEE(RZTARENT)

in the industry) and significant
unobservable input (the lack of

Significant unobservable input

EXATTBRREARE

31 December

Price-to-book ratios: 1.00
% 1.00

Lack of marketability
discount: 30%
REZTERANE:
30%

221

25 BAFEFEZEMEEH
AT EEHZHBNT

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
FTRREAHE
HAVEZBR

The lower the price-to-book
ratio, the lower the fair value.
mREHE ATEME -

The higher the lack of
marketability discount, the
lower the fair value

RZTERAARER 2
fEHME -

-

EREEBFRDT 20245 3



222

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
B
BATEZ
LREE
RMB’000
AR® TR

26 ZEHE D 2EMTA

Financial
assets at
fair value
through
profit or loss
BA¥E
FABREZ
CREE
RMB’000
ARBT T

Financial
assets at

fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
BAYE
AHM2H
MAZEREE
RMB'000
ARBT T

At
RMB'000
ARB TR

At 31 December 2024 RZZ-@m&
+=-A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value through BEATEFAEMLZA
other comprehensive income WAZeREE — — 15,176 15,176
Trade and other receivables (excluding & Y8R 20 & E fth & U
non-financial assets) HE(TeEESR
BE) 247,204 — — 247,204
Loans and interest receivables FEREZRAE 2,194 — — 2,194
Restricted bank deposit RREIRTER 224,499 — — 224,499
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeZEY 279,037 — — 279,037
Total @ 752,934 — 15,176 768,110
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F
+=A=+-A
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZEREE — = 21,546 21,546
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEGABRZ
profit or loss cTREE = 3,426 = 3,426
Trade and other receivables (excluding & U BE 3% I E £ FE UK
non-financial assets) HE(TaEESR
BE) 237,971 - - 237,971
Loans and interest receivables BRERKFE 53,203 = = 53,203
Restricted bank deposit B HRITFR 234,868 — — 234,868
Cash and cash equivalents BekBHeEED 365,682 = = 365,682
Total @it 891,724 3,426 21,546 916,696
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26 REHE Sz T B

(Continued)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
&8 8
BAGFEZ
cREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR TR
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-NFE+=A=+—H
Other financial liabilities HitemaE 178,239 178,239
Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITEE (T 3E32) 175,848 175,848
Other borrowings (Note 32) H b g & (Mt 5£32) 261,632 261,632
Trade and bill payables JE A BR X % BT R 4R 276,178 276,178
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) H fth JE A~ 018
(TRiEFeRaR) 64,233 64,233
Lease liabilities HERE 15,412 15,412
Total Bt 971,542 971,542
At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-=5+=-A=+—-H
Other financial liabilities Hit g aE 165,644 165,644
Bank borrowings (Note 32) RITEE (M 5E32) 150,852 150,852
Other borrowings (Note 32) H b s 8 (M 5E32) 255,621 255,621
Trade and bill payables e ER T K JE T R 4B 292,924 292,924
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) £ 4t & & 5 8
(TREFeRERE) 74,592 74,592
Lease liabilities HEARE 4,612 4,612
Total st 944,245 944,245
As at 31 December 2024, no financial assets and financial R-ZZE-_NMF+-_A=+—H #ES
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of MEERSREBGEREHMBMRAE
financial position (2023: Nil). NEH(ZZE_=F &)

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

27 INVENTORIES 27 FE&

2024 2023
—E-_MF —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T

Merchandise held for trading BIEESEm 113,343 117,727
Others H 3,364 7,577
116,707 125,304
Less: Provision for impairment of W FE R EEE
inventories (1,085) (1,385)
115,622 123,919
The cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted to FEKAL TN AREE10,558,000,000
approximately RMB10,558,000,000 (2023: RMB18,044,296,000) T(ZZT = =4 : AR %18,044,296,000
and is included in “cost of goods sold” of the consolidated TMERAAS  UHAEHGZEE KR
statement comprehensive income. xIBEEE@AAR] -
28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 28 RERREZEY TR
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS iR 17 17 ™K

2024 2023
—E_HmF —B_=F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR ARET T

Cash at bank and on hand RITREERFERS 279,037 365,682
Restricted bank deposit (Note) X MR i 88 17 17 3K (B 53) 224,499 234,868
503,536 600,550
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 28 RMERBLEEY - ZRF
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued) RITER @

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=%F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

Denominated in: TS EEEEE:

— HKD - BT 107 1,072

— RMB -AR¥E 503,326 575,512

— US Dollar -%7T 103 23,966

503,536 600,550

Maximum exposure to credit risk BEREERR 503,519 600,518
As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of RZEZ_MFEF+ZA=+—H K
approximately RMB490,131,000 (2023: RMB556,503,000) of the SRR RAESEEMOARE
Group were denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the 490,131,000 (Z E Z =ZF: AR %
PRC. The conversion of the Renminbi denominated balance into 556,503,0007) A ARG E - WEF
foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign AFRBEZHEIT BUAARBHBEZHE
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. BRH IR B INE AT B BT M 2 S

M & i 38 Bl & 3R 01 T AR PR ©

Note: M 5
Restricted bank deposit included bank balances pledged as security RZTZWE+ZA=+—H8 " ZBRHIKT
for trade financing of approximately RMB217,000,000 and they GREEREESIBRAERZBRITEHRY
are denominated in Renminbi as at 31 December 2024 (2023: A R #217,000000(ZZE =5 : AR%
RMB234,429,000). 234,429,0007T) - EAARKEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 IRA&

Number of
ordinary shares Par value

EBERBE [N
RMB’000
AR TR

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R=ZE=-_=F—HA—H ==

1 January 2024 and 31 December —_=F+-—A=+—8"
2024 T_NFE-A-—BAKE=ZF
—WHFE+=—A=+—H” 1,309,931,119 120,977
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000 @AY X F 48 8052,000,000,000% (=
shares (2023: same) with a par value of HK$0.1 per share (2023: TZ=F:HR) - skEEIET(Z
same). All issued shares are fully paid. To=F MR MBEERTRHEE
BE -
(a) Share options () B
The assumptions for valuation of fair value of existing share HEREEREATEMAZRE
options are as follows: BN

Grant date of share options
BRER S
13 October 19 July 20 June

2017 2018 2019
—E-tFf —B-\F =—E-h%F
+A+=8B +tA+hB AA=+A

Exercise price (in HK dollar) TEEET) 6.476 4.6 4.6
Fair value per option (in RMB) BhEREZATE
(AR 3.3530 1.9516 1.6542
Risk free interest rate (in %) 12 2 B A1) ZE (%) 1.745 213 1.44
Expected life (in years) BT FH () 4.9 10 10
Volatility (in %) B E) (%) 62 70 65
Expected dividend per share (HK TEEE R AR B CE)
cents) 5.67 — —
At the working date before options were granted (13 REREERERZIER(ZE
October 2017, 19 July 2018 and 20 June 2019), the market —+tF+A+=0 ZF—-N\Ft
value per share was HK$6.40, HK$4.58 and HK$3.31 At+thBE-ZZ—hAE~NA-+
respectively. H) - &M ED A A6.40% T -

4588 7T M331ETT °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(@) Share options (Continued)

The details of existing share options are summarised as

follows:

Tranche 1

E-#

% of the total share options
HrHBEREZAD L
Vesting period

R

Exercise period

TR

Tranche 2

E-#

% of the total share options
HerBEREZAD L
Vesting period

R

Exercise period

TR

13 October 2017
—EZ—-t+tEt+A+=H

20%

13 October 2017 -

13 October 2018
—E—+%+A+=HZE
~P-NFHATZA

13 October 2018 -

12 October 2027
-NE+RA+=HZ
_7_t¢+ﬂ+ A

20%

13 October 2017 -

13 October 2019
—E—+%+At+=HZE
—-hE+A+=H

13 October 2019 -

12 October 2027
—-NFTAT=HE
_7_t¢+ﬂ+ =

29 BRA ()

(a) BREE)

227

FRRAREREZFBHENT

Grant date of share options

BREKLAH

19 July 2018
—E-\ftAt+hA

33.3%

19 July 2018 -

19 July 2019 (Note i)
—T-\FtAt+NBE
—-WE+ATNA

(P 2E1)

19 July 2019 -

18 July 2028
“-"WE+ATNBEE
“E-)\FtA+tNH

33.3%

19 July 2018 -

19 July 2020 (Note i)
-\FtATNEZE
_;_yitﬂ+na
(B Ei)

19 July 2020 -

18 July 2028

“T-ZFLATNEE

B \ELATAR

20 June 2019
—E-hEAAZTH

33.3%

20 June 2019 -

20 June 2020 (Note ii)
ZE-NEXAZtHE
ZZ-TFR RZTH
(P &ii)

20 June 2020 -

19 June 2029
ZZ-T5 RZtHZE
ZEZNERRTAA

33.3%

20 June 2019 -
20June 2021 (Note ii)
ﬂiﬁﬂ7+ﬂi
—E-—-%XA=tH
(P i)

20 June 2021 -

19 June 2029

—7— E/\H +E|i
—E-AERATNAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29 BRA ()
(a) Share options (Continued) () BREm®E

Grant date of share options

Tranche 3

EZ=#

% of the total share options
ErHEREZAD L
Vesting period

B

Exercise period

T

Tranche 4

F0#

% of the total share options
ErHEREZAD L
Vesting period

58 8
Exercise period

TEH

13 October 2017
“E-+%&t+H+=H

20%

13 October 2017 -

13 October 2020
“E-tFtA+=AZ
—Z-TF+A+=H

13 October 2020 -

12 October 2027
“ZZZFTAT=HZE
“ZZtF+A+=H

20%

13 October 2017 -

13 October 2021
—E—+F+A+=HE
—EZ-F+A+=H
13 October 2021 -

12 October 2027
ZEZ—Ft+A+=HE
ZEtFTAT=H

BRERHAH

19 July 2018
—E-N\FtAt+AhA

33.4%

19 July 2018 -

19 July 2021 (Note i)
ZE-\EtAthHE
ZEZ-F+tATNhAH
GiED)

19 July 2021 -

18 July 2028
ZE-—FtAthAE
—E-\EtATNR

20 June 2019
—E-AEXA=1H

33.4%

20 June 2019 -

20 June 2022 (Note ii)
“E-NERAZTHZE
—E-FRAZTH
(Bl 5E i)

20 June 2022 -

19 June 2029
R~ AZ+ARE
—E-AFERXATNA
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29 KA (s)
(a) Share options (Continued) () BR#EE)
Grant date of share options
ERERLBEH
13 October 2017 19 July 2018 20 June 2019
—E-—tEtAt=H —E-NFtAtNA —E-hFARA=TH
Tranche 5
ERH
% of the total share options 20% N/A N/A
heHdRREZAES L TER TER
Vesting period 13 October 2017 - N/A N/A
13 October 2022
5B —T—t+tE+A+=HE TER TER
—E__f+A+=RH
Exercise period 13 October 2022 - N/A N/A
12 October 2027
T —E-_-F+A+=RHZE TEA TEA
—E-t+F+A+ZH
Note: B 3
(i)  The share option granted on 19 July 2018 was also subject i RZE-NFLtA+ABEHZ
to the revenue target of the Company and the performance ERETBAFRARADEXNHEE
target of the Grantee. WABEREARANEKENE
ZETAIER -
(i) The share option granted on 20 June 2019 was also subject (i RZE-NAFRAAZ+TEHEHZ
to the performance target of the Company. ERETEGFARAEKNEN

BR&ETAER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29 BRZA )
(a) Share options (Continued) () BREm®E
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no options has HE-_ZE-_NF+-_A=+—8~
been exercised (2023: same). IFFE SBEERERTRCE
—=F MR-
Movements in the number of existing share options RITHEHREEREHRERHETME
outstanding and their exercise prices are as follows: Bz HMT:
(i)  Share option scheme (i) BRETE
2024
—E-mE
Exercise Exercise
price in HK$ Share price in HK$
Expiry date per share options per share  Share options
ZHA BRET BRET
fiEfE B E 1B B AR
At 1 January 3 April 2023 4.402 - 4.402 1,500,000
n—HA—8 ZTZ=FMA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 - 9.84 2,100,000
B e Y RWAN=!
13 October 2027 6.476 29,032,100 6.476 29,032,100
ZE-tH5TAT=H
19 July 2028 4.6 15,953,606 4.6 16,436,379
ZZZN\FELATAH
20 June 2029 4.6 9,500,000 4.6 9,500,000
“B-AFRAZTA
Granted 3 April 2023 4.402 — 4.402 —
[RE: e —E-=FWNAZA
18 November 2023 9.84 — 9.84 o
—EZ=F+-A+NR
13 October 2027 6.476 — 6.476 —
—E+F+TAT=H
19 July 2028 4.6 — 4.6 —
—ZEZN\FLATAH
20 June 2029 4.6 — 4.6 —
ZZ-NERAZTH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 29 KA (s)
(a) Share options (Continued) () BR#EE)
(i)  Share option scheme (Continued) (i) MERETE(E)
2024 2023
g 3 —TC-=H
Exercise Exercise
price in HK$ Share price in HK$
Expiry date per share options per share  Share options
HEA BRET BRABT
1B iR & 5 B
Lapsed, forfeited or 3 April 2023 4.402 - 4.402 (1,500,000)
exercised —T-=fHMA=H
BRM - RMHETE 18 November 2023 9.84 — 9.84 (2,100,000)
ZEZ=F+-A+NH
13 October 2027 6.476 — 6.476 —
“ZZ+E+AT=H
19 July 2028 4.6 — 4.6 (482,773)
2 \F¥tAt+NA
20 June 2029 4.6 — 4.6 —
ZE-AFRAZTA
At 31 December 3 April 2023 4.402 — 4.402 —
Rt-ZA=+—-RH —Z-=FWA=H
18 November 2023 9.84 — 9.84 —
“EZ=F+-At+NRB
13 October 2027 6.476 29,032,100 6.476 29,032,100
“E-tF+AT=R
19 July 2028 4.6 15,953,606 4.6 15,953,606
ZEZ N \FEtAtTNA
20 June 2029 4.6 9,500,000 4.6 9,500,000
“Z-AEANAZTHE
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no HE-_ZFT-_MWE+ = A
equity-settled share based compensation under =T —HLFEE - WENE
share option scheme is included in employee benefit mEENEREGZIE T
expenses (2023: Nil). xR zHBE(CZZE =
FEB)EFAEERAA
%o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

30 OTHER RESERVES

Other
reserve

Share

premium

30 HiufE 4

Share-

based
compensation
Teserves

Merger
reserve

Share
and capital
redemption

reserve

Exchange
reserve

Financial
assets at
fair value
through
other
comprehensive
income
reserve

Shares
held for
share
reward
scheme

%12
Hfofif HERRE EHGE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
\RET T ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%-f-H 2,801,137 218,110 109,817 302,014 2,686 10,205 (22,893) (75,683) 3,345,393
Fair value loss on financial assets ~ ZAFEFALL2E
at fair value through other WAZSREEL
comprehensive income NFEER - - - - - - - (79787)  (79,787)
Derecognition of financial assets &L BREATHA
at fair value through other EERAZ
comprehensive income SHEE = - - - - - - 10,836 10,836
Deferred tax BREHE - - - - - - - 1316 1316
Fair value loss and derecognition ~ RATEFALRZE
of financial assets at fair value WAzEREEL
through other comprehensive ATEBERREL
income, net of tax EARLTEHA
ApzENRAZ 2B
BE NBHE - - - - - - — (67635  (67,639)
Currency translation difference ERERER - - = = = 8,508 = = 8,508
Remeasurement of other financial ~ JFERRIE% 2
liabilities in respect of non- Aok
controlling interests EfiitE - (13841) = = = = = - (138411)
Vesting of awarded shares GERBRN 2,580 = = (6,615) = = 4,035 = =
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZ%
+-R=1-H 2,803,717 79,699 109,817 295,399 2,686 18,713 (18,858)  (143,318) 3,147,855
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

H b % 8 (o)

30 OTHER RESERVES (Continued)

Financial
assets at
fair value
through
Share- Share other
based and capital comprehensive
Share compensation redemption  Exchange income
premium reserves  reserve  reserve reserve
BATE
HARM
R 2EBAZ
iz ROREE SREEL
ki RERE EERE ERRE fifE @i
RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000
AE®BT R ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2024 RIZE-ME-A-B 2803717 295,399 2,686 18,713 (143,318) 3,147,855
Fair value loss on financial assets  EATEHALLRE
at fair value through other WAzeRmEEZ
comprehensive income ATEER - - - - 1,466 1,466
Derecognition of financial assets £ AR A FETA
at fair value through other Hp2ERAZ
comprehensive income SHEE - - - - - -
Deferred tax BERE - - - - (502) (502)
Fair value loss and derecognition ~ EAFEHALL2RE
of financial assets at fair value WA ZEBEEZ
through other comprehensive AT EEBEREL
income, net of tax RELTEHA
Ep2EKAZ LR
EE MBRE - - - - 134293 134,293
Currency translation difference £ EHZE - - - 872 - 872
Remeasurement of other financial R4 2
liabilties in respect of non- AsRAE
controlling interests giiitg - - - - - (12,5%)
Vesting of awarded shares RS (2.231) - (16627) = = - -
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-M E
TZA=1- 2,801,486 218,112 2,686 19,585 (8,061) 3,271,388
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30 OTHER RESERVES (Continued) 30 HtfEE )

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiaries are
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based on
the PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated total of
this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries will not be required to make any
further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be used, upon
approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar authorities, to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, retained
earnings amounting to approximately RMB3,205,000 (2023:
RMB3,549,000) had been transferred to the statutory reserve. Due
to the disposal of subsidiaries, statutory reserve of RMB2,103,000
had been recycled accordingly. As at 31 December 2024, retained
earnings comprise statutory reserve fund of RMB68,411,000
(2023: RMB129,963,000).

31 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES, ACCRUED

EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES

31

BEBARIABECEZEBFTEH
ER G PENBARARRBRRE A
AT E & LT DRBRATE )R F10%
EREBES - MERFEESRTBLBERK
PR B AR Z M EARS0% @ BB
AEEBEELREME—TBE - RE
EHRRERARSXABERE I ER  Z
RECETTAERERTHERILE -

BHE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIEFE "
B1FUWRIEHARE3205000x(ZF
Z =4 AR ¥3,549,000T) 0 B EE
EEME ARLEENBAR AT
B A R#2,103,000c 2 HERIY - R
Z-NE+ZA=1+—H BFUEE
B E MBS AR 68,411,0000T (=
T~ =4 AR¥129,963,0007T) °

EAERAREANRE - BT
ERARHEMENRKE

2024
—E_MEF

2023
—E=F

RMB'000
AREETFIT

RMB’000
AR®BT R

Trade and bill payables (Note a) FERERR R EMNEER (M Ta) 276,178 292,924
Accrued salaries and staff benefits 5B &k E T& A 39,326 45,650
Accrued agency commissions EBitREA 5,284 5,702
Accrued expenses FEsr B A 42,719 54,691
Deposit from customers BEFPZ® 4,325 3,434
Other tax payables H b FEAS B 1B 12,965 15,522
Others H 16,230 14,199

397,027 432,122
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31 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES, ACCRUED 31 ENBRARENEE - Bt
EXPENSES AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) ERANREMESRE S

Note:

(a)

is as follows:

The aging analysis of trade and bill payables based on invoice date

B &E

(a) ENEFRRENZEERZZAHZE
BATMT :

2024 2023

= =k =HZ=E

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AREF T

0 to 90 days 0&E 90K 148,709 238,717
91 to 180 days 91E180K 98,720 40,949
181 to 365 days 181F 365K 20,044 218
Over 1 year A —F 8,705 13,040
276,178 292,924

32 BORROWINGS

32 B E

2024 2023

—E-OF —T_=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AR T T

Bank borrowings (Note a) RITEE (M iEa) 175,848 150,852
Other borrowings (Note b) EmEE (M Eb) 261,632 255,621
Total borrowings ER-EGEE 437,480 406,473

Lt ZERpEEERAS MBS
EHHUAREFE(ZE_=ZF: A
@) e

The above balances include both principal and interest portion of
the borrowings, and are all denominated in RMB (2023: same).
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32 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note:

(a)

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings bear interest rate ranging
from 2.6% to 4.5% per annum (2023: 3.2% to 7% per annum) and
principals of approximately RMB175,748,000 will mature in next
twelve months (31 December 2023: RMB150,840,000).

Out of the total balances, the following bank borrowings were
secured:

(0]

(if)

bank borrowing of RMB16,970,000 which was guaranteed by
a subsidiary of the Group and secured by certain properties
held by the Group (31 December 2023: RMB10,000,000); and

bank borrowings of RMB10,000,000 which were guaranteed
by certain independent third party of the Group and secured
by an Executive Director of the Group (31 December 2023:
Same).

The remaining bank borrowings were unsecured and mainly
included:

0)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

bank borrowings of RMB91,750,000 which were guaranteed
by subsidiaries of the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB74,000,000); and

bank borrowings of RMB9,828,000 which were guaranteed
by an independent third party and a key management of a
subsidiary (31 December 2023: Nil); and

bank borrowings of RMB19,000,000 which were guaranteed
by subsidiaries of the Group and the Executive Directors of
subsidiaries (31 December 2023: RMB1,400,000); and

bank borrowings of RMB28,200,000 which were
unguaranteed (31 December 2023: RMB11,500,000).

HC GROUP INC. ANNUAL REPORT 2024

32 B8 @)

B o

(a)

R-_TE-_WmWE+=_A=+—H8" £17T
BREHNEN T26% E45% (=
EZ=F FMEN F32% E7%) &
RN #) A R #175,748,0007T #
$I+71.Hi‘ﬁﬂ(777_¢+ A
=+—H8: AR®150,840,0007T) °

rmwﬁ%

MABEEST - ATRITEEFEM

(i) RITEE AR %16,970,0007T
RNEE-—HHBRRIREEER
RUREEBRMBEETWEER
H(ZEZ=F+=A=+—H:
A E#10,000,0007T) &

(i) #RITEE A R®10,000,0007T
MAEEETBLE =G
BER THASE-—ZH{TE
EREEM(ZZE-_=F+_-A
=+—B8:4R) &

HRTRITEERBER  TEBHE:

(i) HAEEKMHBARREERZ
RITHEE ARM91,750,0005T (=
T-=ZF+-"A=+—RH8: AR
#74,000,0007T) : &

(i) B BBILF=FAK—HEWE
AATEEREABREERZ
BITHEE AR%9,828,0007T (=
—=F+ZA=+—H:%&):
&

iy BAAEBWBAAIKRKERQR
ZHTEERHEERZET
& & A K #19,000,000t (=&
=+ A=+—H:AR¥
1,400,0007T) : &

(ivy  #R1T18 B A K %28,200,0007T
(Z2=Z=F+=ZA=+—H:A
K #11,500,0007T) I 48 & 4R °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MF+_A=+—HILFE

32 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(b)

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings with principals of
approximately RMB31,500,000 bear interest rate ranging from 5%
to 8% per annum (2023: 0% to 8%) and will mature in coming
twelve months (31 December 2023: RMB255,598,000).

0)

Other borrowings of RMB230,000,000 provided by an
independent third party which was secured by certain equity
interest of a subsidiary of the Group and guaranteed by the
Company and a subsidiary of the Group (31 December 2023:
same), which has been matured on 31 December 2024 and
became repayable on demand. The Group is in the process
of negotiating with counterparty on renewal of this other
borrowing.

The remaining other borrowings were unsecured, which mainly
included:

0)

(if)

(iii)

Other borrowings of RMB20,000,000 provided by an
independent third party which was guaranteed by a subsidiary
of the Group (31 December 2023: Nil);

Other borrowings of RMB3,500,000 provided by a
non-controlling shareholder and certain key management
personnels of subsidiaries of the Group (31 December 2023:
RMB3,600,000);

Other borrowing of RMB8,000,000 provided by
an independent third party (31 December 2023:
RMB11,998,000); and

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no undrawn banking
facilities (31 December 2023: RMB12,000,000).

237

32 BE @)
B aE: (88)

(b)

RZB-_ME+=-_A=+—8  Hfh
BEZASH A R31,500,0007T 1%
FRENT5%E8% (ZE-_=F:0%
E8%)stE - BRARKR+T=1EA = H
(ZEZ=F+=-A=+—HB: AR¥
255,598,0007T) ©

(i) H—EZ2BYE=-HEHNEMWD
& & A K ¥230,000,0007T B &
EE-HMBARZE TRIE
BRI WAARA RAER—
MHBARRHER(ZTE ==
E+-A=+—8: 8RR
—E-WNE+ZA=+—HB3H -
AHEREERER - ASEIE
BHFIEIELEMLESR -

HRTHMERESAEER TE2%E:

(i) H—2BIYE=-HiREOEM
& & A R#20,000,0007T i A&
E-HHEARERERCE
—=F+-A=+—H:#\):

(i) B—BIFEEBRBERERRAREBHK
BRARETETEEERABRME
R HE b 5 B A R #3,500,0007T
(ZE-_ZF+ZA=+—H8: A
R #3,600,0007T) :

iy A—BBUBE-HRHENHHEAD
& & A K %8,000,000T (= &
—=f+-A=+—H:AR%
11,998,0007T) : &

RZZE-_NmWF+=-A=+—H A5£H
WHERARDRZBRITREREE (===
F+=—HF=+—8: AK#%¥12,000,000
TT) °
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 33 IEEFREBH
The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as BEMESHREEEE FHENOT:
follows:

2024 2023
—E_MF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T

At 1 January ®n—H—H 2,716 51,889

Charged to the profit or loss K18z B (2,245) (9,778)

(Charged to)/credited to the other (&) sFAEA

comprehensive income 2mEI A (502) 1,316

Currency translation differences EHELER (65) (37)

Transfer to discontinued operations WEREDRIFECEER — (40,674)

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H (96) 2,716
As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of RZEZWEE+ZA=+—H" ' #EXK
RMB36,764,000 (2023: RMB91,818,000) have not been recognised BAE B ARz R EH R R W E N
for the withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted LHEABRBREEMSHEAEAR
earnings of subsidiaries in the PRC. The unremitted earnings are to #36,764,000 (Z T = = F: AR ¥
be used for reinvestment. The income tax liability is not recognised 91,818,0007T) - RE L B F 4 A EH
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences is BE - MERHEZFREB 2HRABAE
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary EHREREBAEAUER KRR
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. TR - AT THEAMEHAE -
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33 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 33 EERE B
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FRNEEHBEEERABGEEH (R R
year before offsetting are as follows: AR AT -
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Tax losses Bad debt provision Total
HERA BiREAE @i
2024 2024 2024
—v—li F_=f —7—.$ Z ! :g:$
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
T AR¥ETR T ARBTR
At 1 January m—R—A 3,969 8,849 - 58,575 3,969 67,424
(Charged to)/credited to the (k&) /FABE
profit or loss (3,764) (4,880) 1,301 (17,901 (2,463) (22,781)
Transfer to discontinued BREFEALEE
operations ES - - - (40,674) - (40,674)
At 31 December “+t=ZA=+-H 205 3,969 1,301 - 1,506 3,969
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREEME
Fair value gains
AT EW S
2024
“E-_MEF
RMB'000 RMB 000 ' RMB’000
ARET R ARBEFT T AREFT
At 1 January R—HA— 1,253 15,535 1,253 15,535
Credited to/(charged to) the qu)\/ ?Dﬁff- L2 A
other comprehensive income 502 (1,316) 502 (1,316)
Credited to the profit or loss HABE (218) (13,003) (218) (13,003)
Currency translation difference EHEHZE 65 37 65 37
At 31 December R+-ZA=+—-8H 1,602 1,253 1,602 1,253
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried 8 B 7% A 2= 1R K AT 88 i 8 Ok R IE AR
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax MeEMERE  AREEMGSHEE
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group have HREBHEEE RZTE_NF+=
unrecognised tax losses of RMB1,074,194,000 as at 31 December AR=+—B A&KEEZRBRHRIEE
2024 (2023: RMB1,040,456,000), among which RMB966,971,000 B A A R#1,074,194,0000 (=& = =
and RMB107,223,000 will be expired from 2025 to 2029 and & AR ¥1,040,456,00070)  EFAR
from 2025 to 2034 respectively (2023: RMB989,609,000 and #966,971,0007T & A K #107,223,000
RMB50,847,000 will be expired from 2024 to 2028 and from 2024 TSR E - E-_RAFE_T-_hLF
to 2033 respectively). F—E_RAFE_E-NEFIHHC=E

— =% : AR%989,609,0007T X A R
50,847,000 D Al RB =T ZWF £
ZEZ)N\FRAZZEZWNEFET==
FEH) o
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34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3 REXBRELEZES
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net (a) RBAIBEHEKEEKEL
cash generated from operating activities 2R FHEYE

2024
—E-pmsE

2023
e
RMB’000
ARETF T

RMB’000
AR® T

Loss before income tax

BrRPT S AIE B

— from continuing operations - REBBEEER (238,243) (1,105,246)
— from discontinued operations - REERIEREER (42,169) (774,444)
Loss before income tax including FFAERIEEEER

discontinued operations BRATEHAER (280,412) (1,879,690)
Adjustments for: T
Provision for impairment losses on CREEMEEERE

financial assets 134,940 420,365
Amortisation of intangible assets M EE#H 8,531 41,507
Amortisation of investment properties SR X 1,162 1,162
Depreciation of property, plant and M BMEREHTE

equipment 1,566 2,597
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 7,593 10,598
Impairment losses on investment in an REERR 2R EZRES

associate B 103,728 3,894
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE M B AR 2 s (19,228) (24,922)
Loss/(gain) from disposal of discontinued & B 4% |F A& & £ 15 &

operation BE () 22,310 (180,746)
Impairment loss on discontinued ERIEEEXEBHRAERBRE

operation — 586,302
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEWHE  BMELEZHZ

equipment & 18 286 3,009
Gain on disposal of associates, net O ER S QA 2w TR — (3,939)
Gain on lease modification HEBERz W= (23) (266)
Dividend income fi& B A (864) (771)
Finance income B 75 U A (9,516) (7,896)
Finance expense HM‘“ -3 16,878 42,922
Share of losses from investments DIEREREARZ

accounted for using equity method wEEE 65,155 11,678
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets & AFEAEBZ 2 4 7

at fair value through profit or loss BEATFHEER (WE) 3,426 (1,643)
Impairment losses on intangible assets  4& JiZ & & il 1B /&5 18 — 39,433
Impairment losses on goodwill P E R E B — 980,247
Write down of inventories 7 & MR (300) 1,385
Share based compensation RO HZHE — 17,045
Operating profit before working capital %8 & & & &) g £ & )5 7

changes 55,232 62,271
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34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3 REXBELEZRE W)
(Continued)
(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to net () BRBABEELSEEREL
cash generated from operating activities ZREFHEEHERE®

(Continued)

2024 2023
—R-F —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T

Changes in working capital: EEESEH:
Changes in trade receivables and BURERRENEEZD

contract assets (23,631) 10,421
Changes in deposits, prepayments and & & ~ A 508 & H b B IR

other receivables HIEEE (153,538) 1,287,012
Changes in trade payables FETER R & 78,443 132,654
Changes in contract liabilities EHBEED (50,278) (1,318,621)
Changes in loans and interest receivables [& U8 & 7% & 7| & & 49,049 15,311
Changes in finance lease receivables BEHEEKFKIEE — 39,052
Changes in other operating assets Hihig g BEEE 46,106 21,754
Changes in other operating liabilities Hig 2B ELE (51,122) 57,796
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &2 % (FTH), /B2 R & (49,739) 307,650
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(Continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movement in net debt for each of the year presented.

34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3 REEREELE 2R

(b) EXFHEHK

AEHEHIATNEFREZEBFR
NEBFEBEH DN

2024 2023
—E_-_MF =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB T AR®ETF T
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSEY 279,037 365,682
Restricted bank deposit SR HIER1T1F R 224,499 234,868
Liquid investment (Note): mERE (M) -
- Financial assets at fair value through - AFEFAEME2®E
other comprehensive income WAZEREE 15,176 21,546
- Financial assets at fair value through - AFEFABREZ
profit or loss CHMEE — 3,426
Other financial liabilities Htt&masE (178,239) (165,644)
Bank and other borrowings WITREMEER (437,480) (406,473)
Lease liabilities HEBE (15,412) (4,612)
(112,419) 48,793
Cash and liquid investments ReRRBHRE 518,712 625,522
Gross debt at fixed interest rates REENERAE 2 EHKER (631,131) (576,729)
(112,419) 48,793

Note:

Liquid investment comprise current investments that are traded
in an active market, being the Group’s financial assets held at fair
value through other comprehensive income, financial assets held at

fair value through profit or loss.
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34 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 3 REEKEE2EHES )
(Continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation (Continued) (b) EEFHEEERE)

Financial
assets at
fair value Financial
through other  assets at fair Other Bank and
Cashand cash ~ Restricted comprehensive value through financial other Lease
equivalents bank deposits income  profit or loss liabilities ~ borrowing liabilities

#OYE
ARl EOYE
RER ERH  2EWAZ  HARE 21k
ReSEN BOEH THEE tHEE AMEHER  HMRE  HEER a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT  AR%Tn  ARBTn  ARMTx  ARMTz AR¥Tn  ARBTR  ARRTR

Net debt as at 1 January 2023 i
-B-82
ERFE 312,03 122,660 402,385 11,283 (27,33 (1,070277) (17.913) (267,07)
Net cash flow FRLTE 59,455 112,208 (26,864) (9,500) — 171,583 11,408 318,290
Interest paid BiflE - - - = = 4,075 = 4,075
Exchange adjustment EfAE 169 - 21 - - - = 39
Interest expenses flERx S o S S S (38,736) (460) (39,196
Other non-cash movements OS] - - (82423) 1,643 (138,411) 1,000 2,199 (21599)
Transferred to assets held for sales BRERfLE
EE (5,965) - @Qnm) - - 487,882 154 210,298
Net debt as at 31 December 2023 RZ2-Z%
tA=t-
B ERRE 365,682 234,868 21,546 3426 (165,660)  (406473) (4612) 48,793
Net cash flow FHENE (87,189) (10,369) (8,228) - - (70,210) 1214 (168,722)
Interest paid BitHE - - - - - 9,158 - 9,158
Exchange adjustment EfAE 544 - 3% - - - - 934
Interest expenses flERx - - - - - (9,356) (466) (9,822)
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-BIHE
N - - - - - 36,506 - 36,506
Other non-cash movements LhEREEY - - 1,468 (3.426) (12,595) 2895 (17,608) (29,266)
Net debt as at RZZ-ME
31 December 2024 t-h=1-
RZEEFE 279,031 224,499 15,176 - (178,239) (437,480) (15,412) (112,419)
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35 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING 35 KEHEAE-FREHEA
LEASE — AS A LESSOR
At 31 December 2024, the Group had future aggregate minimum RZEZWOE+ZA=+—H8 KA&EH
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases in respect MEFCZEIHTIURELERER
of buildings which expire as follows: RN xEHEEREBBOT:

2024 2023
— —E_=F

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT

Within one year —F R — 710
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_ERAF(BEERME) — .

= 710
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36 AR BEMRARRFEHES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY g
(a) ARXTFHBARR T

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2024 2023
—E_@mE —BE-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥ T AR F T
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBRARZIEE 286,918 288,874
286,918 288,874
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries JiE W Bt B R B 3N IE — 282,556
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEED 34 178
Total assets BEE 286,952 571,608
Equity EH
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital N 120,977 120,977
Other reserves HAth 7 3,006,542 3,002,549
Accumulated losses RiTEE (2,844,408) (2,557,499)
Total equity MR 283,111 566,027
Liabilities 8E&
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued expenses and other payables BB A REMERMNRIE 3,841 5,581
Total liabilities wmEeE 3,841 5,581
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 286,952 571,608
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 36 ARTMIBEMRARRFEHES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B @)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) XRBZHEEES

Accumulated Other
Losses reserves

RIBR Hth 7% 15
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2023 R-—B-—=#-H—A (1,505,655) 3,002,661
Comprehensive loss 2HER

Loss for the year AKFEEEE (1,051,844) =
Other comprehensive income Hh 2 mEU A

Currency translation differences EMELEZR = (112)

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R=—Z - =%

+t=ZA=+—-BK

—E-_NE—-A—H (2,557,499) 3,002,549
Comprehensive loss ZHEHER
Loss for the year REEEE (286,909) —
Other comprehensive income HihZ2EWK A
Currency translation differences EEENEZR — 3,993
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_MEF

+=A=+-—8 (2,844,408) 3,006,542
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE-ZT-_WF+-_A=+—HILFE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37 BBARS
(a) Key management compensation () BREEBAESHMH
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FRNESRHMERERKE Z
management during the year were as follows: HaT

2024 2023
—E_NE —E =5

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARETTT

Salaries and other short-term employee % 4 & H #42 B g B 18 7

benefits 6,729 5,561
Share-based payments AR 9 B B 2 5Kk — -
6,729 5,561
(b) Related party transaction (b) BBEAERB
Other than those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated BRAEHMBEREREMITDATHEE
financial statements, transactions were carried out with EFHON O AEERBAEFEKBRES
related parties in normal course of Group’s business. BB ETRS o

2024 2023
—E-_NF T =4

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T

Associates and a joint venture (Note i) BeE R k—HEeEhE
(B 30 1,962 20,014

Note: BT -

(i) Huicong Hulian has granted loan receivables and finance (i) HzE2REHRIERSH 2R
lease receivables to certain associates and a joint venture EBEMAEERE THE QA
of the Group up to the disposal date of Huicong Hulian. E—HEECEREERER
The interest on the loans and finance lease receivables are CEVBRERERE ZSE
charged at terms mutually agreed by the parties concerned or FRERMERERERE#H
in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements, EFHABEZERRIREES
where appropriate. B8 % 5 2 16 3 (e 38 ) W LA

B o

N

EREEBFRDT 20245 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot IR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_Z_N&+_-_A=+—HIFE

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 37 BB AR Z @)

(c) Related party balance (c) FBAHER 48R
The Group has following balances with related parties as at RZEZMERZT_=F+_A
31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. =E+—B - AEBEEBABAZE

BRI o

2024 2023
—E_pE —E-=4%

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT

Net loan receivables from: FEWATALTZERFE
— Joint venture -AEDE — 687
— 687

Deposit received from: BWATATES

Associates B & A A] — 607

Key management personnel FEHERAEB — 2,440

Finance lease receivables from: EWATATZRERE R

I8 :

Associates B & A A — 116,983
As at 31 December 2023, the balances with related parties RZEZ=F+-_A=+—08 " #
represent the balance of Huicong Hulian Disposal Group. BT EBRAREEIREES
Huicong Hulian ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group after 2 o ZIAH B 5ERK B H
the Completion Date, and its balances were deconsolidated BB RASENMERR - H
from the Group. BT IEFARER -
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